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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K
(Mark One)

☒ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
or

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from                     to                     
Commission File Number: 001-41514
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RXO, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 88-2183384

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

11215 North Community House Road

Charlotte, NC 28277

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(980) 308-6058
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share RXO New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None

(Title of class)

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☐☒ No ☒☐

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes ☐ No ☒

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company.
See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐☒ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☒☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Emerging growth company ☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting
under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. ☐☒

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of
an error to previously issued financial statements. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the
registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes ☐ No ☒

As The aggregate market value of June 30, 2022, the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, there was no established public market for
the registrant’s common stock par value $0.01 per share. The registrant’s held by non-affiliates of the registrant was $2.6 billion as of June 30, 2023, based upon the closing price of
the common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange on November 1, 2022. that date.

As of February 22, 2023 February 8, 2024, there were 116,601,350 117,094,888 shares of the registrant’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share, outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Specified portions of the registrant’s proxy statement, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with the
registrant’s 2023 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”), are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except with respect
to information specifically incorporated by reference in this Annual Report, the Proxy Statement is not deemed to be filed as part hereof.
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PART I

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”), “we,” “our,” “us,” “RXO,” “RXO, Inc.,” and the “Company” refer to RXO, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the
context requires otherwise.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report and other written reports and oral statements we make from time to time contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of
historical fact are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking statements. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terms such as
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “should,” “will,” “expect,” “objective,” “projection,” “forecast,” “goal,” “guidance,”
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“outlook,” “effort,” “target,” “trajectory” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terms. However, the absence of these words does not mean that the statements are not
forward-looking. These forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by the Company in light of its experience and its perception of historical
trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors it believes are appropriate in the circumstances. These forward-looking statements are subject
to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions that may cause actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to a material difference
include those discussed below and the risks discussed in the Company’s other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). All forward-looking statements set
forth in this Annual Report are qualified by these cautionary statements, and there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated by the Company will be
realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequence to or effects on the Company or its business or operations. The following discussion should
be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Forward-looking
statements set forth in this Annual Report speak only as of the date hereof, and we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent
events or circumstances, changes in expectations or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except to the extent required by law.

1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Company Overview

RXO, Inc. (“RXO”, the “Company” or “we”) is a high-performing brokered transportation platform defined by cutting-edge technology and a nimble, an asset-light business model,
with the model. The largest component being is our core truck brokerage business. Based on 2021 revenues, we are the fourth largest broker Our operations also include three
asset-light, brokered transportation services, all of full truckload which complement our truck brokerage business: managed transportation, last mile and freight transportation in the
United States, and have approximately 4% share of the entire $88 billion brokered truckload industry. forwarding.

Our truck brokerage business has a variable cost structure with history of generating robust free cash flow conversion and a long track record of generating a high return on invested
capital. Shippers create demand for our service, and we place their freight with qualified independent carriers using our technology. We price our service on either a contract or a
spot basis.

Notable factors driving volume growth in our business include our ability to access massive truckload capacity for shippers through our carrier relationships; our proprietary, cutting-
edge technology; our strong management expertise; and favorable long-term industry tailwinds. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had approximately
123,000 115,000 carriers in our North American truck brokerage network, and access to more than 1.5 1.4 million trucks.

We provide our customers with highly efficient access to capacity through our digital brokerage technology. This proprietary platform is a major differentiator for our truck brokerage
business, and together with our pricing technology, we believe it can unlock incremental profitable growth well beyond our current levels. Our other complementary services for
managed transportation, last mile and freight forwarding also utilize our digital brokerage technology.

Our managed transportation service provides asset-light solutions for shippers who outsource their freight transportation to gain reliability, visibility and cost savings. The service
uses proprietary technology to enhance our revenue synergy, with cross-selling to truck brokerage, last mile and freight forwarding. Our managed transportation offering includes
bespoke load planning and procurement, complex solutions tailored to specific challenges, performance monitoring, engineering and data analytics, among other services. Our
control tower solution leverages the expertise of a dedicated team focused on continuous improvement, and digital, door-to-door visibility into order status and freight in transit. In
addition, we offer technology-enabled managed expedite services that automate transportation procurement for time-critical freight moved by independent road and air charter
carriers.

Our last mile offering is an asset-light service that facilitates consumer deliveries performed by highly qualified third-party contractors. We are the largest provider of outsourced last
mile transportation for heavy goods in the United States, positioned within 125 miles of the vast majority of the U.S. population and serving a customer base of omnichannel and e-
commerce retailers and direct-to-consumer manufacturers.

Our freight forwarding service is a scalable, asset-light offering managed with advanced technology that facilitates ocean, road and air transportation and assists with customs
brokerage. We are a U.S.-based freight forwarder with a global network of company-owned and partner-owned locations and coverage of key trade lanes that reach approximately
160 150 countries and territories.

The Separation

On November 1, 2022, the Company completed its separation from XPO, Inc. (formerly known as XPO Logistics, Inc.) (“XPO”) (the “Spin-off” or “Separation”) and the Company's
common stock began regular-way trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “RXO.” RXO is a Delaware corporation, which was originally formed in May
2022. The Separation was completed under a Separation and Distribution Agreement and various other agreements that govern aspects of the Company’s relationship with XPO,
including, but not limited to, a Tax Matters Agreement (“TMA”), an Employee Matters Agreement (“EMA”), a Transition Services Agreement (“TSA”) and an Intellectual Property
License Agreement (“IPLA”). For additional information regarding the agreements executed in connection with the Separation see Note 3 — The Separation to our consolidated
financial statements.
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Relationship-Based Operating Structure

Our truck brokerage business operates as an intermediary between shippers and carriers (truck and fleet owners), connecting truckload supply and demand. Our value proposition
is based on our ability to access truck capacity on a massive scale; give shippers and carriers the benefits of our proprietary digital freight marketplace; and solve transportation
challenges for our customers by utilizing the bench strength of our business — namely, the expertise of our brokerage leaders, technologists and employees.

Our asset-light business model relies on our business relationships with independent motor carriers for the transportation of our customers’ freight. We typically sign a non-
exclusive, one-year, renewable agreement with carriers; this agreement establishes the carrier’s role as an independent contractor and provides that the carrier is solely responsible
for aspects of their service.

We conduct our truck brokerage operations by striving to best utilize our resources of people, technology and data. Our sales representatives communicate with customers about
truckload freight that needs to be shipped, and we locate trucks with available capacity using our RXO Connect Connect™ technology platform. In addition, our technology
interfaces give customers the ability to post their freight loads and tap into truck capacity on our platform. On the supply side, truck drivers and fleet owners use our carrier interfaces
to find loads and better utilize their assets. Carriers can bid and book loads online and through our platform’s mobile app. Our brokerage platform synergizes these operating
strengths within a single digital freight marketplace. Approximately 87% In the fourth quarter of 2023, approximately 97% of our truck brokerage transactions have a digital
profile were created or covered digitally — and, as that percentage continues to grow, we are able to process more volume per head over time.

Drivers of Value Creation

We have identified five key drivers of value creation in our truck brokerage business:

• Critical Scale in an Expanding Industry with Low Penetration: We are one of the fourth largest broker brokers of full truckload freight transportation in the United States, with
a carrier pool that gives us access to vast truck capacity to serve high shipper demand for transportation. We are also well established as a truckload broker of choice
across diversified industry sectors, with a notable presence in the e-commerce and retail sectors. Despite our scale, we have just 4% of the brokered truckload industry
revenue, which includes full truckload and LTL transportation provided direct to shippers and via managed transportation providers. We expect to benefit from both overall
industry growth in demand for truckload transportation, and a long runway for increased broker penetration of for-hire trucking.

• Proprietary Technology: We believe we are strongly differentiated by our technology as a leading innovator of sophisticated brokerage solutions that enhance visibility,
reliability, speed, accuracy and cost effectiveness, and by the fully automated transactional capabilities of our digital platform. As more and more shippers outsource their
road freight needs to brokers, they increasingly prefer brokers that have the digital capabilities we offer.

• Long-Tenured, Blue-Chip Customer Relationships in Attractive Verticals: Our customer base includes numerous long-term relationships with market leaders and other world-
class companies across a diversified array of customer verticals. Our tiered sales organization tailors its approach to each prospective customer based on size and
profitability potential.

• Asset-Light Model Generates High Returns and Substantial Free Cash Flow: We utilize an asset-light business model that gives us agility and generates strong free cash
flow.

• Experienced and Cohesive Leadership and Strong Company Values: Our business operations are led by highly experienced executives who are recognized as leading truck
brokerage experts and technologists. These executives have worked together for many years, creating value through operational excellence, data science and a people-
centric culture.

3

Our Strategy

Our strategy is designed to deliver value through our resources, including extensive carrier relationships, automated shipper-carrier interactions, end-to-end digital tracking and data
analyses generated by our proprietary algorithms. Our services are both highly responsive to customer needs and proactive in identifying potential improvements. Furthermore, we
have instilled a culture that defines success as mutually beneficial results for our stockholders and other stakeholders.

Management’s growth and optimization strategy is to:

• Market our brokerage capabilities and value-added services to new and existing customers of all sizes, using a partnership approach that creates enduring relationships;
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• Leverage our positioning to increasingly capitalize on secular trends in demand, such as the increasing broker penetration of the for-hire truckload industry and the growing
shipper preference for digital brokerage services;

• Continue to recruit and retain talented customer and carrier sales representatives, and continuously improve their productivity with our state-of-the-art technology;

• Continue to attract high-caliber independent carriers to provide third-party transportation services for our customers; and

• Capitalize on our first-mover technology advantage to continue to gain share of the truck brokerage industry by optimizing brokerage processes and pricing for customers
and carriers, and by enhancing the productivity of our operations.

Technology and Intellectual Property

We benefit from two interrelated industry trends — more shippers are relying on brokers for freight transportation, and at the same time, more shippers want brokers with digital
capabilities that leverage data for the best outcomes. RXO benefits from first-mover advantage in brokerage technology, and we continue to innovate to stay at the forefront of the
technological evolution of our industry.

Overview of Our Digital Brokerage Platform

Our self-learning RXO Connect™ digital brokerage platform (known as XPO Connect® prior to the completion of the Separation) gives us a scalable framework to continually
enhance our service, capture share and reduce costs. This fully automated, cloud-based platform encompasses Freight Optimizer, as well as our mobile app, API application
programming interface (“API”) integrations, self-service dashboards and real-time functionality for transacting and tracking freight shipments.

The technology gives shippers access to our growing transportation network and our valuable market data, and it gives independent truck drivers the ability to secure loads through
our mobile app. As of December 31, 2022, we had more than 920,000 cumulative truck driver downloads of the app.

Importantly, our digital brokerage platform creates ongoing value for RXO in four key areas:

• Increases share and revenue generation by providing real-time visibility into available supply and demand for current and future time periods, leading to optimal
transportation management;

• Ensures competitive rates by engaging customers and carriers through user-friendly interfaces underpinned by cutting-edge pricing technology;

• Optimizes for value and margin with dynamic pricing algorithms that use machine learning, and generates superior, real-time market intelligence harvested from load-
matching data; and

4

• Improves productivity by facilitating transactions through cost-efficient automated processes and messaging, increasing the productivity of RXO’s customer and carrier
representatives, and enabling our business to manage more volume without a commensurate increase in expense expense.

4

Customers and Markets

RXO provides services to approximately 10,000 customers ranging in size from small businesses to Fortune 100 companies and sector leaders. The diversification of our customer
base minimizes concentration risk: in 2022, 2023, our top 20 customers in total and our top five customers in total accounted for approximately 39% 38% and 21% of our revenue,
respectively, with our largest customer accounting for approximately 8% 9.5% of revenue.

Our customer end-markets are also highly diversified; we derive our revenue from a robust mix of verticals for retail and e-commerce, food and beverage, industrial and
manufacturing, logistics and transportation and automotive.

Competition

RXO operates in a highly fragmented industry with thousands of companies competing to provide brokered transportation services for customer freight. We compete on quality of
service, depth of capacity, technological capabilities, reliability, expertise and price.
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Our competitors include local, regional, national and international companies operating in North America that offer the same services we provide; some have larger customer bases,
significantly more resources and more experience than we have. Our competitors include C.H. Robinson, Convoy, Coyote, Echo, Expeditors, Forward Air, Flexport, J.B. Hunt,
Landstar System, Total Quality Logistics, Transfix and Uber Freight. Due to the competitive nature of our industry, we strive to strengthen existing business relationships and forge
new relationships.

The health of the freight transportation industry overall will continue to be a function of economic growth, as well as secular trends that stem from shipper and consumer behaviors
independent of economic conditions. We believe that RXO is strongly positioned to benefit from these trends, including consumer demand for e-commerce, shipper demand for
strong outsourcing partners and the growing adoption of digital capabilities by industry customers and carriers.

Regulation

Our operations are regulated and licensed by various governmental agencies in the United States and in other countries where we conduct business. These regulations impact us
directly in the various subsidiary operating companies’ respective capacity as transportation service providers and, to some extent, also indirectly when they regulate third-party
providers we arrange and/or contract with to transport freight for our customers.

Regulations Affecting Motor Carriers

In the United States, our subsidiaries that operate as motor carriers are licensed by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (“FMCSA”) of the U.S. Department of
Transportation (“DOT”). Our motor carrier subsidiaries must comply with the safety and fitness regulations of the DOT, including those related to, without limitation, controlled
substances and alcohol, hours-of service compliance, vehicle maintenance, hazardous materials compliance, driver fitness, unsafe driving, and minimum insurance requirements.
These carriers are subject to the FMCSA’s Compliance Safety Accountability program, which uses a Safety Measurement System to rank motor carriers on seven categories of
safety-related data, known as Behavioral Analysis and Safety Improvement Categories. Other federal agencies, such as the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety
Administration, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, and the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, also regulate aspects of our operations.

In addition, our motor carriers that engage independent contractor owner-operators to provide transportation and delivery services are subject to the Federal Leasing Regulations,
which are applicable to written agreements between the carriers and those owner-operators. Also, separate from regulatory requirements, the use of independent contractors within
the transportation industry continues to face legal changes from regulatory agencies and private litigants. This risk is addressed in greater detail below.

5

Our motor carriers are also subject to various state regulations, including state operating authority requirements where intrastate motor carriage is regulated, emission-compliance
standards such as those promulgated by the California Air Resources Board, and vehicle registration and licensing requirements in certain states and local jurisdictions where we
operate. In addition, motor carriers that move freight to and from ports are subject to various registration requirements. In foreign jurisdictions where we operate, our operations are
regulated by the appropriate governmental authorities. We may become subject to new or more restrictive regulations relating to emissions, drivers’ hours-of-service, independent
contractor eligibility requirements, onboard reporting of operations, air cargo security and other matters affecting safety or operating methods.

Regulations and Private Causes of Action Affecting Ground Property Brokers and Freight Forwarders

In the United States, our subsidiaries that operate as ground property brokers and freight forwarders (collectively, “brokers”) are licensed by the FMCSA. Our brokers must comply
with certain federal bonding requirements. In a limited number of states that regulate intrastate property brokerage and/or freight forwarding, our brokers are subject to licensing
requirements.

Separate from regulatory requirements, private litigants are more regularly adding brokers as defendants in lawsuits arising from highway accidents, including on the grounds that
brokers were negligent in selecting unsafe carriers to which they tender freight. “Negligent selection,” as the cause of action has come to be known, is an allegation, under state law,
that the broker failed to act reasonably in deciding whether to hire a carrier. Because the cause of action is based on state law, and because what constitutes “negligence” is a
question of fact that is decided by the jury, caselaw has not developed hard and fast rules regarding what constitutes lack of reasonable care in a carrier selection decision.

Regulations Affecting Warehouse Operators

Our subsidiaries in the United States that operate warehouses are subject to various state permitting and licensing requirements relating to either general warehousing operations or
the freight maintained at the warehouse.

Regulations Affecting Our Subsidiaries Providing Ocean and Air Transportation

One of our subsidiaries is licensed as a U.S. Customs broker by the U.S. Customs and Border Protection (the “CBP”) in each U.S. district where it performs services. All U.S.
Customs brokers are required to maintain prescribed records and are subject to periodic audits by the CBP. In non-U.S. jurisdictions where we perform customs brokerage services,
our operations are licensed, where necessary, by the appropriate governmental authorities.

Our subsidiaries that offer air freight and expedited air charter transportation services are subject to regulation by the Transportation Security Administration (“TSA”) governing air
cargo security for all loads, regardless of origin or destination. Some of our subsidiaries are regulated as “indirect air carriers” by the TSA. The CBP, TSA and relevant non-U.S.
governmental agencies provide requirements and guidance and, in some cases, administer licensing requirements and processes applicable to the air freight forwarding industry.

To facilitate our international operations, RXO is a member of the Cargo Network Services Corp., which is a representative of International Air Transportation Association (“IATA”), a
voluntary association of airlines and air freight forwarders that outlines operating procedures for forwarders acting as agents or third-party intermediaries for IATA members. A
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substantial portion of our international air freight business is transacted with other IATA members.

Additionally, some of our subsidiaries are licensed as an Ocean Transportation Intermediary (“OTI”), since they operate as a non-vessel-operating common carrier, and/or as an
Ocean Freight Forwarder licensed by the U.S. Federal Maritime Commission, which establishes the qualifications, regulations, licensing and bonding requirements for arranging
international transportation to or from the United States as an OTI.

6

Other Regulations

We are subject to a variety of other U.S. and foreign laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other anti-bribery and anti-corruption
statutes, and export and sanction laws. We are also subject to state and U.S. federal laws and regulations addressing some types of cargo transported or stored by our subsidiaries,
or transported pursuant to a government contract or subcontract.

Classification of Independent Contractors

U.S. tax and other federal and state regulatory authorities, as well as private litigants, continue to assert that independent contractors in the trucking industry are employees rather
than independent contractors, while applying a variety of standards in their determinations of independent contractor status. Federal legislators have introduced legislation in the
past to make it easier for tax and other authorities to reclassify independent contractors as employees, including legislation to increase the recordkeeping requirements and heighten
the penalties for companies that misclassify workers and are found to have violated overtime or wage requirements. Additionally, federal legislators have sought to abolish the
current safe harbor, which allows taxpayers that meet certain criteria to treat individuals as independent contractors if they are following a longstanding, recognized practice. Federal
legislators also sought to expand the Fair Labor Standards Act to cover “non-employees” who perform labor or services for businesses, even if non-employees are properly
classified as independent contractors; require taxpayers to provide written notice to workers based upon their classification as either an employee or a non-employee; and impose
penalties and fines for violations of the notice requirement or for misclassifications. In addition to these possible legislative changes, the National Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”)
and NLRB’s general counsel have signaled the desire to reverse several pro-employer precedents, to make it more difficult for a worker to be classified as an independent
contractor by changing the factors used in determining worker classification. The NLRB has also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the U.S. Department of Labor
regarding the exchange of information and cooperation in enforcement activities regarding the misclassification of employees as independent contractors. If the independent
contractor drivers that provide services to RXO are determined to be our employees, we could incur additional exposure under some or all of the following: federal and state
employer taxes, workers’ compensation, unemployment benefits, and labor, employment and tort laws, including for prior periods, as well as potential liability for employee benefits
and tax withholdings.

Environmental Regulations

Our operations and the independent contractors with which we contract are subject to various environmental laws and regulations in the jurisdictions where we operate. In the
United States, these laws and regulations deal with the hauling, handling and disposal of hazardous materials, emissions from vehicles, engine-idling, fuel tanks and related fuel
spillage and seepage, discharge and retention of storm water, and other environmental matters that involve inherent environmental risks. We may be responsible for the cleanup of
any spill or other incident involving hazardous materials caused by our business. In the past, we have been responsible for the cost to clean up diesel fuel spills caused by traffic
accidents or other events, and none of these incidents materially affected our business or operations. We generally transport only hazardous materials rated as low-to-medium-risk,
and only a small percentage of our total loads contain hazardous materials.

We believe that our operations are in substantial compliance with current laws and regulations, and we do not know of any existing environmental condition that reasonably would
be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business or operating results.

Risk Management and Insurance

We maintain insurance for commercial automobile liability, commercial general liability, cargo legal liability, workers’ compensation and employers’ liability, umbrella and excess
liability, cyber risk, and property coverage with coverage limits, deductibles and self-insured retention levels that we believe are reasonable given the varying historical frequency,
severity and timing of claims.

7

Seasonality
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Our volumes are typically higher in the fourth quarter due to peak season demand for our services from our customers in consumer sectors.

Human Capital Management

Overview

At RXO, our values are the key to our unique culture and ability to deliver for everyone we serve. Led by our passion for technology and solutions, we have a pioneering spirit and

entrepreneurial mindset that draws on an agile approach to move quickly and adapt easily. Our success is grounded from a strong governance structure, code of ethics, good

corporate citizenship, and commitment to employee engagement. We equally pride ourselves in our ability to perform with excellence, celebrate our diverse strengths, operate

safely, and build strong relationships. The demand for best-in-class performance to lead results shapes our approach to human capital management and ensures we provide an
exceptional work environment for our employees.

With a focus on making transportation simpler and more effective for everyone, we continually strive to be an employer of choice. We center our program efforts on professional
development, competitive compensation, and dedicated loyalty to empowering a safe, inclusive, and purposeful experience for our team members and their families.

Our People

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we operated with 8,590 8,432 team members - 6,248 6,051 full-time and part-time employees and 2,342 2,381 temporary workers. Of
these employees, 48% 45% were in hourly roles and 52% 55% were in salaried positions. None of our employees were covered by collective bargaining agreements. Approximately
39% 38% of our employees are female.

        

RXO Workforce(1) RXO Workforce(1)

Total
#

Total
% RXO Workforce(1) Total # Total %

Regular Regular 6,248 73% Regular 6,051 72%

Hourly Hourly 2,980 48% Hourly 2,742 45%

Salaried Salaried 3,268 52% Salaried 3,309 55%

Male Male 3,773 60% Male 3,668 61%

Female Female 2,459 39% Female 2,313 38%

Others/Undisclosed Others/Undisclosed 16 —% Others/Undisclosed 70 1%

Temporary Temporary 2,342 27% Temporary 2,381 28%

Total Workforce Total Workforce 8,590 100% Total Workforce 8,432 100%

(1) Gender representation includes regular employees who have self-identified.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (“DE&I”)

We take pride in our commitment to fostering an inclusive workplace that encourages a diversity of backgrounds and perspectives at every level across the organization. At RXO,
we encourage our employees to bring their authentic selves to work and to welcome everyone, regardless of gender identity, sexual orientation, race, ethnicity, national origin,
religion, life experience, veteran status, and disability. We value individuality and understand that a diversity of talents, identities, backgrounds and experiences is key to driving
innovation and growth. We mandate fair treatment and equitable opportunities for all individuals, and these cultural attributes allow us to be a more vital organization and a better
partner to all RXO stakeholders.

8

Our Talent Engagement

We believe acquiring top talent and investing in the development of our people gives us a sustainable competitive advantage. We attract candidates from diverse talent sources and
build our pipeline by offering rewarding and challenging career opportunities. We create exceptional employee training experiences that are innovative and collaborative, and we
believe it starts by listening to our people. We garner feedback from our employees through many channels, including surveys, roundtables, town halls, and leadership forums. In
turn, we offer numerous career development opportunities including career workshops, forums, online learning, leadership training, high-potential cohorts, and more. Our employees
are encouraged to participate in strategic, cross-functional initiatives, allowing them to develop professionally and play a key role in contributing to the Company’s results.

Our Rewards

RXO’s total rewards offering is designed to attract, retain, and drive our people. We provide competitive compensation and benefits from day one. Our comprehensive suite of health
and well-being benefit programs supports the diverse needs of our employees and their families. In addition, RXO continues to cover the majority of health care costs to minimize
the inflationary impact on employees.

Our Health and Safety
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RXO is committed to providing a safe and healthy workplace, both physically and emotionally, for employees of all backgrounds and abilities, and to safeguarding the public’s
welfare. We have numerous occupational safety and health standards in place. It is RXO’s policy and practice to promote safety and health awareness and training throughout the
company, Company, monitor compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, document and maintain a comprehensive, preventative safety and management program, and
routinely conduct risk assessments and safety audits.

We continue to be diligent through the COVID pandemic. Several safety protocols have remained in place, and we continue to offer fully paid pandemic sick leave.

RXO has high standards of health and safety for our employees and a desire to continuously assess, refine and implement improvements to policies and procedures. And we
encourage those with whom we do business to do the same.

Information about our Executive Officers

Our executive officers are as follows:

Name Age Position

Drew Wilkerson

40

39
Chief

Executive
Officer

James Harris

61
60

Chief
Financial
Officer

Jeff Firestone

53
52

Chief
Legal
Officer

Drew Wilkerson is a transportation industry veteran with 16 17 years of experience in brokerage operations. He joined XPO in May 2012 to spearhead the growth of the company’s
flagship truck brokerage hub in Charlotte, North Carolina. In May 2014, he was promoted to regional vice president, with responsibility for major brokerage operations, and served
as the key liaison for strategic accounts. In March 2017, he was named president of XPO’s North American brokerage business; and in February 2020, he was named president of
XPO’s North American transportation division, with P&L responsibility for truck brokerage, expedite, intermodal, drayage, managed transportation, last mile and freight forwarding.
He served in this role until the Separation. Prior to XPO, Mr. Wilkerson held leadership positions in sales, operations, and customer and carrier relationship management with C.H.
Robinson Worldwide.

9

James Harris is a career CFO with over 35 years of experience in B2B sectors, including two decades with public companies. He has served as chief financial officer of XPO’s
North American transportation division from September 2022, until the Separation. Prior to XPO, he was CFO and treasurer of SPX Technologies from August 2020 to September
2022, and earlier held positions as CFO and then interim CEO of Elevate Textiles, Inc. from April 2019 to August 2020. From 2008 to 2018, he held various executive roles with
Coca-Cola Consolidated, the largest independent Coca-Cola franchisee in the United States, including eight years as CFO and two years as executive vice president, business
transformation. From 2003 to 2008, he served on the board of directors of Coca-Cola Consolidated. Mr. Harris began his career with Ernst & Young LLP. He serves on the board of
trustees of Appalachian State University.

Jeff Firestone served as chief legal officer of XPO’s North American transportation division from August 2022 until the separation. Prior to XPO, he held senior legal positions with
United Parcel Service during a 22-year tenure, including executive legal responsibility for corporate matters, litigation, governance, compliance and risk mitigation. This included
UPS positions as deputy general counsel, regulatory compliance and risk from February 2022 to August 2022, senior vice president, business unit finance from August 2020 to
January 2022, and senior vice president, domestic finance, business analytics and transformation from August 2018 to July 2020. Earlier, Mr. Firestone practiced law with Gibson,
Dunn & Crutcher LLP.

Available Information

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding
issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.

Our corporate website is www.rxo.com. On this website, you can access, free of charge, our reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, as well as specialized disclosure reports on Form
SD, Proxy Statements on Schedule 14A and amendments to these materials. Materials are available online as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically submit them to
the SEC. You can also access materials on our website regarding our corporate governance policies and practices, including our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of
Business Ethics and the charters relating to the committees of our Board of Directors. You may request a printed copy of these materials without charge by writing to: Investor
Relations, RXO, Inc., 11215 North Community House Road, Charlotte, North Carolina 28277.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following are important factors that could affect our financial performance and could cause actual results for future periods to differ materially from our anticipated results or
other expectations, including those expressed in any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report or our other filings with the SEC or in oral presentations such as
telephone conferences and webcasts open to the public. You should carefully consider the following factors in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 and our Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes in Item 8.

Risks Related to Our Business

Risks Related to Industry Dynamics

We operate in a highly competitive industry and, if we are unable to adequately address factors that may adversely affect our revenue and costs, our business could
suffer.

Competition in the transportation services industry is intense. Increased competition may lead to a reduction in revenues, reduced profit margins, or a loss of market share, any one
of which could harm our business. There are many factors that could impair our profitability, including the following: (i) competition from other transportation services companies,
some of which offer different services or have a broader coverage network, more fully developed information technology systems and greater capital resources than we do; (ii) a
reduction in the rates charged by our competitors to gain business, especially during times of declining economic growth, which may limit our ability to maintain or increase our
rates, maintain our operating margins or achieve significant growth in our business; (iii) shippers soliciting bids from multiple carriers for their shipping needs, which may result in the
depression of freight rates or loss of business to competitors; (iv) the establishment by our competitors of cooperative relationships to increase their ability to address shipper needs;
(v) decisions by our current or prospective customers to develop or expand internal capabilities for some of the services we provide; (vi) the development of new technologies or
business models that could result in our disintermediation in certain services we provide; and (vii) competition from other transportation services companies and technology
companies that are aggressively pursuing strategies and business models to digitize their services and expand their digital service offerings, including through the development and
implementation of new technology that provides a significant competitive advantage.

Economic recessions and other factors that reduce economic activity could have a material adverse impact on our business.

The transportation industry in North America historically has experienced cyclical fluctuations in financial results due to economic recessions, downturns in the business cycles of
our customers, increases in the prices charged by third-party carriers, interest rate fluctuations, prolonged periods of inflation, political instability, pandemics, geopolitical conflict and
war, changes in international trade policies and other U.S. and global economic factors beyond our control. During economic downturns, a reduction in overall demand for
transportation services will likely reduce demand for our services and exert downward pressures on our rates and margins. The pricing environment also generally becomes more
competitive during economic downturns, which may, as it has in the past, affect our ability to obtain price increases from customers both during and following such periods,
especially during periods of increased economic inflation. In addition, in periods of strong economic growth, overall demand may exceed the available supply of transportation
resources, resulting in increased network congestion and operating inefficiencies. Changes in international trade policies could significantly reduce the volume of goods transported
globally and adversely affect our business and results of operations. These factors subject our business to various risks that may have a material impact on our operating results
and future prospects. These risks may include the following:

11

• A reduction in overall freight volume reduces our opportunities for growth. In addition, if a downturn in our customers’ business causes a reduction in the volume of freight
shipped by those customers, our operating results could be adversely affected;

• Some of our customers may experience financial distress, file for bankruptcy protection, go out of business, or suffer disruptions in their business and may be unable to pay
us. In addition, some customers may not pay us as quickly as they have in the past, causing our working capital needs to increase;

11
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• A significant number of our carriers may go out of business or may be unable to secure sufficient equipment capacity or services to enable us to meet our commitments to
our customers;

• We may not be able to adjust appropriately our expenses to rapid changes in market demand. In order to maintain high variability in our business model, it is necessary to
adjust staffing levels when market demand changes. In periods of rapid change, it is more difficult to match our staffing levels to our business needs. In addition, we have
other expenses that are primarily variable but are fixed for a period of time, as well as certain significant fixed expenses;

• A prolonged, escalated or expanded war in Ukraine or sanctions imposed in response to the war, the Israel-Hamas war and future conflicts may adversely impact global
supply chain activities and the economy at large; and

• The U.S. government has made significant changes in U.S. trade policy and has taken certain actions that have negatively impacted U.S. trade, including imposing tariffs on
certain goods imported into the United States. To date, several governments, including the European Union (“EU”) and China have imposed tariffs on certain goods
imported from the United States. These actions may contribute to weakness in the global economy that could adversely affect our results of operations. Any further changes
in U.S. or international trade policy could trigger additional retaliatory actions by affected countries, resulting in “trade wars” and further increased costs for goods
transported globally, which may reduce customer demand for these products if the parties having to pay those tariffs increase their prices, or in trading partners limiting their
trade with countries that impose anti-trade measures.

Any of these factors could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition, as well as on the price of our common stock.

If we continue to face unfavorable market conditions arising from the COVID-19 pandemic, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results may be
negatively impacted.

The COVID-19 pandemic that emerged in 2020 affected, and may continue to affect, economic activity broadly and customer sectors served by our industry. We continue to closely
monitor the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on all aspects of our business and geographies, including how it has impacted, and may continue to impact, our employees,
customers and business partners. The COVID-19 pandemic has created significant volatility, uncertainty and economic disruption, which may adversely affect our business
operations and may materially and adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows and financial position.

Our operations and those of our customers have been subject to supply chain disruptions due to pandemic-related plant and port shutdowns, transportation delays, government
actions and other factors beyond our control. The global shortage of certain components such as semiconductor chips, strains on production or extraction of raw materials, cost
inflation, and labor and equipment shortages, could escalate in future quarters. Labor shortages, particularly of truck drivers, mechanics and others employed by our third-party
carriers, have led and may continue to lead to increased costs of procuring transportation services, and along with equipment shortages, can result in lower levels of service,
including timeliness, productivity and quality of service. If these providers continue to face unfavorable market conditions, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating
results may be negatively impacted.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we incurred additional costs to meet the needs of our customers and employees and implemented operational changes. Further operational
changes, including extended periods of remote work arrangements, could strain our business continuity plans, introduce operational risk, including but not limited to cybersecurity
risks, impair our ability to manage our business, and cause us to incur additional costs, which may be significant.

The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and new strains of the virus that cause COVID-19 may remain prevalent for a significant period of time and may continue to adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition even after the COVID-19 outbreak has subsided.

12

Volatility in fuel prices impacts our fuel surcharge revenue and may impact our profitability.

We are subject to risks associated with the availability and price of fuel, all of which are subject to political, economic and market factors that are outside of our control.

Fuel expense constitutes one of the greatest costs to the independent contractor drivers and third-party carriers who transport freight arranged by our operations. Accordingly, we
may be adversely affected by the timing and degree of fuel price fluctuations. As is customary in our industry, most of our customer contracts include fuel surcharge programs or
other cost-recovery mechanisms to mitigate the effect of any fuel price increases over base amounts established in the contract. However, these mechanisms may not fully capture
an increase in fuel price. Furthermore, market pressures may limit our ability to assess fuel surcharges in the future. The extent to which we are able to recover increases in fuel
costs may be impacted by the amount of empty or out-of-route truck miles or engine idling time.

Decreases in fuel prices reduce the cost of transportation services and, accordingly, will reduce our revenues and may reduce margins. Significant changes in the price or
availability of fuel in future periods, or significant changes in our ability to mitigate fuel price increases through the use of fuel surcharges, could have a material adverse impact on
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our operations, fleet capacity and ability to generate both revenues and profits.

12

Higher carrier prices may result in decreased income from operations and increases in working capital. capital usage.

Motor carriers can be expected to charge higher prices if market conditions warrant or to cover higher operating expenses. Our income from operations may decrease if we are
unable to increase our pricing to our customers. Increased demand for over the road transportation services and changes in regulations may reduce available capacity and increase
motor carrier pricing. In some instances where we have entered into contract freight rates with customers, in the event market conditions change and those contracted rates are
below market rates, we may be required to provide transportation services at a loss. This may be more acute when we have a high percentage of contracted freight with customers
and when there are significant changes in prices charged by motor carriers in a short period, as most of our transportation services are procured transactionally. To date, such
losses have not been material, but there can be no assurances that such losses will not be material in the future.

As our volumes increase or we increase freight rates charged to our customers, the resulting increase in revenues may increase our working capital needs due to our business
model which generally has a higher length of days sales outstanding than days payables outstanding.

Extreme or unusual weather conditions can disrupt our operations, impact freight volumes, and increase our costs, all of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business results.

Our business depends, in part, on predictable temperate weather patterns. Certain seasonal weather conditions and isolated weather events can disrupt our operations. At least
some of our operations are constantly at risk of extreme adverse weather conditions. Any unusual or prolonged adverse weather patterns in our areas of operations or markets,
whether due to climate change or otherwise, can temporarily impact freight volumes and increase our costs.

Our operations may be subject to seasonal fluctuations, and our inability to manage these fluctuations could negatively affect our business and our results of
operations.

Many of our customers typically realize a significant portion of their sales in the fourth quarter of each year during the holiday season. Although not all of our customers experience
the same seasonal variation, and some customers may have seasonal peaks that occur in periods other than the fourth quarter, the seasonality of our customers’ businesses places
higher demands on our services, requiring us to take measures, including temporarily expanding our workforce, to meet our customers’ demands. Our failure to meet our customers’
expectations during these seasonal peaks may negatively affect our customer relationships, could expose us to penalties under our contractual arrangements with customers and
ultimately could negatively affect our business and our results of operations.

13

Risks Related to Third-Party Relationships

We depend on third parties in the operation of our business.

We generally do not own or control the transportation assets that deliver our customers’ freight, and we do not employ the people directly involved in delivering this freight. In
addition, we engage third-party contractors who own and operate their own equipment and vendors to provide value-added services. Accordingly, we are dependent on third parties
to provide truck, rail, ocean, air and other transportation and related services and to report certain events to us, including delivery information and cargo claims. This reliance on third
parties could cause delays in reporting certain events, impacting our ability to recognize revenue and claims in a timely manner.

Our inability to maintain positive relationships with independent carriers could significantly limit our ability to serve our customers on competitive terms. In addition, changes in the
terms of the relationships with our vendors may make our value-added services less compelling to customers and adversely impact our results. Our ability to secure sufficient
equipment or other transportation services to meet our commitments to customers or provide our services on competitive terms is subject to inherent risks, many of which are
beyond our control, including equipment and labor shortages in the transportation industry, interruptions or stoppages in transportation services, “Acts of God” or acts of terrorism,
changes in regulations impacting transportation, increases in operating expenses for carriers that result in a reduction in available carriers, and changes in transportation rates; and
if we are unable to meet our commitments to our customers or provide our services on competitive terms, our operating results could be

13
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materially and adversely affected, and our customers could shift their business to our competitors temporarily or permanently.

Our business relies on third-party carriers to conduct its operations, and the status of these parties as independent contractors, rather than employees, is being
challenged.

Federal and state legislation as well as tax and other regulatory authorities have sought to assert that independent contractors in the transportation service industry are employees
rather than independent contractors. There can be no assurance that interpretations supporting independent contractor status will not change, that other federal or state legislation
will not be enacted or that various authorities will not successfully assert a position that re-classifies independent contractors to be employees. If the third-party carriers with which
we contract for the performance of delivery services, or their delivery workers, are determined to be our employees, that determination could materially increase our exposure under
a variety of federal and state tax, workers’ compensation, unemployment benefits, labor, employment and tort laws, as well as our potential liability for employee benefits and tax
withholdings. Any of the above increased costs would adversely affect our business and operating results.

In addition, we are involved in several class action and collective action lawsuits claiming that the third-party carriers with which we contract, or their delivery workers, should be
treated as our employees, rather than independent contractors. These lawsuits may seek substantial monetary damages (including claims for unpaid wages, overtime,
unreimbursed business expenses, deductions from wages and other items), injunctive relief, or both.

While we believe that our third-party carriers are properly classified as independent contractors rather than as employees, and that their delivery workers are not employees of the
company, Company, adverse final outcomes in these matters could result in changes to their independent contractor status and could, among other things, entitle certain claimants
to reimbursement of certain expenses and to the benefit of wage-and-hour laws, and result in employment and withholding taxes, back wages and benefit liability for us. These
claims involve potentially significant classes that could involve thousands of claimants and, accordingly, significant potential damages and litigation costs, and could lead others to
bring similar claims. Adverse final outcomes in these matters or changes to state or federal laws could cause us to change our business model, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business strategies, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

The results of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

14

Our business may be materially adversely affected by labor disputes or organizing efforts.

Our business could be adversely affected by strikes and labor negotiations at seaports, labor disputes between railroads and their union employees, or by a work stoppage at one or
more railroads or local trucking companies servicing rail or port terminals, including work disruptions involving owner-operators under contract with our local trucking operations. Port
shutdowns and similar disruptions to major points in national or international transportation networks could result in terminal embargoes, disrupt equipment and freight flows,
depress volumes and revenues, increase costs and have other negative effects on our operations and financial results.

Labor disputes involving our customers could affect our operations. If our customers experience plant slowdowns or closures because they are unable to negotiate labor contracts,
our revenue and profitability could be negatively impacted.

Although our work force in the United States is not unionized, labor Labor unions may sometimes attempt to organize our employees. Successful unionization by our employees or
organizing efforts could lead to business interruptions, work stoppages and the reduction of service levels due to work rules that could have an adverse effect on our customer
relationships and our revenues, earnings, financial position and outlook.

14

Risks Related to Our Use of Technology
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Our business will be seriously harmed if we fail to develop, implement, maintain, upgrade, enhance, protect and integrate our information technology systems,
including those systems of any businesses that we acquire.

We rely heavily on our information technology systems in managing our business; they are a key component of our customer-facing services and internal growth strategy. In
general, we expect our customers to continue to demand more sophisticated, fully integrated technology from their carriers. To keep pace with changing technologies and customer
demands, we must correctly address market trends and enhance the features and functionality of our proprietary technology platform in response to these trends. This process of
continuous enhancement may lead to significant ongoing software development costs, which will continue to increase if we pursue new acquisitions of companies and their current
systems. In addition, we may fail to accurately determine the needs of our customers or trends in the transportation industry, or we may fail to respond appropriately by
implementing functionality for our technology platform in a timely or cost-effective manner. Any such failures could result in decreased demand for our services and a corresponding
decrease in our revenues.

We must ensure that our information technology systems remain competitive. If our information technology systems are unable to manage high volumes with reliability, accuracy
and speed as we grow, or if such systems are not suited to manage the various services we offer, our service levels and operating efficiency could decline. In addition, if we fail to
hire and retain qualified personnel to implement, protect and maintain our information technology systems, or if we fail to enhance our systems to meet our customers’ needs, our
results of operations could be seriously harmed.

Our technology may not be successful or may not achieve the desired results, and we may require additional training or different personnel to successfully implement this
technology. Our technology development process may be subject to cost overruns or delays in obtaining the expected results, which may result in disruptions to our operations.

15

We could be affected by cyberattacks or breaches of our information systems, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may be subject to cybersecurity attacks and other intentional hacking. Any failure to identify and address such defects or errors or prevent a cyber-attack could result in service
interruptions, operational difficulties, loss of revenues or market share, liability to our customers or others, the diversion of corporate resources, injury to our reputation or increased
service and maintenance costs. Addressing such issues could prove to be impossible or very costly and responding to the resulting claims or liability could similarly involve
substantial cost. Also, due to recent advances in technology and well-known efforts on the part of computer hackers and cyber-terrorists to breach data security of companies, we
face risks associated with potential failure to adequately protect critical corporate, customer and employee data, which, if released, could adversely impact our customer
relationships, our reputation, and even violate privacy laws. Recently, regulatory and enforcement focus on data protection has heightened in the United States. Failure to comply
with applicable data protection regulations or other data protection standards may expose us to litigation, fines, sanctions or other penalties, which could harm our business, our
reputation, results of operations and financial condition.

15

A failure of our information technology infrastructure, information systems, networks or processes may materially adversely affect our business.

The efficient operation of our business depends on our information technology systems. We rely on our information technology systems to effectively manage our sales and
marketing, financial, legal and compliance functions, engineering and product development tasks, research and development data, communications, order entry and fulfillment and
other business processes. We also rely on third parties and virtualized infrastructure to operate our information technology systems. Despite significant testing for risk management,
external and internal risks, such as malware, insecure coding, “Acts of God,” data leakage and human error pose a direct threat to the stability or effectiveness of our information
technology systems and operations. The failure of our information technology systems to perform as we anticipate could adversely affect our business through transaction errors,
billing and invoicing errors, internal recordkeeping and reporting errors, processing inefficiencies and loss of sales, receivables collection or customers. Any such failure could result
in harm to our reputation and have an ongoing adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition, including after the underlying failures have been
remedied. Further, the delay or failure to implement information system upgrades and new systems effectively could disrupt our business, distract management’s focus and attention
from our business operations, and increase our implementation and operating costs, any of which could negatively impact our operations and operating results.

Issues related to the intellectual property rights on which our business depends, whether related to our failure to enforce our own rights or infringement claims brought
by others, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We use both internally developed and purchased technologies in conducting our business. Whether internally developed or purchased, it is possible that users of these technologies
could be claimed to infringe upon or violate the intellectual property rights of third parties. In the event that a claim is made against us by a third-party for the infringement of
intellectual property rights, a settlement or adverse judgment against us could result in increased costs to license the technology or a legal prohibition against our using the
technology. Thus, our failure to obtain, maintain or enforce our intellectual property rights could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including patents, copyrights, trademarks, domain names, trade secrets, intellectual property licenses and other contractual
rights, to protect our intellectual property and technology. Any of our owned or licensed intellectual property rights could be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed or
misappropriated; our trade secrets and other confidential information could be disclosed in an unauthorized manner to third parties; or we may fail to secure the rights to intellectual
property developed by our employees, contractors and others. Efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be time-consuming and costly, distract management’s attention,
divert our resources and ultimately be unsuccessful. Moreover, should we fail to develop and properly manage future intellectual property, this could adversely affect our market
positions and business opportunities.
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Third-party security incidents could result in the loss of our or our customers’ data, expose us to liability, harm our reputation, damage our competitiveness and
adversely impact our financial results.

We rely on third parties to provide us with a number of operational and technical services. These third parties may have access to our systems, provide hosting services or
otherwise process data about us or our customers, employees or partners. Our ability to monitor such third parties’ security measures is limited. Any security incident involving such
third parties could compromise the integrity or availability of, or result in the theft of, our and our customers’ data. Unauthorized access to data and other confidential or proprietary
information may be obtained through break-ins, network breaches by unauthorized parties, employee theft or misuse, or other misconduct. If any of the foregoing were to occur or to
be perceived to occur, our reputation may suffer, our competitive position may be diminished, we could face lawsuits, regulatory investigation, fines, and potential liability and our
financial results could be negatively impacted.
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Risks Related to Our Credit and Liquidity

Challenges in the commercial and credit environment may adversely affect our future access to capital on favorable terms.

Volatility in the world financial markets could increase borrowing costs or affect our ability to access the capital markets. Our ability to issue debt or enter into other financing
arrangements on acceptable terms could be adversely affected if there is a material decline in the demand for our services or in the financial health of our customers or suppliers or
if there are other significantly unfavorable changes in economic conditions.

We have incurred debt obligations that could adversely affect our business and profitability and our ability to meet other obligations.

In connection with the Separation, RXO entered into (i) a revolving credit agreement providing for a five-year As of December 31, 2023, we had $360 million of outstanding debt
(excluding finance leases), constituting $355 million of our unsecured notes and $5 million outstanding under our unsecured, multi-currency revolving credit facility and (ii) a term
loan credit agreement providing for a five-year $100 million unsecured term loan facility. Additionally, RXO issued $355 million that matures in 2027 (the “Revolver”), in addition to
$595 million of unsecured notes. RXO transferred undrawn commitments under the net proceeds from the issuance of the notes and the incurrence of the term loan, together with
cash on RXO’s balance sheet, to XPO in October 2022. As a result of these transactions, RXO had approximately $455 million of outstanding debt as of December 31, 2022,
excluding finance leases. Revolver. We may also incur additional indebtedness in the future.

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all, could materially and
adversely affect our financial position and results of operations. Further, failure to comply with the covenants under our indebtedness may have a material adverse impact on our
operations. If we fail to comply with any of the covenants under our debt and are unable to obtain a waiver or amendment, such failure may result in an event of default under our
indebtedness. We may not have sufficient liquidity to repay or refinance our indebtedness if such indebtedness were accelerated upon an event of default.

Risks Related to Litigation and Regulation

We are subject to claims arising from our transportation operations.

We use the services of thousands of transportation companies in connection with our transportation operations. From time to time, the drivers employed and engaged by the motor
carriers we contract with are involved in accidents, which may result in serious personal injuries. The resulting types and/or amounts of damages may be excluded by or exceed the
amount of insurance coverage maintained by the third-party carrier. Although these drivers are not our employees and all of these drivers are employees, owner-operators, or
independent contractors working for the third-party carriers, from time to time, claims may be asserted against us for their actions or for our actions in retaining them. Claims against
us may exceed the amount of our insurance coverage or may not be covered by insurance at all. A material increase in the frequency or severity of accidents, liability claims or
workers’ compensation claims, or unfavorable resolutions of claims could materially and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, significant increases in insurance costs or
the inability to purchase insurance as a result of these claims could reduce
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17

our profitability. Our involvement in the transportation of certain goods, including but not limited to, hazardous materials, could also increase our exposure in the event one of our
third-party carriers is involved in an accident resulting in injuries or contamination.

In North America, as a property freight broker, we are not legally liable for loss or damage to our customers' customers’ cargo. In our customer contracts, we may agree to assume
cargo liability up to a stated maximum. We typically do not assume cargo liability to our customers above minimum industry standards in our international freight forwarding, ocean
transportation, or air freight businesses on international or domestic air shipments. Although we are not legally liable for loss or damage to our customers' customers’ cargo, from
time to time, claims may be asserted against us for cargo losses.

17

From time to time, we are involved in lawsuits and are subject to various claims that could result in significant expenditures and impact our operations.

The nature of our business exposes us to the potential for various types of claims and litigation. We are subject to claims and litigation related to independent contractor
classification, labor and employment, personal injury, vehicular accidents, cargo and other property damage, commercial disputes, environmental liability and other matters,
including with respect to claims asserted under various other theories of agency or employer liability. Claims against us may exceed the amount of insurance coverage that we have
or may not be covered by insurance at all. Businesses that we acquire also increase our exposure to litigation. Material increases in liability claims or workers’ compensation claims,
or the unfavorable resolution of claims, or our failure to recover, in full or in part, under indemnity provisions could materially and adversely affect our operating results. In addition,
significant increases in insurance costs or the inability to purchase insurance as a result of these claims could reduce our profitability.

Our third-party carriers are subject to increasingly stringent laws protecting the environment, including transitional risks relating to climate change, which could
directly or indirectly have a material adverse effect on our business.

Future and existing environmental regulatory requirements, including evolving transportation technology, in the United States and abroad could adversely affect operations and
increase operating expenses, which in turn could increase our purchased transportation costs or further exacerbate shortages of trucking equipment. If we are unable to retain
compliant third-party carriers or pass such operating expenses along to our customers, our business could be materially and adversely affected. Even without any new legislation or
regulation, increased public concern regarding greenhouse gases emitted by transportation carriers could harm the reputations of companies operating in the transportation industry
and shift consumer demand toward more locally sourced products and away from our services.

We are subject to governmental regulations and political conditions, which could negatively impact our business.

Our operations are regulated and licensed by various governmental agencies at the local, state and federal levels in the United States and in the foreign countries where we
operate. These regulatory agencies have authority and oversight of domestic and international activities. Our subsidiaries must also comply with applicable regulations and
requirements of various agencies.

The regulatory landscape in which we operate is constantly evolving and subject to significant change, including as a result of evolving political and social attitudes. Future laws,
regulations and regulatory reforms, including without limitation future laws and regulations related to increased minimum wages, the expansion of union organization rights or
changes in the classification of employees and independent contractors, may be more stringent and may require changes to our operating practices that influence the demand for
our services or require us to incur significant additional costs, which could adversely affect our results of operations to the extent we are unable to obtain a corresponding increase in
price from our customers.

Furthermore, political conditions may increase the level of intensity of regulations that impact our business, may require changes to our operating practices, may influence demand
for our services, or may require us to incur significant additional costs, any of which could negatively impact our business.
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Risks Related to Our Strategy and Operations

We depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and temporary workers.

We depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified talent, including temporary, part-time and full-time team members; sales representatives; brokerage agents; managers; and
executive officers. If we are unable to attract and retain such individuals, we may be unable to maintain our current competitive position within the industry, meet our customers’
expectations or successfully expand and grow our business.

18

In addition to our permanent employees, our ability to meet customer demands and expectations, especially during periods of peak volume, is substantially dependent on our ability
to recruit and retain qualified temporary workers. Increased demand for temporary workers, low unemployment or changes in federal or state minimum wage laws may increase the
costs of temporary labor, and any such increases in labor costs could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. Moreover, our inability
to recruit a qualified temporary workforce may result in our inability to meet our customers’ performance targets.

Failure to successfully implement our cost and revenue initiatives could cause our future financial results to suffer.

We are implementing various cost and revenue initiatives to further increase our profitability, including advanced pricing analytics and revenue management tools, our digital
brokerage platform, our shared distribution network, cross-selling to strategic accounts, workforce productivity and further back-office optimization. If we are not able to successfully
implement these cost and revenue initiatives, our future financial results may suffer.

We may not successfully manage our growth.

We have grown rapidly and substantially over prior years, including by expanding our internal resources, making acquisitions and entering into new markets, and we intend to
continue to focus on rapid growth, including organic growth and potentially additional acquisitions. We may experience difficulties and higher-than-expected expenses in executing
this strategy as a result of unfamiliarity with new markets, changes in revenue and business models, entry into new geographic areas and increased pressure on our existing
infrastructure and information technology systems.

Our growth will place a significant strain on our management, operational, financial and information technology resources. We will need to continually improve existing procedures
and controls, as well as implement new transaction processing, operational and financial systems, and procedures and controls to expand, train and manage our employee base.
Our working capital needs will continue to increase as our operations grow. Failure to manage our growth effectively, or obtain necessary working capital, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Our inability to successfully manage the costs and operational difficulties of adding new customers or more volume from existing customers may negatively affect our
financial condition and operations.

Establishing new customer relationships or adding operational sites for existing customers requires a significant amount of time, operational focus and capital. Although we typically
partner with our new customers to ensure that onboarding is smooth and allocate costs appropriately, our inability to integrate new customers or operational sites into our technology
systems or recruit additional employees to manage new customer relationships, or higher than anticipated costs to onboard new customers, may negatively affect our financial
condition or operations.

We derive a significant portion of our total revenue from our largest customers.

Our top five customers comprised approximately 21% of our consolidated total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. Our largest customer comprised
approximately 8% 9.5% of our consolidated total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. The sudden loss of one or more major customers could
materially and adversely affect our operating results.
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Damage to our reputation through unfavorable publicity or the actions of our employees or independent contractors could adversely affect our financial condition.

Our success depends on our ability to consistently deliver operational excellence and strong customer service. Our inability to deliver our services and solutions as promised on a
consistent basis, or our customers having a negative experience or otherwise becoming dissatisfied, can negatively impact our relationships with new or existing customers and
adversely affect our brand and reputation, which could, in turn, adversely affect revenue and earnings growth. Adverse publicity (whether or not justified) relating to activities by our
employees, contractors, agents or others with whom we do business, such as customer service mishaps or noncompliance with laws, could tarnish our reputation and reduce the
value of our brand. With the increase in the use of social media outlets, adverse publicity can be disseminated quickly and broadly, making it increasingly difficult for us to effectively
respond. This unfavorable publicity could also require us to allocate significant resources to rebuild our reputation.

If we determine that our goodwill has become impaired, we may incur impairment charges, which would negatively impact our operating results.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had $630 million of goodwill on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net
assets acquired in business combinations. We assess potential impairment of our goodwill annually, or more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates an impairment loss may
have been incurred. Impairment may result from significant changes in the manner or use of the acquired assets, in connection with the sale, spin off or other divestiture of a
business unit, negative industry or economic trends and/or significant underperformance relative to historic or projected operating results. For a discussion of our goodwill
impairment testing, see “Critical Accounting Policies— Policies and Estimates—Evaluation of Goodwill” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.”

Any acquisitions that we may complete in the future may be unsuccessful or result in other risks or developments that adversely affect our financial condition and
results.

While we intend for acquisitions to improve our competitiveness and profitability, we cannot be certain that any future acquisitions will be accretive to earnings or otherwise meet our
operational or strategic expectations. Special risks, including accounting, regulatory, compliance, information technology or human resources issues, may arise in connection with,
or as a result of, the acquisition of an existing company, including the assumption of unanticipated liabilities and contingencies, difficulties in integrating acquired businesses,
possible management distractions, or the inability of the acquired business to achieve the levels of revenue, profit, productivity or synergies we anticipate or otherwise perform as
we expect on the timeline contemplated. Any of these events could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of any divestitures we may make in the future, or the benefits of any such divestitures may take longer to realize than
expected.

We may in the future sell certain businesses or exit particular markets. Any such divestitures may not yield the targeted improvements in our business. Divestitures involve risks,
including difficulties in the separation of operations, services, and personnel, disruption in our operations or businesses, finding a suitable purchaser, and the diversion of
management’s attention from our other businesses. Any impairments and losses on divestiture resulting from this process may cause us to record significant charges, including
those related to goodwill and other intangible assets. Any charges that we are required to record or the failure to achieve the intended financial results associated with divestitures of
businesses or assets could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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Risks Related to the Separation

We have a very limited operating history as a standalone, publicly traded company, and our historical financial information,  prior to the Separation, is not necessarily
representative of the results we would have achieved as a standalone, publicly traded company and may not be a reliable indicator of our future results.

The financial information in this Annual Report refers to RXO as a public company that began regular-way trading on November 1, 2022. Prior to the Separation, we derived our
combined financial statements from XPO’s accounting records and presented these on a standalone basis as if RXO had been operated independently from XPO. Our historical
financial information, prior to the Separation, does not necessarily reflect the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows that we will achieve as a standalone publicly
traded company.

Prior to the Separation, we were able to benefit from XPO’s shared economies of scope and scale in costs, employees, vendor relationships and customer relationships.
Additionally, XPO performed various corporate functions for us, such as legal, treasury, accounting, human resources, investor relations, and finance. Our historical financial results,
prior to the Separation, reflect allocations of corporate expenses from XPO for such functions, which may be less than the expenses we will incur as a separate, publicly traded
company. In addition, our working capital requirements and capital for our general corporate purposes, including capital expenditures and acquisitions, historically were part of the
corporate-wide cash management policies of XPO. Following the completion of the Separation, our results of operations, cash flows, working capital and financing requirements
may be subject to increased volatility and our ability to fund capital expenditures and investments, and service debt, may be diminished and we may need to obtain additional
financing from banks, through public offerings or private placements of debt or equity securities, strategic relationships or other arrangements, which may or may not be available
and may be more costly. For these reasons, as well as the additional risks related to the Separation noted below, we may not achieve the expected benefits of the Separation.

Following the Separation, our financial profile has changed, and we are a smaller, less diversified company than XPO prior to the Separation.

The Separation resulted in RXO becoming a smaller, less diversified company with a business concentrated in its industry. As a result, our company may be more vulnerable to
changing market conditions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the diversification of our revenues,
costs, and cash flows will diminish as a standalone company, such that our results of operations, cash flows, working capital and financing requirements may be subject to increased
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volatility and, as we will no longer be able to use cash flow from XPO to fund our investments and operations, our ability to fund capital expenditures and investments, pay dividends
and service debt may be diminished.

In connection with the Separation, RXO and XPO indemnified each other for certain liabilities. If we are required to pay under these indemnities to XPO, our financial
results could be negatively impacted. The XPO indemnities may not be sufficient to hold us harmless from the full amount of liabilities for which XPO will be allocated
responsibility, and XPO may not be able to satisfy its indemnification obligations in the future.

Pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement and certain other agreements between RXO and XPO, each party agreed to indemnify the other for certain liabilities, in each
case for uncapped amounts. Indemnities that we may be required to provide XPO may be significant and could negatively impact our business. Third parties could also seek to hold
us responsible for any of the liabilities that XPO has agreed to retain. Any amounts we are required to pay pursuant to these indemnification obligations and other liabilities could
require us to divert cash that would otherwise have been used in furtherance of our operating business. Further, the indemnities from XPO for our benefit may not be sufficient to
protect us against the full amount of such liabilities, and XPO may not be able to fully satisfy its indemnification obligations.

Moreover, even if we ultimately succeed in recovering from XPO any amounts for which we are held liable, we may be temporarily required to bear these costs ourselves. Each of
these risks could negatively affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

21

XPO may fail to perform under the various transition services agreements that were executed as part of the Separation, or we may fail to have necessary systems and
services in place when certain of the transaction agreements expire.

In connection with the separation and prior to the distribution, RXO and XPO entered into the Separation and Distribution Agreement and various other agreements, including the
TSA, the TMA, the EMA and the IPLA. The Separation and Distribution Agreement, the TMA, the EMA and the IPLA, together with the documents and agreements by which the
internal reorganization was effected, determined the allocation of assets and liabilities between the companies following the separation for those respective areas and include any
necessary indemnifications related to liabilities and obligations. The TSA provides for the performance of certain services by each company for the benefit of the other for a period of
time after the Separation. RXO will rely on XPO to satisfy its performance and payment obligations under these agreements. If XPO is unable or unwilling to satisfy its obligations
under these agreements, including its indemnification obligations, we could incur operational difficulties and/or losses.

If the Separation, together with certain related transactions, does not qualify as a transaction that is generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we could
be subject to significant tax liabilities, and, in certain circumstances, we could be required to indemnify XPO for material amounts of taxes and other related amounts
pursuant to indemnification obligations under the TMA. In addition, if certain internal restructuring transactions were to fail to qualify as transactions that are generally
tax-free for U.S. federal or non-U.S. income tax purposes, we, as well as XPO, could be subject to significant tax liabilities.

In connection with the Separation, XPO received an opinion of outside counsel regarding the qualification of the Separation, together with certain related transactions, as a
“reorganization” within the meaning of Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code" “Code”). The opinion of counsel was based upon and relies on,
among other things, various facts and assumptions, as well as certain representations, statements and undertakings of XPO and RXO, including those relating to the past and future
conduct of XPO and RXO. If any of these facts, assumptions, representations, statements or undertakings is, or becomes, inaccurate or incomplete, or if XPO or RXO breaches any
of its representations or covenants contained in the separation agreement and certain other agreements and documents or in any documents relating to the opinion of counsel, the
opinion of counsel may be invalid and the conclusions reached therein could be jeopardized.

Notwithstanding receipt of the opinion of counsel, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) could determine that the Separation and/or certain related transactions should be
treated as taxable transactions for U.S. federal income tax purposes if it determines that any of the representations, assumptions or undertakings upon which the opinion of counsel
was based are false or have been violated. In addition, the opinion of counsel represents the judgment of such counsel and will not be binding on the IRS or any court, and the IRS
or a court may disagree with the conclusions in the opinion of counsel. Accordingly, notwithstanding receipt of the opinion of counsel, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not
assert that the Separation and/or certain related transactions do not qualify for tax-free treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes or that a court would not sustain such a
challenge. In the event the IRS were to prevail with such a challenge, we, as well as XPO and XPO’s stockholders, could be subject to significant U.S. federal income tax liability.
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If the Separation, together with certain related transactions, were to fail to qualify as a transaction that is tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes under Sections 355 and
368(a)(1)(D) of the Code, in general, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, XPO would recognize taxable gain as if it had sold the RXO common stock in a taxable sale for its fair
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market value, and XPO stockholders who receive such RXO shares in the distribution would be subject to tax as if they had received a taxable distribution equal to the fair market
value of such shares.

In addition, as part of and prior to the Separation, XPO and its subsidiaries completed an internal reorganization, and XPO, RXO and their respective subsidiaries incurred certain
tax costs in connection with the internal reorganization, including non-U.S. tax costs resulting from transactions in non-U.S. jurisdictions, which may be material. With respect to
certain transactions undertaken as part of the internal reorganization, XPO obtained opinions of external tax advisors regarding the tax treatment of such transactions. Such
opinions are based and relied on, among other things, various facts and assumptions, as well as certain representations, statements and undertakings of XPO, RXO

22

or their respective subsidiaries. If any of these representations or statements is, or becomes, inaccurate or incomplete, or if XPO, RXO or their respective subsidiaries do not fulfill or
otherwise comply with any such undertakings or covenants, such opinions may be invalid or the conclusions reached therein could be jeopardized. Further, notwithstanding receipt
of any such tax opinions, there can be no assurance that the relevant taxing authorities will not assert that the tax treatment of the relevant transactions differs from the conclusions
reached in the relevant tax opinions. In the event the relevant taxing authorities prevail with any challenge in respect of any relevant transaction, XPO, RXO and their subsidiaries
could be subject to significant tax liabilities.

Under the TMA, we generally are required to indemnify XPO for any taxes resulting from the Separation (and any related costs and other damages) to the extent such amounts
resulted from: (i) an acquisition of all or certain portions of the equity securities or assets of RXO, whether by merger or otherwise (and regardless of whether we participated in or
otherwise facilitated the acquisition), (ii) certain other actions or failures to act by RXO, or (iii) any breach of RXO’s covenants or undertakings contained in the Separation and
Distribution Agreement and certain other agreements and documents. Further, under the TMA, we generally would be required to indemnify XPO for a specified portion of any taxes
(and any related costs and other damages) arising as a result of the failure of the Separation and certain related transactions to qualify as a transaction that is generally tax-free
(including as a result of Section 355(e) of the Code) or a failure of any internal distribution that is intended to qualify as a transaction that is generally tax-free to so qualify, in each
case, to the extent such amounts did not result from a disqualifying action by, or acquisition of equity securities of, XPO or RXO. Any such indemnity obligations could be material.

We may not be able to engage in desirable capital-raising or strategic transactions following the Separation.

Under current U.S. federal income tax law, a spin-off that otherwise qualifies for tax-free treatment can be rendered taxable to the parent corporation and its stockholders as a result
of certain post-spin-off transactions, including certain acquisitions of shares or assets of the spun-off corporation. For example, a spin-off may result in taxable gain to the parent
corporation under Section 355(e) of the Code if it were later deemed to be part of a plan (or series of related transactions) pursuant to which one or more persons acquire, directly or
indirectly, shares representing a 50 percent or greater interest (by vote or value) in the spun-off corporation. To preserve the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the Separation,
and in addition to our indemnity obligation described above, the TMA restricts us, for the two-year period following the Separation, except in specific circumstances, from, among
other things: (i) ceasing to actively conduct certain of our businesses; (ii) entering into certain transactions or series of transactions pursuant to which all or a portion of the shares of
RXO stock would be acquired, whether by merger or otherwise; (iii) liquidating or merging or consolidating with any other person; (iv) issuing equity securities beyond certain
thresholds; (v) repurchasing shares of RXO stock other than in certain open-market transactions; or (vi) taking or failing to take any other action that would jeopardize the expected
U.S. federal income tax treatment of the Separation and certain related transactions. Further, the TMA imposes similar restrictions on us and our subsidiaries during the two-year
period following the Separation that are intended to prevent certain transactions undertaken as part of the internal reorganization from failing to qualify as transactions that are
generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes under Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Code or for applicable non-U.S. income tax purposes. These restrictions may
limit our ability to pursue certain equity issuances, strategic transactions, repurchases or other transactions that we may otherwise believe to be in the best interests of our
stockholders or that might increase the value of our business. Also, we may be responsible for liabilities arising from the failure of the
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Separation, together with certain related transactions, to qualify for tax-free treatment and our indemnity obligations for such liabilities under the TMA, may discourage, delay or
prevent certain third parties from acquiring RXO.

Certain of our directors and employees may have actual or potential conflicts of interest because of their positions with or financial interests in XPO.

Because of their current or former positions with XPO, certain of our executive officers and directors continue to own equity interests in XPO following the Separation. In addition,
Mr. Jacobs serves as executive chairman of XPO while also serving as chairman of our board of directors. These factors could create, or appear to create, potential conflicts of
interest to the extent that we and XPO face decisions that could have different implications for the two companies. For example, potential conflicts of interest could arise in
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connection with the resolution of any dispute that may arise between XPO and our company regarding the terms of the agreements governing the Separation and the relationship
between the companies.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Sales of shares of our common stock in connection with the Registration Rights Agreement, or the prospect of any such sales, could affect the market price of our
common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through future sales of equity securities.

We have entered into a registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) with Jacobs Private Equity, LLC (“JPE”), an affiliate of Brad Jacobs, our chairman. As of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, JPE beneficially owned 1.3  million shares of our common stock, which represents approximately 1.1% of our outstanding shares of
common stock. Any sales in connection with the Registration Rights Agreement, or the prospect of any such sales, could adversely impact the market price of our common stock. In
addition, in connection with a registration request under the Registration Rights Agreement for an underwritten offering, we may be required to agree to be restricted from selling or
disposing any of our common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for common stock for a period of 90 days (subject to certain exceptions and our
ability to defer a registration request or suspend use of a registration statement under certain circumstances). As a result, we may be restricted in our ability to raise capital through
future sales of equity securities.

Any stockholder’s percentage of ownership in RXO may be diluted in the future at any given time.

In the future, existing holders of our common stock may be diluted because of equity issuances for acquisitions, capital market transactions or otherwise, including any equity
awards that we will grant to our directors, officers and employees. Our employees have stock-based awards that correspond to shares of our common stock after the Separation as
a result of conversion of their XPO stock-based awards. We anticipate that the compensation committee of our board of directors will grant additional stock-based awards to our
employees under the employee benefits plan. Such awards will have a dilutive effect on the number of RXO shares outstanding, and therefore on our earnings per share, which
could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Certain provisions in RXO’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and of Delaware law, may prevent or delay an acquisition of RXO, which
could decrease the trading price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain, and Delaware law contains, provisions that are intended to deter coercive
takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids by making such practices or bids unacceptably expensive to the bidder and to encourage prospective acquirers to negotiate with
our board of directors rather than to attempt a hostile takeover. These provisions include:

• the ability of our remaining directors to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

• limitations on stockholders’ ability to call a special stockholder meeting or act by written consent;

• rules regarding how stockholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election at stockholder meetings;

• the right of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval; and

23

• a classified board of directors, with each class serving a staggered three-year term, which could have the effect of making the replacement of incumbent directors more time
consuming and difficult.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Law (the “DGCL”), which could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control that you
may favor. Section 203 provides that, subject to limited exceptions, persons that acquire, or are affiliated with persons that acquire, more than 15% of the outstanding voting stock of
a Delaware corporation may not engage in a business combination with that corporation, including by merger, consolidation or acquisitions of additional shares, for a three-year
period following the date on which that person or any of its affiliates becomes the holder of more than 15% of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock.
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We believe these provisions will protect our stockholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics by requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our board of directors
and by providing our board of directors with more time to assess any acquisition proposal. These provisions are not intended to make RXO immune from takeovers; however, these
provisions will apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders and could delay or prevent an acquisition that our board of directors determines is not in
the best interests of RXO and our stockholders. These provisions may also prevent or discourage attempts to remove and replace incumbent directors.

In addition, an acquisition or further issuance of our common stock may trigger the application of Section 355(e) of the Code, causing the Separation to be taxable to XPO. Under
the TMA, we are required to indemnify XPO for the resulting tax, and this indemnity obligation might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control that our stockholders may
consider favorable.

RXO’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains an exclusive forum provision that may discourage lawsuits against RXO and our directors and
officers.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that unless the board of directors otherwise determines, the state courts within the State of Delaware (or, if no state
court located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) will be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or
proceeding brought on behalf of RXO, any action asserting a claim for or based on a breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director or officer or other employee or
stockholder of RXO in such capacity to RXO or to RXO stockholders, including a claim alleging the aiding and abetting of such a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a
claim against RXO or any current or former director or officer or other employee or stockholder of RXO in such capacity arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws, any action asserting a claim relating to or involving RXO governed by the internal affairs
doctrine, or any action asserting an “internal corporate claim” as that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL.

Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the
rules and regulations thereunder. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and
the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the federal district
courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Section 27 of the Exchange Act
creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty of liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, and as a result, the
exclusive forum provision does not apply to actions arising under the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. While the Delaware Supreme Court ruled in March 2020
that federal forum selection provisions purporting to require claims under the Securities Act be brought in federal court are “facially valid” under Delaware law, there is uncertainty as
to whether other courts will enforce our federal forum provision described above. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived compliance with the federal securities laws
and the rules and regulations thereunder.
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This exclusive forum provision may limit the ability of our stockholders to bring a claim in a judicial forum that such stockholders find favorable for disputes with RXO or our directors
or officers, which may discourage such lawsuits against RXO and our directors and officers. Alternatively, if a court were to find this exclusive forum provision inapplicable to, or
unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings described above, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in
other jurisdictions, which could negatively affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Our information security program is managed by our Chief Information Officer (“CIO”) and Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”), who are responsible for assessing, monitoring
and managing our cybersecurity risks. Our CIO has over 30 years of experience in the technology field, and our CISO has over 20 years of experience in the technology and
cybersecurity fields, including over 10 years of experience as a CISO or Head of Information Security for various organizations.

Our cybersecurity risk management and identification has been integrated into our broader enterprise risk management framework which is regularly reported on to the Audit
Committee of our Board of Directors. Additionally, our CIO and CISO provide periodic reports to our Board of Directors, as well as to our Chief Executive Officer and other members
of our senior management as appropriate. These reports include updates on our cybersecurity risks and threats, the status of activities to strengthen our information security
systems, assessments of the information security program, and the emerging threat landscape.

We also engage with various external experts, including cybersecurity assessors and consultants, to conduct cybersecurity program and threat assessments and to advise
management on ways to enhance our cybersecurity program as part of our continuing efforts to evaluate the effectiveness of our information security program. We utilize certain
third-party service providers to perform a variety of functions to operate our business and we seek to engage reliable, reputable service providers that maintain cybersecurity
programs. Depending on the nature of the services provided, the sensitivity of the information, and the identity of the service provider, our vendor management process may include
reviewing the cybersecurity practices of such provider, contractually imposing obligations on the provider, and conducting security assessments.

While we have not experienced a cybersecurity incident that has materially affected our business, results of operations or financial condition, see the risk factor entitled “We could
be affected by cyberattacks or breaches of our information systems, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business” in Item 1A — Risk Factors for information
about the cybersecurity risks we face.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we operated 204 200 principal locations, primarily located in North America, including 24 25 locations owned or leased by our
customers.


Location Location

Leased

Facilities

Owned

Facilities

Customer

Facilities

(1) Total Location Leased Facilities Owned Facilities

Customer

Facilities (1) Total

North
America

North
America 165  2  24  191 

Asia Asia 9  —  —  9 

Corporate Corporate 4  —  —  4 

Total Total 178  2  24  204 

(1) Locations owned or leased by customers.

We lease our current executive office located in Charlotte, North Carolina. We believe that our facilities are sufficient for our current needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information with respect to certain legal proceedings is included in Note 14 5 —Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements (included in Part II, Item 8
of this Annual Report) and is incorporated herein by reference. For an additional discussion of certain risks associated with legal proceedings, see “Risk Factors” above.

26

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

On November 1, 2022, our common stock began regular-way trading on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the ticker symbol “RXO.”

On February 22, 2023  As of February 8, 2024, there were approximately 90 97 registered holders of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. Any determination to pay dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors,
subject to applicable laws, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors that our board of
directors considers relevant.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph sets forth the cumulative total stockholder return to RXO’s stockholders for the period beginning November 1, 2022, the date of the Separation, through
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, as well as the corresponding returns on the Dow Jones Transportation Average and S&P 400 MidCap SmallCap 600 index.

The stock performance assumes $100 was invested on November 1, 2022, in our common stock and each index, including reinvestment of dividends through December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023.


433

November 1, 2022 November 30, 2022 December 31, 2022

RXO, Inc. $ 100.00  $ 99.69  $ 90.24 

Dow Jones Transportation Average $ 100.00  $ 108.34  $ 99.05 

S&P 400 MidCap $ 100.00  $ 105.54  $ 99.50 
27 28

11/1/2022 12/31/2022 3/31/2023 6/30/2023 9/30/2023 12/31/2023

RXO, Inc. $ 100.00  $ 90.24  $ 103.04  $ 118.94  $ 103.52  $ 122.04 

Dow Jones Transportation Average 100.00  99.05  106.79  114.86  110.71  117.59 

S&P SmallCap 600 100.00  96.39  98.43  101.28  95.86  109.77 

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

ITEM 6. RESERVED [RESERVED]

28 29

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements that are intended to be covered by the safe harbors created by the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Please see “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks
and assumptions associated with these statements.

This section of this Annual Report generally discusses 2023 and 2022 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2023 and 2022. Discussions of 2021 items and year-to-year
comparisons between 2022 and 2021. Discussions of 2020 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2021 and 2020 are not included in this Annual Report and can be found in
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“Management’s Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” Operations” in Exhibit 99.1 to our Registration
Statement Annual Report on Form 10, as amended, declared effective on October 17, 2022 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Overview

RXO, Inc. is a high-performing brokered transportation platform defined by cutting-edge technology and a nimble, an asset-light business model, with the model. The largest
component being is our core truck brokerage business. Based on 2021 revenues, we are the fourth largest broker Our operations also include three asset-light, brokered
transportation services, all of full truckload which complement our truck brokerage business: managed transportation, last mile and freight transportation in the United States, and
have approximately 4% share of the entire $88 billion brokered truckload industry. forwarding.

Our truck brokerage business has a variable cost structure with history of generating robust free cash flow conversion and a long track record of generating a high return on invested
capital. Shippers create demand for our service, and we place their freight with qualified independent carriers using our technology. We price our service on either a contract or a
spot basis.

Notable factors driving volume growth in our business include our ability to access massive truckload capacity for shippers through our carrier relationships; our proprietary, cutting-
edge technology; our strong management expertise; and favorable long-term industry tailwinds. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had approximately
123,000 115,000 carriers in our North American truck brokerage network, and access to more than 1.5 1.4 million trucks.

We provide our customers with highly efficient access to capacity through our digital brokerage technology. This proprietary platform is a major differentiator for our truck brokerage
business, and together with our pricing technology, we believe it can unlock incremental profitable growth well beyond our current levels. Our complementary services for managed
transportation, last mile and freight forwarding also utilize our digital brokerage technology.

Our managed transportation service provides asset-light solutions for shippers who outsource their freight transportation to gain reliability, visibility and cost savings. The service
uses proprietary technology to enhance our revenue synergy, with cross-selling to truck brokerage, last mile and freight forwarding. Our managed transportation offering includes
bespoke load planning and procurement, complex solutions tailored to specific challenges, performance monitoring, engineering and data analytics, among other services. Our
control tower solution leverages the expertise of a dedicated team focused on continuous improvement, and digital, door-to-door visibility into order status and freight in transit. In
addition, we offer technology-enabled managed expedite services that automate transportation procurement for time-critical freight moved by independent road and air charter
carriers.

Our last mile offering is an asset-light service that facilitates consumer deliveries performed by highly qualified third-party contractors. We are the largest provider of outsourced last
mile transportation for heavy goods in the United States, positioned within 125 miles of the vast majority of the U.S. population and serving a customer base of omnichannel and e-
commerce retailers and direct-to-consumer manufacturers.
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Our freight forwarding service is a scalable, asset-light offering managed with advanced technology that facilitates ocean, road and air transportation and assists with customs
brokerage. We are a U.S.-based freight forwarder with a global network of company-owned and partner-owned locations and coverage of key trade lanes that reach approximately
160 150 countries and territories.

30

The Separation

On November 1, 2022, we completed the separation from XPO, which we refer to as the Separation. The Separation was accomplished by the distribution of 100 percent of the
outstanding common stock of RXO to XPO stockholders as of the close of business on October 20, 2022, the record date for the distribution. XPO stockholders received one share
of RXO common stock for every share of XPO common stock held at the close of business on the record date. On November 1, 2022, RXO is now became a standalone publicly
traded publicly-traded company. On November 1, 2022, regular-way trading of RXO’s common stock commenced on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “RXO.”

The Separation was completed under a Separation and Distribution Agreement and various other agreements that govern aspects of our relationship with XPO, including, but not
limited to the TMA, EMA, TSA and IPLA. See Note 3 — The Separation to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Impacts of COVID-19 and Other Notable External Conditions

As a leading provider of freight transportation services, our business can be impacted to varying degrees by factors beyond our control. The COVID-19 pandemic that emerged in
2020 affected, and may continue to affect, impact overall economic activity, broadly and customer sectors served by our industry. Labor shortages, particularly a shortage of truck
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drivers, and equipment shortages continue to present challenges to many transportation-related industries. Additionally, disruptions in industry, supply chains for industrial materials
and supplies, such as semiconductor chips, have impacted some of the end-market activities that create demand for our services. labor markets. We cannot predict how long these
dynamics will last, or whether any future challenges, if any, resurgences will adversely affect our results of operations. To date, the totality of the actions we have taken during the
pandemic, and continue to take, have mitigated the impact on our profitability relative to the impact on our revenue and volumes, while our strong liquidity and disciplined capital
management enable us to continue to invest in growth initiatives.

Regarding the war between Russia and Ukraine, we have no direct exposure to those geographies. We cannot predict how global supply chain activities or the
economy at large may be impacted by a prolonged war in Ukraine or sanctions imposed in response to the war, or whether future conflicts, if any, may adversely
affect our results of operations.

Impact of Inflation

Inflation Economic inflation can have a negative impact on our operating costs. costs, and any economic recession could depress activity levels and adversely affect our results of
operations. A prolonged period of inflation could cause interest rates, fuel, wages and other costs to continue to increase, which would adversely affect our results of operations
unless our pricing to our customers correspondingly increases. During 2022, Generally, inflationary increases in labor and operating costs related to our operations have historically
been offset through price increases. However, the transportation industry’s truck driver shortage, together with rising fuel prices, resulted pricing environment generally becomes
more competitive during economic downturns, which may, as it has in higher transportation procurement costs to meet growing demand, which costs were largely offset by
mechanisms in our customer contracts, including fuel surcharge clauses and general rate increases. An economic recession could depress activity levels and adversely the past,
affect our results of operations. ability to obtain price increases from customers both during and following such periods.

Basis of Presentation

Prior to the Separation, the Company’s financial statements were prepared on a standalone combined basis and were derived from the consolidated financial statements and
accounting records of XPO (the “historical financial statements”). On November 1, 2022, the Company became a standalone publicly traded company, and its financial statements
post-Separation are prepared on a consolidated basis. The combined financial statements for all periods presented prior to the Separation are now also referred to as “consolidated
financial statements,” and have been prepared under the U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

Cost of transportation and services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) primarily includes the cost of providing or procuring freight transportation for RXO customers.

Direct operating expenses (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) includes both fixed and variable expenses and consists mainly of personnel costs; facility and equipment
expenses, such as rent, utilities, equipment maintenance and repair; costs of materials and supplies; information technology expenses; and gains and losses on sales of property
and equipment.

Sales, general and administrative expense (“SG&A”), including the allocated costs of XPO prior to the Separation, primarily consists of salaries and commissions for the sales
function; salary and benefit costs for executive and certain administration functions; third-party professional fees; facility costs; bad debt expense; and legal costs.

Prior to the Separation, the Company’s historical assets and liabilities presented were wholly owned by XPO and were reflected on a historical cost basis.
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In connection with the Separation, the Company’s assets and liabilities were transferred to the Company on a carry-over basis.

31

Prior to the Separation, the historical results of operations included allocations of XPO costs and expenses including XPO’s corporate function which incurred a variety of expenses
including, but not limited to, information technology, human resources, accounting, sales and sales operations, procurement, executive services, legal, corporate finance and
communications. An allocation of these expenses is included to burden all business units comprising XPO’s historical results of operations, including RXO. The charges reflected
have either been specifically identified or allocated using drivers including proportionally adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, which includes
adjustments for transaction and integration costs, as well as restructuring costs and other adjustments, or headcount. The Company believes the assumptions regarding allocations
of XPO corporate expenses are reasonable. Nevertheless, the consolidated financial statements may not reflect the results of operations, cash flows and financial position and cash
flows had the Company been a standalone entity during the periods presented. The majority of these allocated costs are recorded within Sales, general and administrative expense;
Depreciation and amortization expense; and Transaction and integration  costs; and Restructuring costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. All charges and allocations
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for facilities, functions and services performed by XPO organizations have been deemed settled in cash by RXO to XPO in the year in which the cost was recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

For the periods ended before the Separation, XPO investment represents XPO’s historical investment in RXO and includes the net effects of transactions with and allocations from
XPO as well as RXO’s accumulated earnings. Certain transactions between RXO and XPO, including XPO’s non-RXO subsidiaries, have been included in these consolidated
financial statements, and are considered to be effectively settled at the time the transaction is recorded. The total net effect of the cash settlement of these transactions is reflected
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as a financing activity and in the Consolidated Balance Sheets Statements of Changes in Equity as XPO investment. The
components of the net transfers to and from XPO include certain costs allocated from XPO Corporate XPO's corporate functions, income tax expense, certain cash receipts and
payments made on behalf of RXO and general financing activities.

For the periods ended before the Separation, the Company was a member of the XPO consolidated group, and its U.S. taxable income was included in XPO’s consolidated U.S.
federal income tax return as well as in the tax returns filed by XPO with certain state and local taxing jurisdictions. For the periods ended after the Separation, the Company will file a
consolidated U.S. federal income tax return as well as certain state and local income tax returns. The Company’s Company's foreign income tax returns are filed on a full-year basis.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of RXO, Inc. and its majority-owned subsidiaries. The Company has eliminated intercompany accounts and
transactions.

RXO has one reportable segment.

31 32

Results of Operations

Years Ended December 31, Percent of Revenue

Years Ended

December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in millions) (Dollars in millions) 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 (Dollars in millions) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022

Revenue Revenue $4,796  $4,689  $3,357  100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % Revenue $3,927  $ $4,796  $ $4,689  100.0  100.0  % 100.0  %

Cost of

transportation

and services

(exclusive of

depreciation

and

amortization)

Cost of

transportation

and services

(exclusive of

depreciation

and

amortization) 3,624  3,681  2,568  75.6 % 78.5 % 76.5 %

Cost of

transportation

and services

(exclusive of

depreciation

and

amortization) 2,967  3,624  3,624  3,681  3,681  75.6  75.6 % 75.6

Direct

operating

expense

(exclusive of

depreciation

and

amortization)

Direct

operating

expense

(exclusive of

depreciation

and

amortization) 226  192  174  4.7 % 4.1 % 5.2 %

Direct

operating

expense

(exclusive of

depreciation

and

amortization) 235  226  226  192  192  6.0  6.0 % 4.7

Sales,

general and

administrative

expense

Sales,

general and

administrative

expense 640  539  455  13.3 % 11.5 % 13.6 %

Sales,

general and

administrative

expense 591  640  640  539  539  15.0  15.0 % 13.3

Depreciation

and

amortization

expense

Depreciation

and

amortization

expense 86  81  76  1.8 % 1.7 % 2.3 %

Depreciation

and

amortization

expense 67  86  86  81  81  1.7  1.7 % 1.8

Transaction

and

integration

costs

Transaction

and

integration

costs 84  2  14  1.8 % — % 0.4 %

Transaction

and

integration

costs 12  84  84  2  2  0.3  0.3 % 1.8
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Restructuring

costs

Restructuring

costs 13  2  10  0.3 % — % 0.3 %

Restructuring

costs 16  13  13  2  2  0.4  0.4 % 0.3

Operating

income

Operating

income 123  192  60  2.6 % 4.1 % 1.8 %

Operating

income 39  123  123  192  192  1.0  1.0 % 2.6

Other

expense

Other

expense —  1  3  — % — % 0.1 %

Other

expense 3  —  —  1  1  0.1  0.1 % —

Interest

expense, net

Interest

expense, net 4  —  —  0.1 % — % — %

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net 32  4  —  0.8  % 0.1  %

Income before

income taxes

Income before

income taxes 119  191  57  2.5 % 4.1 % 1.7 %

Income before

income taxes 4  119  119  191  191  0.1  0.1 % 2.5

Income tax

provision

Income tax

provision 27  41  14  0.6 % 0.9 % 0.4 %

Income tax

provision —  27  27  41  41  —  — % 0.6

Net income Net income $ 92  $ 150  $ 43  1.9 % 3.2 % 1.3 % Net income $ 4  $ $ 92  $ $ 150  0.1  0.1  % 1.9  %

Year Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022

Revenue for 2022 increased 2023 decreased by 2.3% 18.1% to $4.8 billion $3.9 billion, from $4.7 billion $4.8 billion in 2021. 2022. The year-over-year increase decrease was driven
primarily by a $180 $571 million decrease in revenue generated from our truck brokerage business, as a result of a 28% reduction in revenue per load, which was impacted by a
combination of transportation market rates, fuel prices, length of haul and freight mix. The decline was partially offset by a 12% increase in truck brokerage load volume. Additionally,
revenue due to increased load volume facilitated generated from our freight forwarding business decreased by our digital platform. $171 million, driven primarily by a decrease in
ocean rates and volume.

Cost of transportation and services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) in 2022 2023 was $3.6 billion $3.0 billion, or 75.6% of revenue, compared with $3.7 billion $3.6
billion, or 78.5% 75.6% of revenue in 2021. Third-party 2022. In 2023, we experienced (i) lower transportation costs as a percentage of revenue decreased year-over-year in last mile
and (ii) an improvement in mix in our freight forwarding business. This was offset by 2.8 a 3.0 percentage points, primarily due to our ability to purchase point increase in truck
brokerage cost of transportation and services at as a percentage of revenue, as lower freight rates were not fully offset by corresponding reductions in cost as of purchased
transportation during the transportation market softened, while the majority of our revenue reflected fixed terms on customer contracts established in stronger rate environments
prior to 2022. year.

Direct operating expense (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) is composed of both fixed and variable expenses and consists mainly $235 million in 2023 increased $9
million, or 4.0%, from $226 million in 2022. As a percentage of personnel costs, facility and equipment expenses, such as rent, utilities, equipment maintenance and repair, costs of
materials and supplies, information technology expenses, and gains and losses on sales of property and equipment.

Direct revenue, direct operating expense (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) increased to 6.0% in 2023 compared to 4.7% in 2022 was $226 million due to deleverage on
lower revenue.

SG&A of $591 million in 2023 decreased $49 million, or 4.7% of revenue, compared with $192 million 7.7%, or 4.1% of revenue, from $640 million in 2021. The year-over-year
increase as 2022. As a percentage of revenue, was primarily the result of higher compensation-related costs and higher facilities and maintenance costs, which SG&A increased as
a percentage of revenue by approximately 0.3 and 0.2 percentage points, respectively.

Sales, general and administrative expense (“SG&A”), including the allocated costs of XPO, primarily consists of salaries and commissions for the sales function, salary and benefit
costs for executive and certain administration functions, third-party professional fees, facility costs, bad debt expense and legal costs.

SG&A was $640 million to 15.0% in 2023 compared to 13.3% in 2022 or 13.3% of revenue, compared with $539 million, or 11.5% of revenue, in 2021. The year-over-year increase
in SG&A as a percentage of revenue primarily resulted from due to higher compensation-related costs of 1.5 percentage points reflecting deleverage on lower revenue and
incremental corporate costs of operating RXO as a standalone public company. This was partially offset by cost savings from restructuring actions executed in 2022 as compared to
2021. 2023, which primarily comprised employee severance. We anticipate the restructuring actions will result in cumulative annualized net cost savings of approximately $32
million.

Depreciation and amortization expense in 2022 2023 was $86 million $67 million, compared with $81 million $86 million in 2021. 2022. The year-over-year reduction was driven by (i)
a decrease in intangible asset amortization expense as a result of a customer relationship intangible asset being fully amortized in December 2022 and (ii) a decrease in
depreciation for our allocated share of XPO’s corporate overhead.
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Transaction and integration costs in 2023 and 2022 were $12 million and $84 million, compared with $2 million in 2021. Transaction respectively, and integration costs for 2022 and
2021 are primarily comprised of spin-off related costs.

32

Restructuring costs in 2023 and 2022 were $16 million and $13 million, compared with $2 million in 2021, respectively, and are primarily composed of spin-off related costs. Of the
total restructuring costs incurred in 2022, $10 million was related to severance costs, $2 million was related to facilities costs, and $1 million was related to contract termination
costs. All restructuring costs incurred in 2021 were related to comprised severance costs.

Interest expense primarily consists of interest related to indebtedness for money borrowed and finance lease obligations. The increase in interest expense in 2022 2023 as
compared to 2021 2022 is primarily due to a full year of interest incurred in 2023 on borrowings made in connection with the Separation in the fourth quarter. quarter of 2022.

Our effective income tax rates were (13.0)% and 22.6% in 2023 and 21.4% in 2022, and 2021, respectively. The increase change in our effective income tax rate for the year ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 was driven primarily driven by reduced a tax benefit resulting of $2
million realized in 2023 from changes in reserves for uncertain tax positions.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our effective tax rate differs from the U.S. corporate income tax rate of 21% due to a tax benefit of $2 million from changes in reserves for
uncertain tax positions. For the year ended December 31, 2022, our effective tax rate differs from the U.S. corporate income tax rate of 21% due to state income taxes within the
United States, partially offset by a tax benefit of $3 million from provision to return and other deferred tax adjustments. For the year ended December 31, 2021, our effective tax rate
differs from the U.S. corporate income tax rate of 21% due to state income taxes within the United States, partially offset by a tax benefit of $5 million from changes in reserves for
uncertain tax positions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Prior to the Separation on November 1, 2022, the Company participated in XPO’s centralized treasury model, which included cash pooling and other intercompany financing
arrangements. Prior to the Separation, we generated positive cash flows from operations. We have generated and expect to continue generating positive cash flows from operations
after the Separation.

Our ability to fund our operations and anticipated capital needs are reliant upon the generation of cash from operations, supplemented as necessary by periodic utilization of our
revolving credit facility. Our principal uses of cash in the future will be primarily to fund our operations, working capital needs, capital expenditures, repayment of borrowings,  share
repurchases and strategic business development transactions. The timing and magnitude of our growth and working capital needs can vary and may positively or negatively impact
our cash flows.

We continually evaluate our liquidity requirements and capital structure in light of our operating needs, growth initiatives and capital resources. We believe that our existing liquidity
and sources of capital are sufficient to support our operations over the next 12 months.

Capital Expenditures

Our 2022 2023 capital expenditures include capital associated with strategic investments in technology, equipment and equipment. real estate. The level and the timing of the
Company’s capital expenditures within these categories can vary as a result of a variety of factors outside of our control, such as the timing of new contracts and availability of labor
and materials. equipment. We believe that we have significant discretion over the amount and timing of our capital expenditures as we are not subject to any agreement that would
require significant capital expenditures on a designated schedule or upon the occurrence of designated events.

Debt and Financing Arrangements

Revolving Credit Facility

On October 18, 2022, we entered into a five-year unsecured, multi-currency revolving credit facility (the “Revolver”) with initial aggregate commitments of $500 million, of which $50
million is available for the issuance of letters of credit. Loans under the Revolver bear interest at a fluctuating rate plus an applicable margin calculated based on the Company's
credit ratings. There were no amounts was $5 million outstanding under the Revolver as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

On November 2, 2023, the Company exercised a feature to increase the total commitments under its Revolver from $500 million to $600 million.
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Term Loan Facilities

On October 18, 2022, we entered into a five-year $100 million unsecured term loan facility (the “Term Loan”). The Term Loan bears On November 2, 2023, the Company repaid all of
the outstanding obligations in respect of the $100 million principal amount, interest at a fluctuating rate plus an applicable margin calculated based on the Company's credit ratings,
payable quarterly. Beginning with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2025, and fees under the Term Loan will amortize on a quarterly basis in an amount equal to (i) 5% per annum
for and terminated the first eight fiscal quarters ending on or after such date and (ii) 10% per annum for each fiscal quarter ending thereafter. The Term Loan matures on November
1, 2027. Loan.

Notes

On October 25, 2022, we completed an offering of $355 million in aggregate principal amount of unsecured notes (the “Notes” or the "7.50% “7.50% Notes due 2027" 2027”). The
Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.50% per annum payable semiannually in cash in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 2023, and mature on
November 15, 2027, unless earlier repurchased or redeemed. RXO is permitted to redeem some or all of the Notes prior to their maturity at redemption prices described in the
indenture governing the Notes. The Notes were issued at a price of 98.962% of par.

Loan Covenants and Compliance

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with the covenants and other provisions of our debt agreements. Any failure to comply with any material
provision or covenant of these agreements could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and operations.

Financial Condition

The following table summarizes our asset and liability balances as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,

(In millions) 2023 2022 $ Change % Change

Total current assets $ 796  $ 1,029  $ (233) (22.6)%

Total long-term assets 1,029  1,002  27  2.7 %

Total current liabilities 682  823  (141) (17.1)%

Total long-term liabilities 549  621  (72) (11.6)%

Total assets decreased by $206 million from December 31, 2022 and 2021:

December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 $ Change % Change

Total current assets $ 1,029  $ 1,083  $ (54) (5.0)%

Total long-term assets 1,002  985  17  1.7 %

Total current liabilities 823  816  7  0.9 %

Total long-term liabilities 621  182  439  241.2 %

The to December 31, 2023, driven primarily by a $157 million decrease in current assets from December 31, 2021 to December 31, 2022 primarily reflects the impact of decreased
accounts receivable driven by increased collections and as a result of a decrease in revenue in the fourth quarter of 2022 as compared due to 2021, offset by an increase decreased
rates and a $93  million decrease in cash and cash equivalents. Total long-term assets reflect an equivalents as a result of the payoff of the Term Loan, partially offset by a
$36 million increase in operating lease assets associated with new lease contracts entered into during 2022. The increase assets. Total liabilities decreased by $213 million from
December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2023, driven primarily by a decrease in current liabilities is primarily driven by an increase in accrued salaries third party transportation costs
due to decreased rates and wages. The increase a $95  million decrease in long-term liabilities reflects debt as a result of the issuance payoff of the Term Loan and Notes in
2022. Loan.

Cash Flow Activity for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities are summarized as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

Years

Ended

December

31,

(In millions)

(In millions)

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021

$

Change

%

Change 2023 2022

$

Change

%

Change

Net cash
provided
by
operating
activities

Net cash
provided
by
operating
activities $ 310  $ 155  $ 155  100.0 % Net cash provided by operating activities $ 89  $ $ 310  $ $ (221) (71.3) (71.3) %
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Net cash
used in
investing
activities

Net cash
used in
investing
activities (56) (38) (18) (47.4)% Net cash used in investing activities (66) (56) (56) (10) (10) (17.9) (17.9)%

Net cash
used in
financing
activities

Net cash
used in
financing
activities (183) (158) (25) (15.8)% Net cash used in financing activities (117) (183) (183) 66  66  36.1  36.1 %

Effect of
exchange
rates on
cash, cash
equivalents
and
restricted
cash

Effect of
exchange
rates on
cash, cash
equivalents
and
restricted
cash (2) —  (2) — %

Effect of exchange rates on cash, cash

equivalents and restricted cash 1  (2) (2) 3  3  150.0  150.0 %

Net
increase
(decrease)
in cash and
cash
equivalents

Net
increase
(decrease)
in cash and
cash
equivalents $ 69  $ (41) $ 110  268.3 %

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents $ (93) $ $ 69  $ $ (162) 234.8  234.8  %
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Operating Activities

Cash flows Net cash provided by operating activities for 2022 increased 2023 decreased by $155 million $221 million compared with 2021. 2022. The increase is primarily the result
of changes in working capital, which generated $114 million decrease in cash in 2022 compared to using $90 million in cash in 2021, primarily due to revenue growth rate
deceleration in 2022 driven provided by a reduction in freight pricing in operating activities reflects the second half impact of the year. Cash generated from working capital was offset
by lower net income in 2022 as compared to 2021, with net income of $92 million in 2022 compared to $150 million in 2021. The an $88 million decrease in net income between
periods and changes in working capital. The change in working capital was driven primarily driven by an $82 million increase in Transaction the balance sheet impact of decreased
revenues and integration costs in 2022.

Investing Activities cost of third party transportation between periods.

Investing activities used $66 million of cash in 2023 compared with $56 million of cash in 2022 compared with $38 million used in 2021. During 2022, we used $57 million 2022. The
primary use of cash for capital expenditures and received $1 million from sales of in both periods was to purchase property and equipment. During 2021, we used $39 million of cash
for capital expenditures and received $1 million from sales of property and equipment. The increase in property and equipment purchases between periods is primarily driven by
increased spending on computer software and equipment.

Financing Activities

Financing activities used  $117 million of cash in 2023 compared with using $183 million of cash in 2022 and used $158 million 2022. The primary uses of cash from financing
activities in 2021. 2023 were (i) $104 million for debt and finance lease repayments, driven primarily by the payoff of the Term Loan and (ii) $14 million for payments of tax
withholdings related to vesting of stock compensation awards. The primary use of cash from financing activities in 2022 was $621 million in net transfers to XPO in connection with
the Separation. The primary source of cash from financing activities in 2022 was the issuance of long-term debt of $451 million, offset by payment of debt issuance costs of $9
million. Net proceeds from the issuance of the Notes and the incurrence of the Term Loan, together with cash on RXO's balance sheet, were used to fund a net cash distribution of
$604 million from RXO to XPO, in the fourth quarter of 2022. The primary use of cash from financing activities in 2021 was $159 million in net transfers to XPO.

Contractual Obligations

We lease certain facilities and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our outstanding discounted
obligations under operating and finance leases were $162 million $199 million and $6 million, respectively. See Note 7 6 — Leases to the consolidated financial statements for
additional information.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had $355 million of the Notes outstanding with interest payable semiannually in cash in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of
each year, beginning May 15, 2023. The Notes mature on November 15, 2027, unless earlier repurchased or redeemed, if applicable. Additionally, As of December 31, 2023, we
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had $5 million outstanding under the $100 million Term Loan outstanding Revolver, with interest payable quarterly. Beginning with monthly or quarterly, depending on RXO’s upfront
election. Borrowings under the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2025, the Term Loan will amortize Revolver are payable, at our option, at any time prior to or at maturity on a quarterly
basis in an amount equal to (i) 5% per annum for the first eight fiscal quarters ending on or after such date and (ii) 10% per annum for each fiscal quarter ending thereafter. The
Term Loan matures on November 1, 2027 October 18, 2027. See Note 9 8 — Debt to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

In addition, we have obligations for agreements to purchase goods or services entered into in the ordinary course of business that are enforceable and legally binding.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. A summary of our significant accounting policies is contained in Note 2—Basis of Presentation and
Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements. The methods, assumptions, and estimates that we use in applying our accounting policies may require us to
apply judgments regarding matters that are inherently uncertain and may change based on changing circumstances or changes in our analysis. Material changes in these
assumptions, estimates and/or judgments have the potential to materially alter our results of operations. We have identified below our accounting policies that we believe could
potentially produce materially different results if we were to change underlying assumptions, estimates and/or judgments. Although actual results may differ from estimated results,
we believe the estimates are reasonable and appropriate.
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Corporate Expense Allocation

The consolidated financial statements of RXO through the date of the Separation include general corporate expenses of XPO for certain support functions that are provided on a
centralized basis, such as expenses related to information technology, human resources, accounting, sales and sales operations, procurement, executive services, legal, corporate
finance and communications. For purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Operations, an allocation of these expenses is included to burden all business units comprising XPO’s
historical operations, including RXO. The charges reflected have either been specifically identified or allocated using drivers including proportionally adjusted earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, which includes adjustments for transaction and integration costs, as well as restructuring costs and other adjustments, or headcount.
All such costs have been deemed to have been incurred and settled through XPO investment in the period when the costs were recorded. The Company believes the assumptions
regarding allocations of XPO corporate expenses are reasonable. Nevertheless, the consolidated financial statements may not reflect the results of operations, financial position and
cash flows had the Company been a standalone entity during the periods presented.

Evaluation of Goodwill

We measure goodwill as the excess of consideration transferred over the fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations. We allocate goodwill to our reporting units for
the purpose of impairment testing. We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates an impairment loss may have been
incurred. We measure goodwill impairment, if any, at the amount a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. Our
reporting units are our operating segments or one level below our operating segments for which discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by segment
management. We have six reporting units. Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of the reporting units, the assignment of assets
and liabilities to the reporting units, the assignment of goodwill to the reporting units, and a determination of the fair value of the reporting units.

For our 2022 2023 goodwill assessment, we performed a quantitative analysis for our reporting units using a combination of income and market approaches. As of November 30,
2022 November 30, 2023 we completed our annual impairment tests for goodwill with all of our reporting units having fair values in excess of their carrying values, resulting in no
impairment of goodwill.

A quantitative goodwill impairment test, when performed, includes estimating the fair value of a reporting unit using an income approach and/or a market-based approach. The
income approach of determining fair value is based on the present value of estimated future cash flows, which requires us to make various judgmental assumptions, including
assumptions about the timing and amount of future cash flows, growth rates and discount rates. The discount rates reflect management’s judgment and are based on a risk adjusted
weighted-average cost of capital utilizing industry market data of businesses similar to the reporting units. Inherent in our preparation of cash flow projections are assumptions and
estimates derived from a review of our operating results, business plans, expected growth rates, cost of capital and tax rates. Our forecasts also reflect expectations concerning
future economic conditions, interest rates and other market data. The market approach of determining fair value is based on comparable market multiples for companies engaged in
similar businesses, as well as recent transactions within our industry. We believe our approach, which utilizes multiple valuation techniques, yields the most appropriate evidence of
fair value.

Many of the factors used in assessing fair value are outside the control of management, and assumptions and estimates may change in future periods. Changes in assumptions or
estimates could materially affect the estimate of the fair value of a reporting unit, and therefore could affect the likelihood and amount of any potential impairment.

Insurance

We participate in a combination of self-insurance programs and purchased insurance that are managed to provide for the costs of medical, casualty, liability, vehicular, cargo,
workers’ compensation, cyber risk and property claims. Insurance coverage levels are adjusted annually based on risk tolerance and premium expense.
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Liabilities for the risks we retain, including estimates of claims incurred but not reported, are not discounted and are estimated, in part, by considering retention levels, historical cost
experience, demographic and severity factors, and judgments about current and expected levels of cost per claim. Additionally, claims may emerge in future years for events that
occurred in a prior year at a rate that differs from previous actuarial projections. Changes in these assumptions can impact actual costs paid to settle the claims and those amounts
may be different than estimates.

Income Taxes

Our annual effective tax rate is based on our income and statutory tax rates in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Judgment and estimates are required in determining our
tax expense and in evaluating our tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties. Evaluating our tax positions would include but not be limited to our tax positions on internal
restructuring transactions. We review our tax positions quarterly and as new information becomes available. Our effective tax rate in any financial statement period may be
materially impacted by changes in the mix and/or level of earnings by taxing jurisdiction.

Deferred income tax assets represent amounts available to reduce income taxes payable in future years. Such assets arise because of temporary differences between the financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as from net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. We evaluate the recoverability of these future tax deductions and
credits by assessing all available evidence, including the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, carrybacks available, and historical and projected pre-tax profits generated by our
operations. Valuation allowances are established when, in management’s judgment, it is more likely than not that our deferred tax assets will not be realized. In assessing the need
for a valuation allowance, management weighs the available positive and negative evidence, including limitations on the use of tax losses and other carryforwards due to changes in
ownership, historic information, and projections of future sources of taxable income that include and exclude future reversals of taxable temporary differences.

New Accounting Standards

Information related to new accounting standards is included in Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, interest rates and in the price of diesel fuel purchased for use by third-party
carriers who perform the physical freight movements we arrange. We include fuel price adjustment clauses or cost-recovery mechanisms in many of our customer contracts,
enabling us to pass on to these customers substantially all of the fluctuations in the price of diesel fuel, except for short-term economic fluctuations, in the price for our services.
Therefore, a hypothetical 10% change in the price of diesel fuel would not be expected to materially affect our financial performance.

Our long-term debt consists of both fixed-rate and variable-rate instruments, which exposes us to interest rate risk. Based on principal balances outstanding at December 31, 2022,
a A 1% increase or decrease in interest rates on variable-rate debt outstanding as of December 31, 2023 would increase or decrease not have a material impact on our annual
interest expense by approximately $1 million. expense.

Additionally, a portion of our net assets and income are in non-U.S. dollar currencies and, as such, we are exposed to currency risk from potential changes in the functional currency
values of our foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and cash flows. We believe that this foreign currency exchange rate risk will not have a material impact on our financial
results.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
RXO, Inc.:

Opinion Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RXO, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2023 based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

Basis for Opinion Opinions

These The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, are the responsibility for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the Company’s management. effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion. opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as
a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinions opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to
which it relates.

Sufficiency of audit evidence over duplication of XPO’s IT systems and financial data Liabilities for self-insured claims

As discussed in Notes 1 and 3 Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company completed its separation from XPO, Inc. (“XPO”) on November 1, 2022 participates
in a combination of self-insurance programs and purchased insurance that are managed to provide for the costs of liability, vehicular, and workers’ compensation (self-insured
claims). Prior to The Company records estimates of the separation, undiscounted liabilities associated with claims incurred as of the Company’s historical assets and liabilities
presented were wholly owned balance sheet date, including estimates of claims incurred but not reported, by XPO and were reflected on a considering historical cost basis. On
the separation date, the assets experience, demographic, and severity factors, and judgments about current and expected levels of cost per claim and retention levels.
Insurance liabilities, were transferred including those related to the Company on a carry-over basis. To affect the separation, the Company established its own Information
Technology (IT) systems claims managed through self-insurance and purchased insurance, amounted to be used for financial reporting (new IT systems). This included
duplication $62 million as of existing XPO programs December 31, 2023 and historical financial data as well as executing program development are recorded within Accrued
expenses and access controls over the configurations and interfaces of key IT applications.

Other long-term liabilities.

We identified the evaluation assessment of the sufficiency of audit evidence over duplication of XPO’s Information Technology (IT) systems and historical financial data into the
new IT systems to be used by the Company estimated liabilities for financial reporting self-insured claims as a critical audit matter. Evaluating The evaluation of the
sufficiency uncertainty in the amounts that will ultimately be paid to settle these claims required subjective auditor judgment. Assumptions that may affect the estimated liability of
audit evidence obtained required a high degree self-insured claims include the consideration of complex auditor judgment historical cost experience, demographic and severity
factors, and judgments about current and expected levels of cost per claim that have uncertainty related to future occurrences or events and conditions. Additionally, the
involvement Company’s liabilities for self-insured claims included estimates for expenses of IT professionals with claims that have been incurred but have not been reported, and
specialized skills were needed to evaluate the actuarial methods and knowledge. Specifically, the number of duplicated XPO programs and volume of historical financial data
transferred, as well as the configurations and interfaces of key IT applications and access rights assumptions used to key IT applications during and after the separation required
complex auditor judgment and the involvement of IT professionals with specialized skills and knowledge. make these estimates.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal
controls over the Company’s self-insurance process. This included controls over the assumptions used in estimating the liabilities for self-insured claims. In addition, for a
sample of claims we compared the Company’s estimates of liabilities to current available information, which included incident and case reports, current and historical cost
experience, or other evidence. We involved IT actuarial professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in:

• comparing the Company’s actuarial reserving methodologies with accepted actuarial methods and procedures
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• evaluating assumptions used in determining the nature liability, including expected level of cost per claim, in relation to recent historical loss payment trends, and
extent demographic and severity factors

• developing an independent expected range of procedures to be performed and the testing of liabilities, including liabilities for claims that have been incurred but have not
been reported, based on actuarial methodologies

• comparing the Company’s IT program development and access controls through inquiry about and observation of these controls as well as inspection of supporting
evidence to:

– obtain an understanding of the relevant IT systems and processes and testing IT general and application controls related recorded liability to the duplication of XPO’s
programs independently developed liability range.

– evaluate the configurations and interfaces of certain IT applications and access rights

– assess the duplication and transfer of historical financial data existing at the date of separation

In addition, we reconciled the historical net assets and liabilities recorded by the Company to the net assets and liabilities transferred from XPO at the date of the separation. We
evaluated the sufficiency of audit evidence obtained by assessing the results of procedures performed, including the appropriateness of the nature and extent of the audit effort.


/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2022.

Stamford, Connecticut
February 24, 2023 12, 2024

RXO, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

December

31, December 31,

(Dollars in millions, shares

in thousands, except per

share amounts)

(Dollars in millions, shares

in thousands, except per

share amounts) 2022 2021 (Dollars in millions, shares in thousands, except per share amounts) 2023 2022

ASSETS ASSETS

Current assets Current assets

Current assets

Current assets

Cash and cash

equivalents

Cash and cash

equivalents $ 98  $ 29 

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of
$13 and $9, respectively 900  1,010 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts
receivable, net of
$12 and $13 in
allowances,
respectively

Other current assets Other current assets 31  44 

Total current

assets

Total current

assets 1,029  1,083 

Long-term assets Long-term assets

Property and equipment, net of $241 and
$219 in accumulated depreciation,
respectively 119  111 

Property and equipment, net of $293 and
$241 in accumulated depreciation,
respectively
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Property and equipment, net of $293 and
$241 in accumulated depreciation,
respectively

Property and equipment, net of $293 and
$241 in accumulated depreciation,
respectively

Operating lease

assets

Operating lease

assets 159  128 

Goodwill Goodwill 630  630 

Identifiable intangible assets, net of $106 and
$217 in accumulated amortization,
respectively 79  100 

Identifiable
intangible assets,
net of $118 and
$106 in
accumulated
amortization,
respectively

Other long-term

assets

Other long-term

assets 15  16 

Total long-term

assets

Total long-term

assets 1,002  985 

Total

assets

Total

assets $2,031  $2,068 

LIABILITIES AND

STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY

LIABILITIES AND

STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY

Current liabilities Current liabilities

Current liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accounts payable

Accounts payable Accounts payable $ 501  $ 520 

Accrued expenses Accrued expenses 256  248 

Current maturities of

long-term debt

Current maturities of

long-term debt 4  — 

Short-term

operating lease

liabilities

Short-term

operating lease

liabilities 48  42 

Other current

liabilities

Other current

liabilities 14  6 

Total current

liabilities

Total current

liabilities 823  816 

Long-term liabilities Long-term liabilities

Long-term debt and

obligations under

finance leases

Long-term debt and

obligations under

finance leases 451  — 

Long-term debt and obligations under

finance leases

Long-term debt and obligations under

finance leases

Deferred tax liability Deferred tax liability 16  52 

Long-term operating

lease liabilities

Long-term operating

lease liabilities 114  93 

Other long-term

liabilities

Other long-term

liabilities 40  37 
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Total long-

term liabilities

Total long-

term liabilities 621  182 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14)

Commitments and
Contingencies (Note
15)

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)

Equity Equity

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 10,000
shares authorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2022 —  — 

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 300,000
shares authorized; 116,400 shares issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 1  — 

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 10,000
shares authorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and
2022

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 10,000
shares authorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and
2022

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 10,000
shares authorized; 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and
2022

Common stock,
$0.01 par value;
300,000 shares
authorized; 117,026
and 116,400 shares
issued and
outstanding as of
December 31, 2023
and 2022,
respectively

Additional paid-in

capital

Additional paid-in

capital 588  — 

Retained earnings Retained earnings 2  — 

XPO investment —  1,072 

Accumulated other

comprehensive loss

Accumulated other

comprehensive loss (4) (2)

Total equity Total equity 587  1,070 

Total

liabilities

and

equity

Total

liabilities

and

equity $2,031  $2,068 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

RXO, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31,

Years Ended
December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in millions,

shares in

thousands, except

per share amounts)

(Dollars in millions,

shares in

thousands, except

per share amounts) 2022 2021 2020 (Dollars in millions, shares in thousands, except per share amounts) 2023 2022 2021
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Revenue Revenue $ 4,796  $ 4,689  $ 3,357 

Cost of
transportation
and services
(exclusive of
depreciation
and
amortization)

Cost of
transportation
and services
(exclusive of
depreciation
and
amortization) 3,624  3,681  2,568 

Direct
operating
expense
(exclusive of
depreciation
and
amortization)

Direct
operating
expense
(exclusive of
depreciation
and
amortization) 226  192  174 

Sales,
general and
administrative
expense

Sales,
general and
administrative
expense 640  539  455 

Depreciation
and
amortization
expense

Depreciation
and
amortization
expense 86  81  76 

Transaction
and
integration
costs

Transaction
and
integration
costs 84  2  14 

Restructuring
costs

Restructuring
costs 13  2  10 

Operating
income

Operating
income 123  192  60 

Other
expense

Other
expense —  1  3 

Interest
expense, net

Interest
expense, net 4  —  — 

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net

Income before
income taxes

Income before
income taxes 119  191  57 

Income tax
provision

Income tax
provision 27  41  14 

Net income Net income $ 92  $ 150  $ 43 

Earnings per
share data

Earnings per
share data

Earnings per share data

Earnings per share data

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic
earnings per
share

Basic
earnings per
share $ 0.80  $ 1.30  $ 0.37 

Diluted
earnings per
share

Diluted
earnings per
share $ 0.79  $ 1.30  $ 0.37 
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Weighted-
average
common
shares
outstanding

Weighted-
average
common
shares
outstanding

Weighted-average common
shares outstanding

Weighted-average common
shares outstanding

Basic weighted-average
common shares outstanding

Basic weighted-average
common shares outstanding

Basic
weighted-
average
common
shares
outstanding

Basic
weighted-
average
common
shares
outstanding 115,335 115,163 115,163 116,871 115,335 115,163

Diluted
weighted-
average
common
shares
outstanding

Diluted
weighted-
average
common
shares
outstanding 115,791 115,163 115,163

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding

119,456 115,791 115,163

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

RXO, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years Ended
December 31,

Years Ended
December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Net income Net income $92  $150  $43 

Other
comprehensive
income (loss),
net of tax

Other
comprehensive
income (loss),
net of tax

Foreign currency translation
gain (loss), net of tax effect of $
—, $— and $— $ (2) $ —  $ 1 

Other comprehensive income
(loss), net of tax

Other comprehensive income
(loss), net of tax

Foreign currency translation
gain (loss), net of tax effect of
$0, $0 and $0

Foreign currency translation
gain (loss), net of tax effect of
$0, $0 and $0
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Foreign currency translation
gain (loss), net of tax effect of
$0, $0 and $0

Other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Other
comprehensive
income (loss) (2) —  1 

Comprehensive
income

Comprehensive
income $90  $150  $44 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

RXO, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended
December 31,

Years Ended
December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Operating
activities

Operating
activities

Net income Net income $ 92  $150  $ 43 

Net income

Net income

Adjustments to
reconcile net
income to net
cash from
operating
activities

Adjustments to
reconcile net
income to net
cash from
operating
activities

Depreciation
and
amortization
expense

Depreciation
and
amortization
expense 86  81  76 

Depreciation and amortization
expense

Depreciation and amortization
expense

Stock
compensation
expense

Stock
compensation
expense 32  8  8 

Deferred tax expense (20) 3  (9)

Deferred tax
(benefit)

Other Other 6  3  14 

Changes in
assets and
liabilities

Changes in
assets and
liabilities

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable

Accounts
receivable

Accounts
receivable 92  (242) (264)

Other assets Other assets 14  (4) (5)
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Accounts
payable

Accounts
payable (14) 129  87 

Accrued
expenses and
other
liabilities

Accrued
expenses and
other
liabilities 22  27  75 

Net cash
provided by
operating
activities

Net cash
provided by
operating
activities 310  155  25 

Investing
activities

Investing
activities

Payment for
purchases of
property and
equipment

Payment for
purchases of
property and
equipment (57) (39) (47)

Payment for purchases of
property and equipment

Payment for purchases of
property and equipment

Proceeds
from sale of
property and
equipment

Proceeds
from sale of
property and
equipment 1  1  8 

Other

Net cash used
in investing
activities

Net cash used
in investing
activities (56) (38) (39)

Financing
activities

Financing
activities

Proceeds from borrowings on
revolving credit facility

Proceeds from borrowings on
revolving credit facility

Proceeds from borrowings on
revolving credit facility

Repayment of
borrowings
on revolving
credit facility

Proceeds
from issuance
of debt

Proceeds
from issuance
of debt 451  —  — 

Repayment of
debt and
finance
leases

Payment for
debt issuance
costs

Payment for
debt issuance
costs (9) —  — 

Payment for
tax
withholdings
related to
vesting of
stock
compensation
awards

Payment for
tax
withholdings
related to
vesting of
stock
compensation
awards (3) —  — 
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Net transfers (to) from XPO (621) (159) 32 

Repurchase
of common
stock

Net transfers
to XPO

Other Other (1) 1  — 

Net cash (used in) provided by
financing activities (183) (158) 32 

Net cash used
in financing
activities

Effect of
exchange
rates on
cash, cash
equivalents
and restricted
cash

Effect of
exchange
rates on
cash, cash
equivalents
and restricted
cash (2) —  1 

Net increase
(decrease) in
cash, cash
equivalents
and restricted
cash

Net increase
(decrease) in
cash, cash
equivalents
and restricted
cash 69  (41) 19 

Cash, cash
equivalents
and restricted
cash,
beginning of
period

Cash, cash
equivalents
and restricted
cash,
beginning of
period 29  70  51 

Cash, cash
equivalents
and restricted
cash, end of
period

Cash, cash
equivalents
and restricted
cash, end of
period $ 98  $ 29  $ 70 

Supplemental
disclosure of
cash flow
information:

Supplemental
disclosure of
cash flow
information:

Cash paid for income taxes 3  5  2 

Cash paid for income taxes,
net

Cash paid for income taxes,
net

Cash paid for income taxes,
net

Cash paid for
interest, net

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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RXO, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Common Stock

Common Stock

Common Stock

(Dollars in millions, shares in

thousands)

(Dollars in millions, shares in

thousands)

(Dollars in millions, shares in

thousands) Shares Amount

Additional Paid-

In Capital

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Loss

XPO

Investment

Total

Equity

Balance as of
December 31,
2020

Net income

Common Stock

(Dollars in millions, shares in

thousands) Shares Amount

Additional

Paid-In

Capital

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Loss

XPO

Investment

Total

Equity

Balance as of December 31,
2019 — $ —  $ —  $ —  $ (3) $ 982  $ 979 

Net income — — —  —  —  43  43 

Other comprehensive income — — —  —  1  —  1 

Stock

compensation

expense

Stock

compensation

expense — — —  —  —  8  8 

Net transfers from XPO — —  —  —  37  37 

Balance as of December 31,

2020 — $ —  $ —  $ —  $ (2) $ 1,070  $1,068 

Net income — — —  —  —  150  150 

Stock compensation expense

Stock

compensation

expense

Stock

compensation

expense — — —  —  —  8  8 

Net transfers to

XPO

Net transfers to

XPO — — —  —  —  (156) (156)

Balance as of

December 31,

2021

Balance as of

December 31,

2021 — $ —  $ —  $ —  $ (2) $ 1,072  $1,070 

Net income Net income — —  — 2  —  90  92 

Other

comprehensive

loss

Other

comprehensive

loss — —  — —  (2) —  (2)

Stock

compensation

expense

Stock

compensation

expense — —  3 —  —  29  32 

Stock compensation expense

Stock compensation expense

Vesting of

stock

compensation

awards

Vesting of

stock

compensation

awards 1,237 —  —  —  —  —  — 
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Tax

withholdings

related to

vesting of

stock

compensation

awards

Tax

withholdings

related to

vesting of

stock

compensation

awards — —  (3) —  —  —  (3)

Net transfers to

XPO

Net transfers to

XPO — —  —  —  —  (602) (602)

Issuance of

common stock

and

reclassification

of XPO

investment

Issuance of

common stock

and

reclassification

of XPO

investment 115,163 1  588 —  —  (589) — 

Balance as of

December 31,

2022

Balance as of

December 31,

2022 116,400 $ 1  $ 588  $ 2  $ (4) $ —  $ 587 

Net income

Other

comprehensive

income

Stock compensation expense

Stock compensation expense

Stock compensation expense

Vesting of

stock

compensation

awards

Tax

withholdings

related to

vesting of

stock

compensation

awards

Repurchase of common stock

Repurchase of common stock

Repurchase of common stock

Balance as of

December 31,

2023

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

RXO, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Years Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020 2021

1. Organization

RXO, Inc., (“RXO”, the “Company” or “we”), is a brokered transportation platform defined by cutting-edge technology and an asset-light business model, with the model. The largest
component being is our core truck brokerage business. Our operations also include three asset-light, brokered transportation services, all of which are complementary
to complement our truck brokerage business: managed transportation, last mile and freight forwarding. We present our operations in the consolidated financial statements as one
reportable segment.
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On November 1, 2022, the Company completed the separation (the “Separation”) from XPO, Inc. (formerly known as XPO Logistics, Inc.) (“XPO”) (the “Separation”) in a transaction
intended to be tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Separation was accomplished by the distribution of 100 percent of the outstanding common stock of RXO to XPO
stockholders as of the close of business on October 20, 2022, the record date for the distribution. XPO stockholders received one share of RXO common stock for every share of
XPO common stock held at the close of business on the record date. On November 1, 2022, RXO is now became a standalone publicly traded company, and, on November 1,
2022, regular-way trading of RXO’s common stock commenced on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the ticker symbol “RXO.”

The Separation was completed under a Separation and Distribution Agreement and various other agreements that govern aspects of the Company’s relationship with XPO. See
Note 3 — The Separation for additional information of the agreements executed in connection with the Separation.publicly-traded company.

2. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

Prior to the Separation, the Company’s financial statements were prepared on a standalone combined basis and were derived from the consolidated financial statements and
accounting records of XPO (the “historical financial statements”). On November 1, 2022, the Company became a standalone publicly traded company, and its financial statements
post-Separation are prepared on a consolidated basis. The combined financial statements for all periods presented prior to the Separation are now also referred to as “consolidated
financial statements,” and have been prepared under the U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

Prior to the Separation, the Company’s historical assets and liabilities presented were wholly owned by XPO and were reflected on a historical cost basis.

In connection with the Separation, the Company’s assets and liabilities were transferred to the Company on a carry-over basis.

Prior to the Separation, the historical results of operations included allocations of XPO costs and expenses including XPO’s corporate function which incurred a variety of expenses
including, but not limited to, information technology, human resources, accounting, sales and sales operations, procurement, executive services, legal, corporate finance and
communications. An allocation of these expenses is included to burden all business units comprising XPO’s historical results of operations, including RXO. The charges reflected
have either been specifically identified or allocated using drivers including proportionally adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, which includes
adjustments for transaction and integration costs, as well as restructuring costs and other adjustments, or headcount. The Company believes the assumptions regarding allocations
of XPO corporate expenses are reasonable. Nevertheless, the consolidated financial statements may not reflect the results of operations, cash flows and financial position and cash
flows had the Company been a standalone entity during the periods presented. The majority of these allocated costs are recorded within Sales, general and administrative expense;
Depreciation and amortization expense; and Transaction and integration  costs; and Restructuring costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. All charges and allocations
for facilities, functions and services performed by XPO organizations have been deemed settled in cash by RXO to XPO in the year in which the cost was recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

For the periods ended before the Separation, XPO investment represents XPO’s historical investment in RXO and includes the net effects of transactions with and allocations from
XPO as well as RXO’s accumulated earnings. Certain transactions between RXO and XPO, including XPO’s non-RXO subsidiaries, have been included in these consolidated
financial statements, and are considered to be effectively settled at the time the transaction is recorded. The total net effect of the cash settlement of these transactions is reflected
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as a financing activity and in the Consolidated Balance Sheets Statements of Changes in Equity as XPO investment. The
components of the net transfers to and from XPO include certain costs allocated from XPO Corporate XPO's corporate functions, income tax expense, certain cash receipts and
payments made on behalf of RXO and general financing activities.

For the periods ended before the Separation, the Company was a member of the XPO consolidated group, and its U.S. taxable income was included in XPO’s consolidated U.S.
federal income tax return as well as in the tax returns filed by XPO with certain state and local taxing jurisdictions. For the periods ended after the Separation, the Company will file a
consolidated U.S. federal income tax return as well as certain state and local income tax returns. The Company’s foreign income tax returns are filed on a full-year basis.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of RXO, Inc. and its majority-owned subsidiaries. The Company has eliminated intercompany accounts and
transactions.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the use of estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The Company bases its estimates and judgments on historical information and on various other assumptions that it
believes are reasonable under the circumstances. GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and judgments in several areas, including, but not limited to, those related to
revenue recognition, income taxes, loss contingencies, valuation of long-lived assets including goodwill and intangible assets and their associated estimated useful lives,
collectability of accounts receivable and the fair value of financial instruments. Actual results may vary from those estimates.

The COVID-19 pandemic has created and may continue to create significant uncertainty in macroeconomic conditions, which may cause further business slowdowns
or shutdowns, depress demand for the transportation services industry, and adversely impact the Company’s estimates, particularly those that require consideration of
forecasted financial information. The business and economic uncertainty resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic has made calculating estimates and assumptions
more difficult.

Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when we transfer control of promised products or services to customers in an amount equal to the consideration we expect to receive for those products or
services.
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Performance Obligations

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance
obligation and recognized as revenue when the performance obligation is satisfied.

We generate revenue by providing truck brokerage and other transportation services for our customers. Additional services may be provided to our customers under their
transportation contracts, including unloading and other incidental services. The transaction price is based on the consideration specified in the customer’s contract.

47 49

A performance obligation is created when a customer under a transportation contract submits a bill of lading for the transport of goods from origin to destination. These performance
obligations are satisfied as the shipments move from origin to destination. We recognize transportation revenue proportionally as a shipment moves from origin to destination and
the related costs are recognized as incurred. Some of our customer contracts contain our promise to stand ready to provide transportation services. For these contracts, we
recognize revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract because the pattern of benefit to the customer, and our efforts to fulfill the contract, are generally distributed
evenly throughout the period. Performance obligations are generally short-term, with transit times usually less than one week. Generally, customers are billed on upon shipment of
the freight or on a weekly or monthly basis and make payment according to approved payment terms. When we do not control the specific services, we recognize revenue as the
difference between the amount the customer pays us for the service less the amount we are charged by third parties who provide the service.

Generally, we can adjust our pricing based on contractual provisions related to achieving agreed-upon performance metrics, changes in volumes, services and market conditions.
The estimate of variable consideration is determined by the expected value or most likely amount method and factors in current, past and forecasted experience with the customer.
Customers are billed based on terms specified in the revenue contract and they pay us according to approved payment terms.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less on the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Bank overdraft positions occur when the
sum of payments honored by the Company's bank exceed the amount of cash available in the Company's account. The Company had $1 million in bank overdrafts as of December
31, 2022 recorded within Other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. There were no bank overdrafts as of December 31, 2021.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses

We record accounts receivable at the contractual amount, and we record an allowance for credit losses for the amount we estimate we may not collect. In determining the allowance
for credit losses, we consider historical collection experience, the age of the accounts receivable balances, the credit quality and risk of our customers, any specific customer
collection issues, current economic conditions, and other factors that may impact our customers’ ability to pay. We also consider reasonable and supportable forecasts of future
economic conditions and their expected impact on customer collections in determining our allowance for credit losses. We write off accounts receivable balances once the
receivables are no longer deemed collectible.

The roll-forward of the allowance for credit losses is as follows:
Years Ended
December 31,

Years Ended
December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Beginning
balance

Beginning
balance $ 9  $10  $ 7 

Provision
charged to
expense

Provision
charged to
expense 11  6  11 

Write-offs,
less
recoveries,
and other
adjustments

Write-offs,
less
recoveries,
and other
adjustments (7) (7) (8)

Ending
balance

Ending
balance $13  $ 9  $10 

The Company may sell certain accounts receivable from time to time on a non-recourse basis pursuant to factoring arrangements to better match and neutralize the cash flow
impact of transportation cost outflows. During the quarter ended December 31, 2023, we received cash for accounts receivable balances sold of $36 million under these
arrangements.

Property and Equipment
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Property and equipment, which includes assets recorded under finance leases, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation or, in the case of acquired property and equipment,
at fair value at the date of acquisition. Maintenance and repair expenditures are charged to expense as incurred.
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For internally-developed computer software, all costs incurred during planning and evaluation are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the application development stage
are capitalized and included in property and equipment. Capitalized software also includes the fair value of acquired internally-developed technology.

We compute depreciation expense on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
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Classification Estimated Useful Life

Buildings and leasehold improvements Term of lease to 39 years

Vehicles, tractors and trailers 3 to 14 years

Machinery and equipment 3 to 10 years

Computer software and equipment 3 to 7 years

Leases

We have operating leases primarily for real estate, tractors and trailers and finance leases for equipment. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. We recognize
operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of the lease payments over the lease term. As most of our
leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use the incremental borrowing rates of RXO based on the information available at commencement date to determine the present value of
future lease payments. This rate is determined from a hypothetical yield curve available at the lease commencement date that takes into consideration market yield levels of RXO’s
relevant debt outstanding as well as the index that matches RXO’s credit rating, and then adjusts as if the borrowings were collateralized.

We include options to extend or terminate a lease in the lease term when we are reasonably certain to exercise such options. We exclude variable lease payments (such as
payments based on an index or reimbursements of lessor costs) from our initial measurement of the lease liability. We recognize leases with an initial term of 12 months or less as
lease expense over the lease term, and those leases are not recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We account for lease and non-lease components within a contract as a
single lease component for our real estate leases. Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, while variable lease payments are
expensed as incurred.

Segment Reporting

We conduct our business and track our results as one reportable segment based upon the aggregation of our operating segments. Our chief operating decision maker regularly
reviews financial information at the operating segment level to allocate resources and assess performance. We have determined that all our operating segments share the following
similar economic and qualitative characteristics and therefore meet the criteria established in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 280–Segment Reporting for operating
segments to be aggregated into one reportable segment:

• The operating segments have similar economic characteristics (e.g., comparable adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization margins, our
measure of segment profitability), and similar long-term financial models;

• The nature of the services offered by each operating segment is similar: all the services leverage technology and an asset-light infrastructure to arrange for the
transportation of customer goods by qualified independent carriers;

• The operating segments all operate within the transportation industry and in primarily the same geography (North America);

• All operating segments provide business-to-business services, with no segment transacting directly with the end-user customer;

• Each operating segment’s customer base spans diversified industry verticals that overlap with other operating segments and have a common salesforce engaged in
significant cross-selling activities; and
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• All operating segments conduct business in a similar regulatory environment applicable to the transportation industry, including regulation and licensing by various
governmental agencies; most notably, the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration of the U.S. Department of Transportation.
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All of our operating segments can be expected to have similar future prospects as they have similar economic attributes. The causes for fluctuations in operating and financial
performance are generally the same among the operating segments and include such factors as: (i) changes in overall demand for outsourced freight transportation services, (ii)
changes in prices charged by third-party carriers, (iii) decisions by customers to develop or expand internal transportation capabilities, and (iv) macroeconomic impacts on supply
chains for materials, parts and finished goods.

Goodwill

We measure goodwill as the excess of consideration transferred over the fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations. We allocate goodwill to our reporting units for
the purpose of impairment testing. We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates an impairment loss may have been
incurred. We measure goodwill impairment, if any, at the amount a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. Our
reporting units are our operating segments or one level below our operating segments for which discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by segment
management. We have six reporting units.

The review of goodwill impairment consists of either using a qualitative approach to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the assets is less than their
respective carrying values or a one-step quantitative impairment test. In performing the qualitative assessment, the Company entity considers many factors in evaluating whether the
carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable, including declines in the Company’s entity's stock price and market capitalization of the Company entity and macroeconomic
conditions. If, based on the results of the qualitative assessment, it is concluded that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value,
additional quantitative impairment testing is performed. The quantitative test requires that the carrying value of each reporting unit be compared with its estimated fair value. If the
carrying value of a reporting unit is greater than its fair value, a goodwill impairment charge will be recorded for the difference (up to the carrying value of goodwill). The Company
uses a combination of the income approach and/or and a market-based approach to determine the reporting units’ fair values. Under the income approach, the determination of
discounted cash flows of the reporting units and assets and liabilities within the reporting units requires significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions
primarily include, but are not limited to, the discount rate, terminal growth rates, earnings before depreciation and amortization, and capital expenditures forecasts. Due to the
inherent uncertainty involved in making these estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates. The Company evaluates the merits of each significant assumption, both
individually and in the aggregate, used to determine the fair value of the reporting units, as well as the fair values of the corresponding assets and liabilities within the reporting units.
The market approach of determining fair value is based on comparable market multiples for companies engaged in similar businesses, as well as recent transactions within our
industry.

For our 2022 2023 goodwill assessment, we performed a quantitative analysis for our reporting units using a combination of the income and market approaches. As of November 30,
2022 November 30, 2023 we completed our annual impairment tests for goodwill with all of our reporting units having fair values in excess of their carrying values, resulting in no
impairment of goodwill.
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Intangible Assets and Long-lived Assets
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We review intangible assets and long-lived assets to be held-and-used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may not be recoverable. An asset is considered to be impaired if the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows over the remaining useful life of a long-lived asset group is
less than its carrying amount. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds the fair value of the asset. We estimate fair
value using the expected future cash flows discounted at a rate comparable with the risks associated with the recovery of the asset. Our intangible assets subject to amortization
consist of customer relationships. We amortize intangible assets on a straight-line basis or on a basis consistent with the pattern in which the economic benefits are realized. The
estimated useful life for customer relationships is 10 4 to 16 years.
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Accrued Expenses

The components of accrued expenses are as follows:
As of

December 31,

December
31, December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 (In millions) 2023 2022

Accrued
transportation
and facility
charges

Accrued
transportation
and facility
charges $ 120  $ 118 

Accrued
salaries and
wages

Accrued
salaries and
wages 60  49 

Accrued
insurance

Accrued
insurance 23  23 

Other
accrued
expenses

Other
accrued
expenses 53  58 

Total accrued
expenses

Total accrued
expenses $ 256  $ 248 

Insurance

We participate in a combination of self-insurance programs and purchased insurance that are managed to provide for the costs of medical, casualty, liability, vehicular, cargo,
workers’ compensation, cyber risk and property claims. Insurance coverage levels are adjusted annually based on risk tolerance and premium expense.

Liabilities for the risks we retain, including estimates of claims incurred but not reported, are not discounted and are estimated, in part, by considering retention levels, historical cost
experience, demographic and severity factors, and judgments about current and expected levels of cost per claim. Changes in these assumptions can impact actual costs paid to
settle the claims and those amounts may be different than estimates. Additionally, claims may emerge in future years for events that occurred in a prior year at a rate that differs
from previous actuarial projections. At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, our insurance liabilities amounted to $58 million $62 million and $55 million $60
million, respectively, and were included in accrued Accrued expenses and other Other long-term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Income Taxes

Up until the date of the Separation, the operations of the Company were included in the consolidated U.S. federal and certain state and local and foreign income tax returns filed by
XPO, where applicable. Income tax expense and other income tax related information contained in the consolidated financial statements up until the date of the Separation were
presented on a separate return basis as if the Company had filed its own tax returns. As a result, actual tax transactions included in the consolidated financial statements of XPO
may not be included in the consolidated financial statements. Similarly, the tax treatment of certain items reflected in the consolidated financial statements may not be reflected in
the consolidated financial statements and tax returns of XPO. Therefore, portions of items such as net operating losses (“NOLs”), credit carryforwards, other deferred taxes, and
valuation allowances may exist in the consolidated financial statements that may or may not exist in XPO’s consolidated financial statements and vice versa. In addition, although
deferred tax assets up until the date of the Separation were recognized for NOLs and tax credits in accordance with the separate return method, certain NOLs and credits did not
carry over with the Company in connection with the Separation. The income taxes of the Company as presented in the consolidated financial statements may not be indicative of the
income taxes that the Company will incur in the future. In jurisdictions where the Company has been included in tax returns filed by XPO, any income tax receivables or payables
resulting from the related income tax provisions have been reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets within XPO investment. For the periods ended after the Separation, the
Company will file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return as well as state and local income tax returns. The Company’s foreign income tax returns are filed on a full-year
basis.
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We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method on a legal entity and jurisdictional basis, under which we recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for
the current year and deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. Our calculation
relies on several factors, including pre-tax earnings, differences between tax laws and accounting rules, statutory tax rates, tax credits, uncertain tax positions, and valuation
allowances. We use judgment and estimates in evaluating our tax positions. Valuation allowances are established when, in our judgment, it is more likely than not that our deferred
tax assets will not be realized based on all available evidence. We record global intangible low-taxed income tax as a period cost. We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax
positions only if (based on the technical merits of the position) it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on examination by the tax authority. We adjust these
tax liabilities, including related interest and penalties, based on the current facts and circumstances. We report tax-related interest and penalties as a component of income tax
expense.
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Up until the date of the Separation, the operations of the Company were included in the consolidated U.S. federal, certain state, local and foreign income tax returns filed by XPO,
where applicable. Income tax expense and other income tax related information contained in the consolidated financial statements up until the date of the Separation were
presented on a separate return basis as if the Company had filed its own tax returns. As a result, actual tax transactions included in the consolidated financial statements of XPO
may not be included in our consolidated financial statements. Similarly, the tax treatment of certain items reflected in our consolidated financial statements may not be reflected in
the consolidated financial statements and tax returns of XPO. Up until the date of the Separation, the income taxes of the Company as presented in the consolidated financial
statements may not have been indicative of the income taxes that the Company will incur post-Separation.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

The assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries that use their local currency as their functional currency are translated to U.S. dollars (“USD”) using the exchange rate prevailing
at each balance sheet date, with balance sheet currency translation adjustments recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries whose local currency is not their functional currency are remeasured from their local currency to their functional currency
and then translated to USD. The results of operations of our foreign subsidiaries are translated to USD using average exchange rates prevailing for each period presented.

We convert foreign currency transactions recognized on our Consolidated Statements of Operations to USD by applying the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction.
Gains and losses arising from foreign currency transactions and the effects of remeasuring monetary assets and liabilities are recorded in Other expense in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations and were not material for any of the periods presented.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The levels of inputs used to measure fair value are:

• Level 1—Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets;

• Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived
valuations in which all significant inputs are observable in active markets; and

• Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable, generally utilizing pricing models or other valuation techniques that reflect management’s judgment and
estimates.

We base our fair value estimates on market assumptions and available information. The carrying values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximated their fair values as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 due to their short-term nature and/or being receivable or payable on demand.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation based on the equity instrument’s grant date fair value. For grants of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) subject to service-based or
performance-based vesting conditions only, the Company establishes the fair value based on the market price on the date of the grant. For stock options, the Company determines
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the fair value based on its stock price and a number of assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends. The Company
recognizes the grant date fair value of equity awards as compensation cost over the requisite service period. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.
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Related-Party Transactions

Transactions between the Company and XPO, and other non-RXO subsidiaries of XPO, are deemed related-party transactions through the November 1, 2022 Separation date.
Related-party transactions are comprised of the following: (i) those that have been effectively settled for cash, and (ii) those which have historically not been settled and have been
forgiven by either party. For those that have been cash settled, we have recorded related-party receivables (assets) or payables (liabilities) in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2021. For those that have been forgiven as of the date of the Separation, the amounts have been recorded as an adjustment of XPO Investment in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts reported for prior years have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Adoption of New Accounting Standard

In November 2021, September 2022, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2021-10, “Government Assistance (Topic
832): Disclosures by Business Entities about Government Assistance.” The ASU increases the transparency surrounding government assistance by requiring annual disclosure of (i)
the types of assistance received, (ii) an entity’s accounting for the assistance and (iii) the effect of the assistance on the entity’s financial statements. We adopted this standard on
January 1, 2022, on a prospective basis. The adoption did not have a material impact on our financial statement disclosures.

Accounting Pronouncements Issued but Not Yet Effective

In September 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-04, “Liabilities - Supplier Finance Programs (Subtopic 405-50): Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program Obligations.” The ASU
increases the transparency surrounding supplier finance programs by requiring the buyer to disclose information on an annual basis about the key terms of the program, the
outstanding obligation amounts as of the end of the period, a rollforward roll-forward of such amounts, and the balance sheet presentation of the related amounts. Additionally, the
obligation amount outstanding at the end of the period must be disclosed in interim periods. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022
except for the requirement to disclose the rollforward roll-forward information, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. We adopted this standard on
January 1, 2023, on a prospective basis. The adoption did not have an impact on our financial statement disclosures.
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Accounting Pronouncements Issued but Not Yet Effective

In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-01, “Leases (Topic 842) - Common Control Arrangements.” The amendments in this update improve current GAAP by clarifying the
accounting treatment for leasehold improvements associated with common control leases in order to create uniformity in practice. The ASU seeks to provide guidance to more
accurately match the amortization expense of leasehold improvements under common control arrangements with the useful life of the improvements to the consolidated entity as a
whole. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance,
which guidance.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280) - Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures.” The amendments in this update improve
reportable segment disclosure requirements through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The ASU expands public entities’ segment disclosures by requiring
disclosure of significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss, an
amount and description of its composition for other segment items and interim disclosures of a reportable segment’s profit or loss and assets. All disclosure requirements of the ASU
are required for entities with a single reportable segment. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods for our fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024, and should be applied on a retrospective basis to all periods presented. Early adoption is limited permitted. We are currently evaluating the
impact of the new guidance.

In December 2023, the FASB issued 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Improvements to financial statement disclosures. Income Tax Disclosure.” The ASU seeks to enhance
income tax information primarily through changes in the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2024 on a prospective basis. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance.
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3. The Separation

The Separation was completed under a Separation and Distribution Agreement and various other agreements that govern aspects of the Company’s relationship with XPO,
including, but not limited to, a Transition Services Agreement (“TSA”), a Tax Matters Agreement (“TMA”), an Employee Matters Agreement (“EMA”) and an Intellectual Property
License Agreement (“IPLA”).

The Separation and Distribution Agreement contains provisions that, among other things, relate to (i) assets, liabilities and contracts transferred, assumed and assigned to each of
RXO and XPO as part of the Separation, (ii) cross-indemnities principally designed to place financial responsibility for the obligations and liabilities of RXO’s business with RXO and
financial responsibility for the obligations and liabilities of XPO’s remaining business with XPO, (iii) the allocation among RXO and XPO of rights and obligations under existing
insurance policies for occurrences before completion of the Separation, and (iv) procedures governing the resolution of disputes, controversies or claims that may arise between
RXO and XPO related to the Separation.

Under the TSA, (i) XPO provides RXO and certain of its affiliates, on an interim, transitional basis, various services, and (ii) RXO provides XPO and certain of its affiliates, on an
interim, transitional basis, various services. The services provided include, among others, employee benefits administration, information technology services, regulatory services,
accounting support, general administrative services and other support services. The services generally commenced on the date of the Separation and will terminate no later than
eight months following the Separation.
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XPO and RXO also entered into a TMA that governs the parties’ respective rights, responsibilities and obligations for tax matters; including responsibility for taxes, entitlement to
refunds, allocation of tax attributes, preparation of tax returns, control of tax contests and other tax matters. RXO is generally responsible for federal, state and foreign (i) income
taxes imposed on a separate return basis on RXO or any of its subsidiaries and (ii) non-income taxes imposed on a separate return basis on RXO or any of its subsidiaries, or with
respect to which RXO or any of its subsidiaries is obligated to file the applicable return, in all cases, for taxable periods, or portions thereof, that ended on or prior to the Separation.
The TMA provides special rules that allocate responsibility for tax liabilities arising from a failure of the Separation transactions to qualify for tax-free treatment based on the reasons
for such failure. The TMA also imposes restrictions on RXO during the two years following the Separation that are intended to prevent the Separation and certain related
transactions from failing to qualify as transactions that are generally tax-free.

The EMA allocated assets, liabilities, and responsibilities relating to employee compensation and benefit plans and programs and other employee-related matters in connection with
the Separation.

The IPLA between an RXO subsidiary and XPO provides such RXO subsidiary licenses to certain XPO software and other intellectual property rights retained by XPO, and provides
XPO licenses to certain software, patents and other intellectual property owned by RXO subsidiaries.

In October 2022, the Company completed an offering of $355 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured notes (the “Notes”) and entered into a five-year unsecured term loan
facility of $100 million (the “Term Loan”). Net proceeds from the issuance of the Notes and the incurrence of the Term Loan, together with cash on RXO's balance sheet, were used
to fund a net cash distribution of $604 million from RXO to XPO, in the fourth quarter of 2022. See Note 9—Debt for additional information.

4. Revenue Recognition

Disaggregation of Revenues

We disaggregate our revenue by geographic area, service offering and industry sector. The majority of our revenue, based on sales office location, is generated in the U.S.
Approximately 9% 7%, 9% and 8% 9% of our revenues were generated outside the U.S. (primarily in North America, excluding the U.S., Canada, Mexico and Asia) for the years
ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, and 2020, respectively.

Our revenue disaggregated by service offering is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

Years Ended

December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Truck
brokerage

Truck
brokerage $2,929  $2,749  $1,684 

Last mile Last mile 1,061  1,016  908 

Managed
transportation

Managed
transportation 523  603  582 

Freight
forwarding

Freight
forwarding 422  434  225 

Eliminations Eliminations (139) (113) (42)
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Total Total $4,796  $4,689  $3,357 
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Our revenue disaggregated by industry sector is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

Years Ended

December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Retail/e-commerce
Retail/e-
commerce $1,799  $1,771  $1,262 

Industrial/manufacturing

Food and beverage
Food and
beverage 530  585  394 

Industrial/manufacturing 817  778  553 

Automotive

Logistics and
transportation

Logistics and
transportation 338  331  240 

Automotive 390  308  252 

Other Other 922  916  656 

Total Total $4,796  $4,689  $3,357 

Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations represent firm contracts for which services have not been performed and future revenue recognition is expected. As permitted in determining the
remaining performance obligation, we omit obligations that: (i) have original expected durations of one year or less or (ii) contain variable consideration. As of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, the fixed consideration component of our remaining performance obligation was approximately $158 million $71 million, and we expect approximately
94% 99% of that amount to be recognized over the next 3 years and the remainder thereafter. We estimate remaining performance obligations at a point in time and actual amounts
may differ from these estimates due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and contract revisions or terminations.

5. 4. Restructuring Charges

We engage in restructuring actions as part of our ongoing efforts to best use our resources and infrastructure. These actions generally include severance and facility-related costs,
including impairment of operating lease assets, and are intended to improve our efficiency and profitability going forward.

The following is a rollforward of the Company’s restructuring liability, which is included in Other current liabilities Accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Year Ended December 31,

2022

Year Ended December

31, 2023

(In millions)

(In millions)

(In millions) (In millions)

Reserve

Balance


as of


December

31, 2021

Charges

Incurred Payments Other

Reserve

Balance


as of


December

31, 2022

Reserve Balance


as of


December 31, 2022 Charges Incurred Payments Other

Reserve Balance


as of


December 31, 2023

Severance Severance $ —  $ 10  $ (2) $ (6) $ 2 

Facilities Facilities 2  2  (3) —  1 

Contract termination —  1  (1) —  — 
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Total Total $ 2  $ 13  $ (6) $ (6) $ 3 

Total

Total

Year Ended December 31,

2021

Year Ended December

31, 2022

(In millions)

(In millions)

(In millions) (In millions)

Reserve

Balance


as of


December

31, 2020

Charges

Incurred Payments Other

Reserve

Balance


as of


December

31, 2021

Reserve Balance


as of


December 31, 2021 Charges Incurred Payments Other

Reserve Balance


as of


December 31, 2022

Severance Severance $ —  $ 2  $ —  $ (2) $ — 

Facilities Facilities 5  —  (3) —  2 

Contract
termination

Total Total $ 5  $ 2  $ (3) $ (2) $ 2 

We expect the majority of the cash outlays related to the remaining restructuring liability at December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 to be complete within twelve months.
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6. 5. Property and Equipment

The following table summarizes our property and equipment:

December 31,

December

31, December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 (In millions) 2023 2022

Property and
equipment

Property and
equipment

Buildings and leasehold
improvements

Buildings and leasehold
improvements

Buildings and
leasehold
improvements

Buildings and
leasehold
improvements $ 23  $ 17 

Vehicles,
tractors and
trailers

Vehicles,
tractors and
trailers 23  18 

Machinery
and
equipment

Machinery
and
equipment 36  38 
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Computer
software and
equipment

Computer
software and
equipment 278  257 

Total property
and
equipment,
gross

Total property
and
equipment,
gross 360  330 

Less:
accumulated
depreciation

Less:
accumulated
depreciation (241) (219)

Total property
and
equipment,
net

Total property
and
equipment,
net $ 119  $ 111 

Net book value
of capitalized
internally-
developed
software
included in
property and
equipment, net

Net book value
of capitalized
internally-
developed
software
included in
property and
equipment, net $ 62  $ 75 

Depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of computer software was $65 million $55 million, $58 million $65 million and $51 million $58 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, our long-lived tangible assets
outside of the U.S. were not significant.

7. 6. Leases

Most of our leases are operating leases and consist of real estate leases. In addition, we lease trucks, tractors and trailers.

The following amounts are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets related to leases:

December 31,

December

31, December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 (In millions) 2023 2022

Operating
leases:

Operating
leases:

Operating
lease assets

Operating
lease assets $ 159  $ 128 

Operating lease assets

Operating lease assets

Short-term operating
lease liabilities

Short-term operating
lease liabilities

Short-term
operating
lease
liabilities

Short-term
operating
lease
liabilities $ 48  $ 42 

Long-term
operating
lease
liabilities

Long-term
operating
lease
liabilities 114  93 

Total
operating
lease
liabilities

Total
operating
lease
liabilities $ 162  $ 135 

Finance
leases:

Finance
leases:

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

59/91

Finance leases:

Finance leases:

Property and equipment,
gross

Property and equipment,
gross

Property and
equipment,
gross

Property and
equipment,
gross $ 7  $ — 

Accumulated
depreciation

Accumulated
depreciation (2) — 

Property and
equipment,
net

Property and
equipment,
net $ 5  $ — 

Current
portion of
obligations
under
finance
leases

Current
portion of
obligations
under
finance
leases $ 2  $ — 

Current portion of
obligations under finance
leases

Current portion of
obligations under finance
leases

Long-term
portion of
obligations
under
finance
leases

Long-term
portion of
obligations
under
finance
leases 4  — 

Total finance
lease
liabilities

Total finance
lease
liabilities $ 6  $ — 
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Supplemental weighted-average information for leases is as follows:

December 31,

2022 2021

December

31, December 31,

2023 2023 2022

Weighted-
average
remaining
lease
term
(years)

Weighted-
average
remaining
lease
term
(years)
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Operating leases

Operating leases

Operating
leases

Operating
leases 4.1 4.0 4.2 4.1

Finance
leases

Finance
leases 4.3 N/A Finance leases 3.2 4.3

Weighted-
average
discount
rate

Weighted-
average
discount
rate

Operating
leases

Operating
leases 4.7 % 4.6 %

Operating leases

Operating leases 5.2  % 4.7  %

Finance
leases

Finance
leases 6.1 % N/A Finance leases 5.7  % 6.1  %

The components of our lease expense are as follows:

Years Ended

December 31,

Years Ended

December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Operating
lease cost

Operating
lease cost $51  $46  $45 

Short-term
lease cost

Short-term
lease cost 10  8  9 

Variable lease
cost

Variable lease
cost 14  12  11 

Total
operating
lease cost

Total
operating
lease cost $75  $66  $65 

Finance lease
cost:

Finance lease
cost:

Amortization
of leased
assets

Amortization
of leased
assets $ 1  $ —  $ — 

Amortization of leased
assets

Amortization of leased
assets

Interest on
lease
liabilities

Total
finance
lease cost

Total
finance
lease cost $ 1  $ —  $ — 

Total lease
cost

Total lease
cost $76  $66  $65 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows:

Years Ended

December 31,

Years Ended

December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2023 2022 2021
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Cash paid for
amounts
included in
the
measurement
of lease
liabilities:

Cash paid for
amounts
included in
the
measurement
of lease
liabilities:

Operating
cash flows
for
operating
leases

Operating
cash flows
for
operating
leases $49  $41  $44 

Operating cash flows for
operating leases

Operating cash flows for
operating leases

Financing cash flows for
finance leases

Financing cash flows for
finance leases

Financing
cash flows
for finance
leases

Financing
cash flows
for finance
leases 1  —  — 

Leased
assets
obtained in
exchange for
new lease
obligations:

Leased
assets
obtained in
exchange for
new lease
obligations:

Operating
leases

Operating
leases 57  55  37 

Operating leases

Operating leases

Finance
leases

Finance
leases 7  —  — 

Future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 are as follows:

(In millions) (In millions)

Finance

Leases

Operating

Leases (In millions) Finance Leases Operating Leases

2023 $ 2  $ 54 

2024 2024 2  47 

2025 2025 1  31 

2026 2026 1  20 

2027 2027 —  11 

2028

Thereafter Thereafter —  16 

Total
lease
payments

Total
lease
payments 6  179 

Less:
interest

Less:
interest —  (17)

Present
value of
lease
liabilities

Present
value of
lease
liabilities $ 6  $ 162 
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As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had additional operating leases that have not yet commenced with future undiscounted lease payments of $8 million $12 million.
These operating leases will commence in 2023 2024, with initial lease terms of 5 ranging from 3 years to 7 years.
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8. 7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

There were no cumulative goodwill impairments as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

Our identifiable intangible assets consist entirely of customer relationships, all of which are definite-lived. We did not recognize any impairment of our identified intangible assets in
2022 2023 or 2021. 2022. During 2022 2023 we retired $1 million of fully amortized customer relationship intangible assets of $132 million, consisting of $130 million in customer
relationships and $2 million in non-compete agreements. assets.

Estimated future amortization expense for amortizable intangible assets for the next five years and thereafter is as follows:

(In millions) (In millions) 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter (In millions) 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter

Estimated
amortization
expense

Estimated
amortization
expense $13  $12  $11  $11  $11  $ 21 

Actual amounts of amortization expense may differ from estimated amounts due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, additional intangible asset acquisitions, future
impairment of intangible assets, accelerated amortization of intangible assets and other events.

Intangible asset amortization expense was $21 million $13 million, $24 million $21 million and $25 million $24 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023, 2021, 2022, and 2020, 2021, respectively.

9. 8. Debt

The following table summarizes the principal balance and carrying value of our debt:


December 31,

2022

December

31, 2023 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

(In millions) (In millions)

Principal

Balance

Carrying

Value (In millions) Principal Balance Carrying Value Principal Balance Carrying Value

Revolver

Term Loan Term Loan $ 100  $ 100 

7.50%
Notes due

2027 (1)

7.50%
Notes due

2027 (1)
355  346 

Finance
leases,
asset
financing
and other

Finance
leases,
asset
financing
and other 9  9 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

63/91

Total debt
and
obligations
under
finance
leases

Total debt
and
obligations
under
finance
leases 464  455 

Less:
Current
maturities
of long-
term debt

Less:
Current
maturities
of long-
term debt 4  4 

Total long-
term debt
and
obligations
under
finance
leases

Total long-
term debt
and
obligations
under
finance
leases $ 460  $ 451 

(1) The carrying value of the 7.50% Notes due 2027 is presented net of unamortized debt issuance cost and discount of $8 million and $9 million as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. ,

respectively.

The fair value of our debt and classification in the fair value hierarchy is as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) Level 2022 2021

Term Loan 2 $ 95  $ — 

7.50% Notes due 2027 1 358  — 

We valued Level 1 debt using quoted prices in active markets. We valued Level 2 debt using bid evaluation pricing models or quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics.

Our principal payment obligations on debt (excluding finance leases) for the next five years and thereafter is as follows:

(In millions) (In millions) 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter (In millions) 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter

Principal
payments
on debt

Principal
payments
on debt $ 2  $ 1  $ 5  $ 5  $445  $ — 
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Revolving Credit Agreement

On October 18, 2022, we entered into a five-year, unsecured multi-currency revolving credit facility (the “Revolver”). The Revolver borrowing capacity is up to $500 million, of which
$50 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit. Loans under the Revolver bear interest at a fluctuating rate plus an applicable margin based on the Company’s credit
ratings. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee on any unused commitment, based on pricing levels set forth in the agreement. The covenants in the Revolver are
customary for financings of this type. The Revolver requires the Company to maintain a maximum consolidated leverage ratio and minimum interest coverage ratio. At December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company is was in compliance with the covenants of the Revolver. There were no amounts As of December 31, 2023, we had $5 million
outstanding under the Revolver, with interest payable quarterly. Borrowings under the Revolver are payable, at our option, at any time prior to or at maturity on October 18, 2027.
The effective interest rate on the Revolver was 6.82% as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

On November 2, 2023, the Company exercised a feature to increase the total commitments under its Revolver from $500 million to $600 million.

Term Loan Credit Agreement

On October 18, 2022, we entered into the a five-year $100 million Term Loan. The Term Loan bears interest at a fluctuating rate per annum plus an applicable margin calculated
based on RXO’s credit ratings, payable quarterly. Beginning with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2025, the Term Loan will amortize on a quarterly basis in an amount equal to (i)
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5% per annum for the first eight fiscal quarters ending on or after such date and (ii) 10% per annum for each fiscal quarter ending thereafter. The Term Loan matures on November
1, 2027 unsecured term loan facility (the “Term Loan”). The effective interest rate on original maturity date of the Term Loan was 5.93% as November 1, 2027.

In connection with the Revolver commitment increase, on November 2, 2023, the Company repaid all of December 31, 2022.

The covenants the outstanding obligations in respect of the $100 million principal amount, interest and fees under the Term Loan are customary for financings of this type. In
addition, the Term Loan requires the Company to maintain a maximum consolidated leverage ratio and minimum interest coverage ratio. At December 31, 2022, the Company was
in compliance with the covenants of the credit agreement governing terminated the Term Loan.

Notes

On October 25, 2022, we completed the private placement an offering of $355 million in aggregate principal amount of unsecured notes (the “Notes” or the Notes. “7.50% Notes due
2027”). The Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.50% per annum payable semiannually in cash in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, beginning May 15, 2023, and
mature on November 15, 2027, unless earlier repurchased or redeemed, if applicable. The Notes were issued at an issue price of 98.962% of par. The effective interest rate on the
Notes was 8.14% 8.13% as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

We may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at any time on or after November 15, 2024 at a redemption price equal to (i) 103.750% of the principal amount to be redeemed if the
redemption occurs during the 12-month period beginning on November 15, 2024, (ii) 101.875% of the principal amount to be redeemed if the redemption occurs during the 12-
month period beginning on November 15, 2025 and (iii) 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed if the redemption occurs on or after November 15, 2026, in each case plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. At any time prior to November 15, 2024, we may also redeem up to 40% of the Notes with the net cash
proceeds of certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 107.500% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but
excluding, the redemption date. In addition, at any time prior to November 15, 2024, we may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date plus an applicable “make-whole” premium.

The Notes are guaranteed by each of our direct and indirect wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries (other than certain excluded subsidiaries). The Notes and its guarantees are
unsecured, senior indebtedness for us and our guarantors. The Notes contain covenants customary for debt securities of this nature. At December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the
Company was in compliance with the covenants of the Notes.
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9. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The levels of inputs used to measure fair value are:

• Level 1—Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets;

• Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived
valuations in which all significant inputs are observable in active markets; and

• Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable, generally utilizing pricing models or other valuation techniques that reflect management’s judgment and
estimates.

Assets and Liabilities

The Company bases its fair value estimates on market assumptions and available information. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued expenses and current maturities of long-term debt approximated their fair values as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, due to their short-term nature
and/or being receivable or payable on demand.

Debt

The fair value of our debt and classification in the fair value hierarchy is as follows:

(In millions) Level December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Revolver 3 $ 5  $ — 

Term Loan 2 —  95 

7.50% Notes due 2027 1 366  358 

We valued Level 1 debt using quoted prices in active markets. We valued Level 2 debt using bid evaluation pricing models or quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics.
We valued Level 3 debt using unobservable inputs which reflect the Company’s best estimate of what hypothetical market participants would use to determine a transaction price for
the asset or liability at the reporting date.

10. Employee Benefit Plan
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The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan that is available to employees whose primary place of employment is the U.S. The Company matches up to 4% of employees’
pre-tax contributions, after completing one year of service. The Company’s costs for the defined contribution plan were $8 million $9 million, $7 million $8 million and $6 million $7
million for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 2021 2022 and 2020, 2021, respectively, and were primarily included in Sales, general and administrative
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

11. Stockholders’ Equity

On May 2, 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $125 million of the Company’s common stock (the “2023 Share Repurchase Program”).
During the twelve months ended 2023, the Company repurchased 100,000 shares of its common stock for $2 million at an average price of $20.53 per share, funded by available
cash. There were no share repurchases in the fourth quarter of 2023. As of December 31, 2023, $123 million remained approved to be used for share repurchases under the 2023
Share Repurchase Program. The 2023 Share Repurchase Program does not have an expiration date and may be suspended or discontinued at any time at the discretion of the
Company’s Board of Directors. We are not obligated to repurchase any specific number of shares.
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11. 12. Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to the Separation, RXO employees participated in XPO’s equity incentive plan, pursuant to which they were granted restricted stock units ("RSUs" (“RSUs”), performance-
based restricted stock units ("PRSUs" (“PRSUs”) and non-qualified or incentive stock options. All awards granted under these plans were related to XPO common shares. In
connection with the Separation, and in accordance with the EMA Employee Matters Agreement (“EMA”) and the RXO, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2022 “2022 Incentive
Plan" Plan” or the "Plan" “Plan”) adopted in 2022, the Company’s employees with outstanding former XPO stock-based awards received replacement stock-based awards under the
Plan at Separation. The value of the replaced stock-based awards was designed to preserve the aggregate intrinsic value of the award immediately after the Separation when
compared to the aggregate intrinsic value of the award immediately prior to the Separation.

In connection with the Separation, certain holders of outstanding XPO share-based compensation awards received an adjusted award consisting of both shares of XPO common
stock and shares of RXO common stock. Non-vested shares outstanding, at December 31, 2022, as shown in the table below, exclude 1.7 million and 2.8 million shares held by
non-RXO employees at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, consisting of certain XPO employees, former employees of XPO as of the distribution date, and
XPO non-employee directors who remained on the XPO Board of Directors on the distribution date, that will be settled in RXO common stock once vested under the EMA.
Additionally, one employee of RXO was granted RSUs and PRSUs in XPO stock in connection with the Separation. Non-vested shares outstanding, at December 31, 2022, as
shown in the table below, exclude these 12 thousand and 43 thousand shares at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, as they will be settled in XPO common
stock in accordance with the EMA. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense related only to those awards held by RXO employees.

In October 2022, the Company established the 2022 Incentive Plan, which authorizes the issuance of up to 13.9 million shares of common stock as awards. Under the 2022
Incentive Plan, directors, officers and employees may be granted various types of stock-based compensation awards, including stock options, restricted stock, RSUs, PRSUs, stock
appreciation rights and cash incentive awards (collectively, “Awards”). As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 7.6 million 6.9 million shares of common stock were available
for the grant of Awards under the 2022 Incentive Plan.

Prior to the Separation, the stock-based compensation expense recorded by the Company includes the expense associated with the employees historically attributable to the
Company’s operations, as well as the expense associated with the allocation of equity-based compensation expense for XPO corporate employees. The amounts presented are not
necessarily indicative of future awards and do not necessarily reflect the costs that the Company would have incurred as an independent company for the periods presented.

Our stock-based compensation expense is recorded in Sales, general and administrative expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Years ended

December 31,

Years Ended
December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Restricted
stock and
restricted
stock units

Restricted
stock and
restricted
stock units $ 9  $ 6  $ 7 

Performance-
based
restricted
stock units

Performance-
based
restricted
stock units 23  2  1 

Total stock-
based
compensation
expense

Total stock-
based
compensation
expense $32  $ 8  $ 8 
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Total stock-based
compensation expense

Total stock-based
compensation expense

Tax benefit on
stock-based
compensation

Tax benefit on
stock-based
compensation $ 8  $ 1  $ 2 

Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units and Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

We grant RSUs and PRSUs to our key employees, officers and directors with various vesting requirements. RSUs generally vest based on the passage of time (service conditions)
and PRSUs generally vest based on the achievement of our financial targets (performance conditions). PRSUs may also be subject to stock price (market conditions), employment
conditions and other non-financial conditions. The holders of the RSUs and PRSUs do not have the rights of a stockholder and do not have voting rights until the shares are issued
and delivered in settlement of the awards.
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The number of RSUs and PRSUs vested includes shares of our common stock that we withheld on behalf of our employees to satisfy the minimum tax withholdings. We estimate
the fair value of PRSUs subject to market-based vesting conditions using a Monte Carlo simulation lattice model.
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A summary of RSU and PRSU award activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 is presented below:

RSUs RSUs PRSUs

Number

of


RSUs

Number of


RSUs Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair Value Number of PRSUs Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair Value

Outstanding
as of
December
31, 2022

RSUs PRSUs

Number of


RSUs

Weighted-

Average

Grant

Date Fair

Value

Number of

PRSUs

Weighted-

Average

Grant

Date Fair

Value

Outstanding as of
December 31, 2021 — $ —  — $ — 

Converted from XPO 1,035,371 21.80  1,888,987 20.57 

Granted

Granted

Granted Granted 9,240 17.19  — — 

Vested Vested (24,742) 25.85  (992,356) 21.39 
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Forfeited
and
canceled

Forfeited
and
canceled (14,698) 20.43  — — 

Outstanding as of
December 31, 2022 1,005,171 $ 21.68  896,631 $ 19.68 

Outstanding as of
December 31, 2023

Outstanding as of
December 31, 2023

Outstanding as of
December 31, 2023

The total aggregate fair value of RSUs and PRSUs that vested during 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $13 million, $18 million and 2020 was $18 million, $5 million and $4 million,
respectively. Total aggregate fair value of awards vested prior to the Separation was derived from XPO's stock price at grant. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, all
outstanding RSUs vest subject to service conditions and all outstanding PRSUs vest subject to service and performance conditions.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSUs and PRSUs of $31 million $32 million is anticipated to be recognized over

a weighted-average period of approximately 2.23 1.71 years.

12.
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13. Income Taxes

For the periods ended before the Separation, the Company was a member of the XPO consolidated group, and its U.S. taxable income was included in XPO’s consolidated U.S.
federal income tax return as well as in the tax returns filed by XPO with certain state and local taxing jurisdictions. For the periods ended after the Separation, the Company will file a
consolidated U.S. federal income tax return as well as certain state and local income tax returns. The Company’s foreign income tax returns are filed on a full-year basis.

Income before taxes related to our U.S. and foreign operations is as follows:
Years Ended
December 31,

Years Ended
December 31, Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2023 2022 2021

U.S. U.S. $ 88  $169  $45 

Foreign Foreign 31  22  12 

Income
before
income
taxes

Income
before
income
taxes $119  $191  $57 

The components of the income tax provision (benefit) consist of the following:
Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020

Current:

U.S. Federal $ 33  $ 30  $ 15 

State 5  6  3 

Foreign 9  2  5 

Total current income tax provision 47  38  23 

Deferred:

U.S. Federal (17) 4  (6)

State (3) (1) (2)

Foreign —  —  (1)

Total deferred income tax provision (benefit) (20) 3  (9)
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Total income tax provision $ 27  $ 41  $ 14 
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Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Current:

U.S. Federal $ 4  $ 33  $ 30 

State 3  5  6 

Foreign 1  9  2 

Total current income tax provision 8  47  38 

Deferred:

U.S. Federal (8) (17) 4 

State (1) (3) (1)

Foreign 1  —  — 

Total deferred income tax provision (benefit) (8) (20) 3 

Total income tax provision $ —  $ 27  $ 41 

The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Years Ended December
31, Years Ended December 31,

2023 2023 2022 2021

U.S. federal
statutory tax
rate

U.S. federal
statutory tax
rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %

U.S. federal statutory tax rate

21.0  % 21.0  % 21.0  %

State taxes,
net of U.S.
federal
benefit

State taxes,
net of U.S.
federal
benefit 3.0  2.6  2.7 

Non-
deductible
expenses

Foreign rate
differential

Foreign rate
differential 1.5  0.6  1.3 

Foreign
operations
(1)

Foreign
operations
(1) (0.8) 0.4  — 

Provision to
return and
deferred tax
adjustments

Provision to
return and
deferred tax
adjustments (2.4) (0.1) (0.3)

Changes in
uncertain
tax
positions

Changes in
uncertain
tax
positions (0.4) (2.4) 0.3 

Other Other 0.7  (0.7) (0.3)

Effective tax
rate

Effective tax
rate 22.6 % 21.4 % 24.7 %

Effective tax rate
(13.0) % 22.6  % 21.4  %

(1)    Foreign operations include the net impact of changes to valuation allowances, the cost of inclusion of foreign income in the U.S. net of foreign taxes, and permanent items related to foreign operations.
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Components of the Net Deferred Tax Asset or Liability

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability are as follows:

Years Ended
December 31,

December

31, December 31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 (In millions) 2023 2022

Deferred tax
asset

Deferred tax
asset

Net operating
loss and
other tax
attribute
carryforwards

Net operating
loss and
other tax
attribute
carryforwards $ 3  $ 3 

Net operating loss and other
tax attribute carryforwards

Net operating loss and other
tax attribute carryforwards

Accrued
expenses

Accrued
expenses 16  10 

Other

Other

Other Other 12  5 

Total
deferred tax
asset

Total
deferred tax
asset 31  18 

Valuation
allowance

Valuation
allowance (1) (1)

Total
deferred tax
asset, net

Total
deferred tax
asset, net 30  17 

Deferred tax
liability

Deferred tax
liability

Intangible
assets

Intangible
assets (26) (39)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets

Property and
equipment

Property and
equipment (16) (27)

Other Other (1) (1)

Other

Other

Total
deferred tax
liability

Total
deferred tax
liability (43) (67)
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Net deferred tax
liability

Net deferred tax
liability $ (13) $ (50)

The deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability above are reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021

Other long-term assets $ 3  $ 2 

Deferred tax liability (16) (52)

Net deferred tax liability $ (13) $ (50)
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December 31,

(In millions) 2023 2022

Other long-term assets $ 2  $ 3 

Deferred tax liability (7) (16)

Net deferred tax liability $ (5) $ (13)

Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwards

Our operating loss and tax credit carryforwards are as follows:


December 31,

December

31, December 31,

(In millions) (In millions)

Expiration

Date 2022 2021 (In millions) Expiration Date 2023 2022

Federal net
operating
losses for
all U.S.
operations

Federal net
operating
losses for
all U.S.
operations

2034 -
2037 $ 4  $ — 

Tax effect
(before
federal
benefit) of
state net
operating
losses

Tax effect
(before
federal
benefit) of
state net
operating
losses

Various
times

starting
in 2023

(1) 1  1 

Foreign net
operating
losses
available to
offset future
taxable
income

Foreign net
operating
losses
available
to offset
future
taxable
income

Various
times

starting
in 2023

(1) 5  5 

State tax credit

carryforwards

(1)    Some losses have unlimited carryforward periods.

Valuation Allowance

We established a valuation allowance for some of our deferred tax assets, as it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized in the foreseeable future. We concluded
that the remaining deferred tax assets will more likely than not be realized, though this is not assured, and as such no valuation allowance has been provided on these assets.
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The balances and activity related to our valuation allowance are as follows:

(In millions) (In millions)

Beginning

Balance Additions Reductions

Ending

Balance (In millions) Beginning Balance Additions Reductions Ending Balance

Year
Ended
December
31, 2023

Year
Ended
December
31, 2022

Year
Ended
December
31, 2022 $ 1  $ —  $ —  $ 1 

Year
Ended
December
31, 2021

Year
Ended
December
31, 2021 2  —  (1) 1 

Year Ended
December 31, 2020 2  —  —  2 

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020

Beginning balance $ 1  $ 4  $ 4 

Reductions due to the statute of limitations (1) (3) — 

Ending balance $ —  $ 1  $ 4 

Interest and penalties 2  2  3 

Gross unrecognized tax benefits $ 2  $ 3  $ 7 

Total unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the effective income tax rate as of
the end of the year $ —  $ 1  $ 4 

We do not expect a reduction to unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12 months due to the statute of limitations lapsing on positions or because tax positions are sustained on
audit.

Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2023 2022 2021

Beginning balance $ —  $ 1  $ 4 

Reductions due to the statute of limitations —  (1) (3)

Ending balance $ —  $ —  $ 1 

Interest and penalties —  2  2 

Gross unrecognized tax benefits $ —  $ 2  $ 3 

Total unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the effective income tax rate as of the end
of the year $ —  $ —  $ 1 

We are subject to taxation in the United States and various states and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we have no tax years under examination
by the IRS or in any foreign state or local jurisdictions. State We are under examination in various states. The U.S. federal tax return after the separation date of November 1, 2022,
certain state and local returns after 2015 2016 and non-U.S. returns after 2009 2010 are open under relevant statutes of limitations and are subject to audit.
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13. 14. Earnings Per Share

Prior to the Separation, RXO employees participated in XPO’s equity incentive plan, pursuant to which they were granted RSUs, PRSUs and non-qualified or incentive stock
options. All awards granted under these plans were related to XPO common shares. In connection with the Separation, outstanding awards held by RXO employees were converted
in accordance with the EMA, with RXO employees either receiving converted awards solely in RXO based shares or a combination of RXO and XPO shares. The conversion
methodology used was calculated in accordance with the EMA and with the purpose of maintaining the aggregate intrinsic value of the award immediately after the Separation when
compared to the aggregate intrinsic value immediately prior to the Separation.

In connection with the Separation, outstanding XPO share-based compensation awards held by non-RXO employees, consisting of certain XPO employees, former employees of
XPO as of the distribution date, and XPO non-employee directors who remained on the XPO Board of Directors on the distribution date, received an adjusted award consisting of
both shares of XPO common stock and shares of RXO common stock. As of the Separation date, 3.3 million total shares, including 2.4 million RSUs and 0.9 million PRSUs, were
converted in this manner. Approximately 1.1 million and 0.5 million of these awards vested or were forfeited in 2023 and 2022, respectively, resulting in 1.7 million and 2.8 million
shares remaining outstanding at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. , respectively. The adjusted RSU awards are subject to the same terms and vesting conditions that
applied to the original XPO award immediately before the distribution. The adjusted PRSU awards are subject to the same terms and vesting conditions that applied to the original
XPO award immediately before the distribution, provided that the XPO Compensation Committee may modify the applicable performance-based vesting conditions prior to the
effective time (including by deeming the applicable performance-based vesting conditions to be achieved at a designated performance level). As these awards will ultimately be
settled in RXO shares upon vesting, they have been included in our calculation of diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December
31, 2022.
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On November 1, 2022, the date of the Separation, 115,162,555 shares of common stock of RXO were distributed to XPO stockholders of record as of the record date. This share
amount is utilized for the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for all years presented prior to the Separation. For all periods prior to the Separation, it is assumed that
there are no dilutive equity instruments as there were no equity awards of RXO outstanding prior to the Separation.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, diluted Diluted earnings per share is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive stock awards that are outstanding. The computation
of diluted earnings per share excludes the effect of the potential exercise of stock-based awards when the effect of the potential exercise would be anti-dilutive.

Approximately 1.1 million shares are excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2022, because their inclusion
would have been anti-dilutive.

The computations of basic and diluted earnings per share is are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in millions, shares in thousands, except per share amounts) 2022 2021 2020

Net income $ 92  $ 150  $ 43 

Basic weighted-average common shares 115,335  115,163  115,163 

Dilutive effect of stock-based awards 456  —  — 

Diluted weighted-average common shares 115,791  115,163  115,163 

Basic earnings per share $ 0.80  $ 1.30  $ 0.37 

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.79  $ 1.30  $ 0.37 
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Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in millions, shares in thousands, except per share amounts) 2023 2022 2021

Net income $ 4  $ 92  $ 150 

Basic weighted-average common shares 116,871  115,335  115,163 

Dilutive effect of stock-based awards 2,585  456  — 

14. 15. Commitments and Contingencies

We are involved, and will continue to be involved, in numerous proceedings arising out of the conduct of our business. These proceedings may include claims for property damage
or personal injury incurred in connection with the transportation of freight, environmental liability, commercial disputes, and employment-related claims, including claims involving
asserted breaches of employee restrictive covenants. These matters also include several class action and collective action cases involving claims that the contract carriers with
which we contract for performance of delivery services, or their delivery workers, should be treated as employees, rather than independent contractors (“misclassification claims”)
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Diluted weighted-average common shares 119,456  115,791  115,163 

Basic earnings per share $ 0.03  $ 0.80  $ 1.30 

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.03  $ 0.79  $ 1.30 

Antidilutive shares excluded from diluted weighted-average common shares 396  1,095  — 

and may seek substantial monetary damages (including claims for unpaid wages, overtime, unreimbursed business expenses, deductions from wages, penalties and other items),
injunctive relief, or both.

We establish accruals for specific legal proceedings when it is considered probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. If a loss
is not both probable and reasonably estimable, or if an exposure to loss exists in excess of the amount accrued, we assess whether there is at least a reasonable possibility that a
loss, or additional loss, may have been incurred. If there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or additional loss, may have been incurred, we disclose the estimate of the possible
loss or range of loss if it is material and an estimate can be made, or disclose that such an estimate cannot be made. The determination as to whether a loss can reasonably be
considered to be possible or probable is based on our assessment, together with legal counsel, regarding the ultimate outcome of the matter.

We believe that we have adequately accrued for the potential impact of loss contingencies that are probable and reasonably estimable. We do not believe that the ultimate
resolution of any matters to which we are presently a party will have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition or cash flows. position.
However, the results of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. flows and financial position. Legal costs incurred related to these matters are expensed as incurred.
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We carry liability and excess umbrella insurance policies that are deemed sufficient to cover potential legal claims arising in the normal course of conducting our operations as a
transportation company. The liability and excess umbrella insurance policies generally do not cover the misclassification claims described in this note. In the event we are required
to satisfy a legal claim outside the scope of the coverage provided by insurance, our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows  or financial position could be negatively
impacted.

The Company’s Our last mile subsidiary is involved in several class action and collective action cases involving misclassification claims. The misclassification claims related solely to
the Company’s our last mile services, business, which operated as a wholly owned subsidiary of XPO until the spin-off of RXO was completed.

As of November 1, 2022, pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement between XPO and RXO, the liabilities of XPO’s last mile subsidiary, including legal liabilities, if any,
related to the misclassification claims, were spun-off as part of RXO. Pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement, RXO has agreed to indemnify XPO for certain matters
relating to RXO, including indemnifying XPO from and against any liabilities, damages, costs, or expenses incurred by XPO arising out of or resulting from the misclassification
claims.

In one of the misclassification claims, described above. Muniz v. RXO Last Mile, Inc., the court has granted plaintiffs partial summary judgment and determined our last mile
subsidiary misclassified the plaintiff owner/operators as independent contractors when they should have been deemed employees. We are vigorously defending ourselves in this
matter and believe we have a number of meritorious defenses, and there are unresolved questions of law and fact that could be important to the ultimate resolution of this matter.

We believe these suits the misclassification claims, including Muniz v. RXO Last Mile, Inc., are without merit and we intend to defend the Company vigorously. We are unable at this
time to determine the amount of the possible loss or range of loss, if any, that we may incur as a result of these matters.

15. 16. Related Party

Prior to the Separation, the Company did not operate as a standalone business and the consolidated financial statements were derived from the consolidated financial statements
and accounting records of XPO. Transactions between the Company and XPO, and other non-RXO subsidiaries of XPO, that occurred prior to the Separation have been classified
as related-party transactions. Transactions that originated with XPO prior to the Separation were cash settled or forgiven as of November 1, 2022. For amounts that were forgiven,
the amounts have been recorded as an adjustment to XPO Investment.
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Allocation of General Corporate Expenses

Post-Separation, costs were no longer allocated from XPO to the Company; therefore, no related amounts were reflected on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Prior to the Separation, certain shared costs were allocated to the Company from XPO’s corporate overhead. The Consolidated Statements of Operations include expenses for
certain centralized functions and other programs provided and/or administered by XPO that were charged directly to the Company. In addition, for purposes of preparing these
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consolidated financial statements, a portion of XPO’s total corporate expenses have been allocated to the Company. See Note 2— Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting
Policies for a discussion of the methodology used to allocate such costs for purposes of preparing these consolidated financial statements.
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Costs included in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for our allocated share of XPO’s corporate overhead are as follows:

Years Ended

December 31,

Years Ended

December

31,

Years Ended

December

31,

Years Ended

December

31,

(In millions) (In millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2022 2021

Sales,
general and
administrative
expense

Sales,
general and
administrative
expense $ 50  $60  $52 

Depreciation
and
amortization
expense

Depreciation
and
amortization
expense 9  9  5 

Transaction
and
integration
costs

Transaction
and
integration
costs 46  2  — 

Restructuring
costs

Restructuring
costs 7  1  — 

Total Total $112  $72  $57 

Transactions with XPO and its non-RXO Subsidiaries

Revenue and costs generated from related parties are as follows:


Years Ended

December 31,

Years Ended

December 31,

Years Ended

December 31,

Years Ended

December 31,

(In

millions)

(In

millions) 2022 2021 2020 (In millions) 2022 2021

Revenue Revenue $109  $181  $122 

Costs Costs $ 52  $ 79  $ 77 
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Balances with XPO and its non-RXO Subsidiaries

Assets and liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets include the following related-party amounts that were cash settled:

December 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021

Amounts due from XPO and its affiliates

Trade receivables(1) $ —  $ 10 

Amounts due to XPO and its affiliates

Trade payables(2) —  6 

(1)    Represents trade receivables generated from revenue with XPO prior to the Separation.

(2)    Represents trade payables generated from costs with XPO prior to the Separation.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer (“CEO”) and chief financial officer (“CFO”), we conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as
of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, such that the information required to be included in our SEC reports is: (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in SEC rules and forms relating to RXO, including our consolidated subsidiaries; and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO
and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Through November 1, 2022, RXO relied Management’s Annual Report on certain material processes Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and internal controls over financial reporting performed by XPO.

There has been no significant change in the Company’s maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, (as as such term is defined in Rule Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our CEO and CFO, we conducted an
evaluation of the Exchange Act) effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation, we concluded that occurred our internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in this Annual Report, has issued an audit report, which is included
elsewhere within this Annual Report, on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the Company’s last fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2023 that has have materially
affected, or is are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s our internal control over financial reporting.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm due to an exemption established by the rules of the SEC for newly public companies.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None. During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement” (as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K).

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTION

Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10 of Part III of Form 10-K (other than certain information required by Item 401 of Regulation S-K with respect to our executive officers, which
is provided under Item 1, “Business” of Part I of this Annual Report) will be set forth in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2023 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2023 (the “2024 Proxy Statement”), and is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Business Ethics (the “Code”), which is applicable to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and other senior
officers. The Code is available on our website at www.rxo.com, under the heading “Governance” within the “Investors” tab. In the event that we amend or waive any of the provisions
of the Code that relate to any element of the code of ethics definition enumerated in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K, we intend to disclose the same on our website at the web
address specified above.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 of Part III of Form 10-K will be set forth in our 2024 Proxy Statement, for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 of Part III of Form 10-K, including information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and information
regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, will be set forth in our 2024 Proxy Statement, for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 of Part III of Form 10-K will be set forth in our 2024 Proxy Statement, for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Dallas, TX, Auditor ID: 185.

The information required by this Item 14 of Part III of Form 10-K will be set forth in our 2024 Proxy Statement, for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated
herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBIT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules

The list of consolidated financial statements provided in the Index to consolidated financial statements is incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements
are filed as part of this Annual Report. All financial statement schedules are omitted because the required information is not applicable, or because the information required is
included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

77/91

Exhibit
Number Description

2.1 Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2022, by and between XPO Logistics, Inc. and RXO, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 1, 2022).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of RXO, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on November 1, 2022).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of RXO, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on November 1, 2022).

4.1 Indenture, dated as of October 25, 2022, between XPO Escrow Sub, LLC and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 25, 2022).

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 25, 2022, between XPO Escrow Sub, LLC and U.S. Bank, National Association, as Trustee (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4.24.2 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 25, 2022).

4.3 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 31, 2022, by and among RXO, Inc., XPO Escrow Sub, LLC, certain subsidiaries as guarantors, and U.S.
Bank Trust Company, National Association (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 1, 2022).

4.4*4.4 Descriptionof the registrant’s securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act. Act (incorporated herein byreference to Exhibit 4.4 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC onFebruary 24, 2023).

10.1 + Offer Letter between XPO Logistics, Inc. and Drew Wilkerson, dated May 6, 2022 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's
Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on September 28, 2022).

10.2 + Offer Letter between XPO Logistics, Inc. and Jeff Firestone, dated July 19, 2022.((incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant's
Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on September 28, 2022).

10.3 + Offer Letter between XPO Logistics, Inc. and Jamie Harris, dated August 24, 2022.((incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's
Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on September 28, 2022).

10.4 Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2022, by and among RXO, the guarantors from time to time party thereto, the lenders and other parties
from time to time party thereto, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent and an Issuing Lender (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2022).

10.5 Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2022, by and among RXO, the guarantors from time to time party thereto, the lenders and other parties
from time to time party thereto, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2022).
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Number Description

10.6 Intellectual Property License Agreement dated as of October 24, 2022, between XPO NAT Solutions, LLC and XPO Logistics, Inc. (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 25, 2022).
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.7 Transition Services Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2022, by and between XPO Logistics, Inc. and RXO, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 1, 2022).

10.8 Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2022, by and between XPO Logistics, Inc. and RXO, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 1, 2022).

10.9 Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2022, by and between XPO Logistics, Inc. and RXO, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 1, 2022).

10.10 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2022, by and between RXO, Inc. and Jacobs Private Equity, LLC (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 1, 2022).

10.11 + Summary of Non-Employee Directors Director Compensation Program of RXO, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 1, 2022).

10.12 + Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the XPO Logistics, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 30, 2022).

10.13 + RXO, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the registrant’s Form S-8 filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on October 25, 2022 (File No. 333-268006)333-268006)).

10.14 + RXO, Inc. Severance Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 1,
2022).

10.15 + RXO, Inc. Cash Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on November 1, 2022).

10.16 + North America Transport Consolidated Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on November 1, 2022).

10.17 + Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the RXO, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.17 to the registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 3, 2023).

10.18 Incremental Amendment and Lender Joinder Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on November 7, 2023).

21 * Subsidiaries of the registrant.

23 * Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1 * Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, with respect to the registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 3.

31.2 * Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, with respect to the registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 3.

32.1** Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, with respect to the registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 3.

32.2** Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, with respect to the registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 3.
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Exhibit
Number Description

97 * RXO, Inc. Clawback Policy.

101.INS * Inline XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.

101.CAL * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase.

101.DEF * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase.

101.LAB * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase.
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101.PRE * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase.

104 * Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.

+ This exhibit is a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized on this 24th 12th day of February 2023. 2024.
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RXO, Inc.

By: /s/ Drew M. Wilkerson

Drew M. Wilkerson

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ James E. Harris

James E. Harris

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
indicated on this 24th 12th day of February 2023. 2024.

Signature Title

/s/ Drew M. Wilkerson
Chief Executive Officer & Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Drew M. Wilkerson

/s/ James E. Harris
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

James E. Harris

/s/ Jason Kerr
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Jason Kerr

/s/ Brad Jacobs Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors

Brad Jacobs

/s/ AnnaMaria DeSalva Director

AnnaMaria DeSalva

/s/ Adrian Kingshott Director

Adrian Kingshott

/s/ Mary Kissel Director

Mary Kissel

/s/ Christine Breves Director

Christine Breves

/s/ Michelle Nettles Director

Michelle Nettles

/s/ Stephen Renna Director

Stephen Renna

/s/ Thomas A. Szlosek Director

Thomas A. Szlosek
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DESCRIPTION OF RXO’S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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The following briefly summarizes the material terms of our capital stock contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws.
These summaries do not describe every aspect of these securities and documents and are subject to all the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or
amended and restated bylaws filed as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to these documents, which you should read (along
with the applicable provisions of Delaware law) for complete information on our capital stock. The following also summarizes certain relevant provisions of the Delaware General
Corporation Law (the “DGCL”). Since the terms of the DGCL are more detailed than the general information provided below, you should read the actual provisions of the DGCL for
complete information.

General

RXO’s authorized capital stock consists of 300,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per
share. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 116,400,019 shares of our common stock were issued and outstanding and no shares of our preferred stock were issued and
outstanding.

Common Stock

Common stockholders are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Except as otherwise required by law and except for
director elections (see below), whenever any corporate action is to be taken, such action will be authorized by a majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at
the meeting and entitled to vote thereon.

Common stockholders are entitled to share equally in the dividends, if any, that may be declared by RXO’s board of directors out of funds that are legally available to pay
dividends, but only after payment of any dividends required to be paid on outstanding preferred stock, if any. Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up
of RXO, the common stockholders will be entitled to share ratably in all assets of RXO remaining after we pay all of our debts and other liabilities and any amounts we may owe to
the holders of our preferred stock, if any.

Common stockholders do not have any preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The rights, preferences and privileges of common stockholders are subject to
the rights of the stockholders of any series of preferred stock that we will or may designate and issue.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that our shares are uncertificated, which is permitted under Delaware law.

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to Delaware law and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue
shares of preferred stock in one or more series, and to fix the rights, preferences and privileges (including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights,redemption privileges and
liquidation preferences) of each series, which may be greater than the rights of the common stock.

There are no shares of our preferred stock issued and outstanding.

Corporate Governance

Responsible and appropriate corporate governance will ensure that our management keeps stockholder interests in mind when crafting value-creating strategies at all levels of
the organization.

Single Class Capital Structure. We have a single class share capital structure with all stockholders entitled to vote for director nominees and each holder of common stock
entitled to one vote per share.

Director Elections.The election of directors in an uncontested election requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast (the number of shares voted “for” a director’s
election exceeds 50% of the total number of votes cast with respect to that director’s election) by holders of shares of our common stock at the meeting at which a quorum is
present. Votes cast shall include the shares voted “for” and “against” a director’s election in each case with respect to that director’s election. If any incumbent director standing for
re-election receives a greater number of votes “against” his or her election than votes “for” such election, our amended and restated bylaws require that such person promptly tender
his or her resignation to our board of directors. Once an election is determined to be a contested election, directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast at the meeting at
which a quorum is present.

Classified Board. As discussed further below, we will have a classified board until 2026.

Majority Vote for Mergers and Other Business Combinations. Mergers and other business combinations involving RXO are generally required to be approved by a majority
of our outstanding shares of common stock where such stockholder approval is required.
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Other Expected Corporate Governance Features. In addition to charters for our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating, Governance and Sustainability
Committee, we also have Corporate Governance Guidelines and a Code of Business Ethics. Also, we have implemented stock ownership guidelines for directors and senior
executive officers, annual board performance evaluations, clawback, anti-hedging policies and anti-pledging policies, prohibitions on option repricing in equity plans without
stockholder approval, risk oversight procedures and other practices and protocols.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Various Provisions of Delaware Law, our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and our Amended and Restated Bylaws

Provisions of the DGCL, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws could make it more difficult to acquire RXO by means of a
tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise, or to remove incumbent officers and directors. These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage types of coercive
takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of RXO to first negotiate with our board of directors. We believe that the
benefits of increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure RXO outweigh the
disadvantages of discouraging takeover or acquisition proposals because, among other things, negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute.Section 203 of the DGCL, an anti-takeover statute, generally prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business
combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the time the person became an interested stockholder, unless (with certain exceptions) the
business combination or the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder is approved in a prescribed manner. A “business combination” generally includes a
merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. An “interested stockholder” generally is a person who, together with
affiliates and associates, owns (or within three years prior to the determination ofinterested stockholder status did own) 15 percent or more of a corporation’s voting stock. The
existence of this provision would be expected to have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance by our board of directors, including discouraging
attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of common stock. A corporation may “opt out” of Section 203 of the DGCL in its certificate of
incorporation. RXO did not “opt out” of, and thus is subject to, Section 203 of the DGCL.

Classified Board. Our board of directors is divided into three classes, with Class I composed of three directors, Class II composed of three directors and Class III composed of
three directors. The directors designated as Class I directors have terms expiring at the first annual meeting of stockholders following the distribution, which we expect to hold in
2023. The directors designated as Class II directors have terms expiring at the following year’s annual meeting of stockholders, which we expect to hold in 2024, and the directors
designated as Class III directors have terms expiring at the following year’s annual meeting of stockholders, which we expect to hold in 2025. At the first annual meeting of
stockholders following the distribution, the successors of Class I directors will be elected to serve for a term of three years each. Commencing with the second annual meeting of
stockholders following the separation, directors for each class will be elected at the annual meeting of stockholders held in the year in which the term for that class expires and
thereafter each director will serve for a term of one year and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. Consequently,
starting at the 2026 annual meeting of stockholders, all of our directors will stand for election each year for one year terms, and our board will therefore no longer be divided into
three classes. Before our board of directors is declassified, it would take at least two elections of directors for any individual or group to gain control of our board of directors.

2

Accordingly, while the classified board is in effect, these provisions could discourage a third-party from initiating a proxy contest, making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to
gain control of our company.

Size of Board and Vacancies. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the number of directors on our board of directors are fixed exclusively by our
board of directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by the board of directors. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation also provides that the size of the board of
directors will be not less than one nor more than twelve members. Any vacancies created in the board of directors resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors
or the death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal from office or other cause will be filled by a majority of the board of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum
is present, or by a sole remaining director. Any director appointed to fill a vacancy on our board of directors will be appointed for a term expiring at the next annual meeting of
stockholders, and until his or her successor has been elected and qualified.

Director Removal. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws provide that: (i) prior to the board being fully declassified, as
discussed above, stockholders will be permitted to remove a director only for cause, and (ii) after the board has been fully declassified, stockholders may remove a director with or
without cause. Removal will require the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote generally for the election of
directors.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent.Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation expressly eliminates the right of our stockholders to act by written consent.
Stockholder action must take place at the annual or at a special meeting of RXO stockholders.

Special Stockholder Meetings. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the chairman of the board of directors or the board of directors pursuant to
a resolution adopted by a majority of the entire board of directors may call special meetings of our stockholders. Stockholders may not call special meetings of stockholders.
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Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals.Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation mandates that stockholder
nominations for the election of directors be made in accordance with the bylaws. Our amended and restated bylaws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder
proposals and nomination of candidates for election as directors as well as other requirements for stockholders making the proposals or nominations.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that a stockholder who wishes to nominate an individual for election as a director at our annual meeting must give us advance written
notice. The notice will be required to be delivered to or mailed and received by the secretary of our company not less than 90 days, and not more than 120 days, prior to the earlier
of the date of the annual meeting and the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting. As more specifically provided in our amended and restated bylaws, any
nomination will be required to include, among other information: (i) the nominator’s name and address and the number of shares of each class of our capital stock that the nominator
owns, (ii) the name and address of any person with whom the nominator is acting in concert and the number of shares of each class of our capital stock that any such person owns,
(iii) the information with respect to each such proposed director nominee that would be required to be provided in a proxy statement prepared in accordance with applicable SEC
rules, and (iv) the consent of the proposed candidate to serve as a member of our board. Additionally, our amended and restated bylaws require that candidates for election as
director disclose their qualifications and make certain representations.

Any stockholder who wishes to nominate a potential director candidate will be required to follow the specific requirements set forth in our amended and restated bylaws.

Proxy Access. Our amended and restated bylaws allow one or more stockholders (up to 20 stockholders, collectively), owning at least 3% of the voting power of our
outstanding shares continuously for at least three years, to nominate for election to our board of directors the greater of two individuals or 20% of our board of directors, and include
those nominees in our proxy materials, provided that proper notice is delivered to our principal executive offices and addressed to our company’s secretary.

No Cumulative Voting. The DGCL provides that stockholders are denied the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless a corporation’s certificate of incorporation
provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation specifically denies cumulative voting.

3

Undesignated Preferred Stock. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock. As a result, our board of
directors will be permitted, without the approval of holders of our common stock, to issue shares of our preferred stock with super voting, special approval, dividend or other rights or
preferences on a discriminatory basis that could impede the success of any attempt to acquire RXO. These and other provisions may have the effect of deferring, delaying or
discouraging hostile takeovers or changes in control or management of RXO.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

The DGCL authorizes corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corporations and their stockholders for monetary damages for breaches of directors’
fiduciary duties as directors, and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will include such an exculpation provision. Our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that indemnify, to the fullest extent allowable under the DGCL, the personal liability of directors or officers for
monetary damages for actions taken as a director or officer of RXO, or for serving at our request as a director or officer or in another position at another corporation or enterprise, as
the case may be. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws also provide that we must indemnify and advance expenses to our
directors and officers, subject to our receipt of an undertaking from the indemnitee as may be required under the DGCL. We are also expressly authorized to, and intend to, carry
directors’ and officers’ insurance to protect RXO and our directors, officers, employees and agents from certain liabilities.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions that are in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage
stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary duties. These provisions may also have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation
against directors and officers, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise benefit us and our stockholders. We may be adversely affected to the extent that, in a class
action or direct suit, we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions.

Authorized but Unissued Shares of Common and Preferred Stock

Authorized but unissued shares of our common stock and preferred stock are available for future issuance without approval by the holders of our common stock. We are
permitted to use additional shares for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings to raise additional capital, employee benefit plans and as consideration for or
to finance future acquisitions, investments or other purposes. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of our common stock and preferred stock could render more difficult
or discourage an attempt to obtain control of RXO by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.

Exclusive Forum

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that unless our board of directors otherwise determines, the state courts within the State of Delaware (or, if no
state court located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) are the sole and exclusive forum for: (i) any derivative action or
proceeding brought on behalf of RXO, (ii) any action asserting a claim for or based on a breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director or officer or other
employee or stockholder of RXO in such capacity to RXO or to RXO stockholders, including a claim alleging the aiding and abetting of such a breach of fiduciary duty, (iii) any action
asserting a claim against RXO or any current or former director or officer or other employee or stockholder of RXO in such capacity arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or
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our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws, (iv) any action asserting a claim relating to or involving RXO governed by the internal affairs
doctrine, or (v) any action asserting an “internal corporate claim” as such term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL.

4

Section 22 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty
or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent
having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation further provides that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action
arising under the Securities Act. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty of liability created by the Exchange
Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, and as a result, the exclusive forum provision does not apply to actions arising under the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations
thereunder. While the Delaware Supreme Court ruled in March 2020 that federal forum selection provisions purporting to require claims under the Securities Act be brought in
federal court are “facially valid” under Delaware law, there is uncertainty as to whether other courts will enforce our federal forum provision described above. Our stockholders will
not be deemed to have waived compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

Listing

Our shares of common stock are listed on the NYSE under the symbol “RXO.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is AST.

5 75

Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

RXO, Inc. maintains approximately 37 subsidiaries. Set forth below are the names of certain wholly owned or at least 90% owned subsidiaries of RXO, Inc., as of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, that provide freight transportation services. The names of certain consolidated wholly or at least 90% owned subsidiaries that carry on the same line of
business have been omitted.

Name State of Incorporation

RXO, Inc. Delaware

    RXO Corporate Solutions, LLC Delaware

        RXO Capacity Solutions, LLC Delaware

            RXO Express, LLC Delaware

            RXO Air Transport, LLC Delaware

        RXO Managed Transport, LLC Delaware

        RXO Freight Forwarding, Inc. Delaware

    RXO Last Mile Holding, Inc. Delaware

        RXO Last Mile, Inc. Georgia
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Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
RXO, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements statement (No. 333-268006) on Form S-8 of our report dated February 24, 2023 February 12, 2024, with
respect to the consolidated financial statements of RXO, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Stamford, Connecticut
February 24, 2023 12, 2024

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Drew M. Wilkerson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 of RXO, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
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(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

 

/s/ Drew M. Wilkerson

Drew M. Wilkerson

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 24, 2023 February 12, 2024

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, James E. Harris, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 of RXO, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
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/s/ James E. Harris

James E. Harris

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 24, 2023 February 12, 2024

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, the undersigned Chief
Executive Officer of RXO, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify, based on my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in
the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

/s/ Drew M. Wilkerson

Drew M. Wilkerson

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 24, 2023 February 12, 2024

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, the undersigned Chief Financial
Officer of RXO, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify, based on my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in
the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

/s/ James E. Harris

James E. Harris

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 24, 2023 February 12, 2024
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Exhibit 97

capture2a.jpg        

Approved: September 27, 2023

RXO, INC.

CLAWBACK POLICY

RXO, Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Policy in accordance with New York Stock Exchange listing requirements.

A. Application of Policy

This Policy applies in the event of any accounting restatement (“Restatement”) due to the Company’s material non-compliance with
financial reporting requirements under applicable federal securities laws, in accordance with Rule 10D-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Rule 10D”). This Policy shall apply to Incentive- Based Compensation (as defined below) received on or after October 2, 2023 (the “Effective
Date”).

B. Executive Officers Subject to the Policy

The executives of the Company who serve or served as an “executive officer” (as defined under Rule 10D) of the Company (the
“Executive Officers”) are covered by this Policy. All of the Executive Officers are subject to this Policy, even if an Executive Officer had no
responsibility for the financial statement errors which required restatement.

C. Compensation Subject to and Clawback Period of the Policy

This Policy covers all incentive-based compensation (including any cash or equity compensation) that is granted, earned or vested
based wholly or in part upon the attainment of any “financial reporting measure” (“Incentive-Based Compensation”). This Policy applies to any
Incentive-Based Compensation “received” by an Executive Officer during the period (the “Clawback Period”) consisting of any of the three
completed fiscal years immediately preceding:

• the date that the Company’s Board (or its Audit Committee) concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is
required to prepare a Restatement, or

• the date that a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare a Restatement.

Financial reporting measures are those that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in
preparing the Company’s financial statements and any measures derived wholly or in part from such financial information (including non-GAAP
measures, stock price and total shareholder return). For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation is deemed “received” in the fiscal
period during which the applicable financial reporting measure (as specified in the terms of the award) is attained (the “Performance Period”), even
if the payment or grant occurs after the end of

Exhibit 97

that fiscal period. The Clawback Period with respect to an Executive Officer applies to Incentive-Based Compensation received by the Executive
Officer (a) after beginning services as an Executive Officer (including compensation derived from an award authorized before the individual is newly
hired as an Executive Officer, e.g. inducement grants) and (b) if that person served as an Executive Officer at any time during the Performance
Period for such Incentive-Based Compensation.

Incentive-Based Compensation does not include (i) base annual salary, (ii) compensation that is awarded based solely on service to
the Company (e.g. a time-vested award, including time-vesting stock options or restricted share units), or (iii) compensation that is awarded based
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solely on subjective standards, strategic measures (e.g. completion of a merger) or operational measures (e.g. volume or attainment of a certain
market share).

D. Amount Required to be Repaid Pursuant to this Policy

The amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that must be repaid by the Executive Officer (subject to the limitations discussed
below) is the amount of Incentive- Based Compensation received by the Executive Officer that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based
Compensation that otherwise would have been received had it been determined based on the Restatement (the “Recoverable Amount”). Applying
this definition, after a Restatement, the Company will recalculate the applicable financial reporting measure and the Recoverable Amount in
accordance with SEC and New York Stock Exchange rules. The Company will determine whether, based on that financial reporting measure as
calculated relying on the original financial statements, the Executive Officer received a greater amount of Incentive-Based Compensation than
would have been received applying the recalculated financial measure. Where Incentive-Based Compensation is based only in part on the
achievement of a financial reporting measure performance goal, the Company will determine the portion of the original Incentive-Based
Compensation based on or derived from the financial reporting measure that was restated and will recalculate the affected portion based on the
financial reporting measure as restated to determine the difference between the greater amount based on the original financial statements and the
lesser amount that would have been received based on the Restatement. The Recoverable Amounts will be calculated on a pre-tax basis to ensure
that the Company recovers the full amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that was awarded. The Company will maintain documentation of its
calculation of the Recoverable Amount and may provide it to the New York Stock Exchange as required by the New York Stock Exchange rules.

The Company will not be required to award Executive Officers an additional payment if the restated or accurate financial results would
have resulted in a higher incentive compensation payment.

If equity compensation is recoverable due to being granted to the Executive Officer (when the accounting results were the reason the
equity compensation was granted) or vested by the Executive Officer (when the accounting results were the reason the equity compensation was
vested), in each case in the Clawback Period, the Company will recover
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the excess portion of the equity award that would not have been granted or vested based on the Restatement, as follows:

• if the equity award is still outstanding, the Executive Officer will forfeit the excess portion of the award;

• if the equity award has been exercised or settled into shares (the “Underlying Shares”), and the Executive Officer still holds the
Underlying Shares, the Company will recover the number of Underlying Shares relating to the excess portion of the award (less any
exercise price paid for the Underlying Shares); and

• if the Underlying Shares have been sold by the Executive Officer, the Company will recover the proceeds received by the Executive
Officer from the sale of the Underlying Shares relating to the excess portion of the award (less any exercise price paid for the
Underlying Shares).

The Board (or its applicable committee) will take such action as it deems appropriate, in its sole and absolute discretion, reasonably
promptly to recover the Recoverable Amount, unless the Board’s Compensation Committee determines that it would be impracticable to recover
such amount because the Company has made a reasonable and documented attempt to recover the Recoverable Amount and has determined that
the direct costs of enforcing recovery would exceed the Recoverable Amount.

E. Additional Clawback Required by Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In addition to the provisions described above, if the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material
noncompliance of the Company, as a result of misconduct, with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, then, in accordance
with Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (at the time the financial document
embodying such financial reporting requirement was originally issued) will reimburse the Company for:

• any bonus or other incentive-based or equity-based compensation they received from the Company during the 12-month period
following the first public issuance or filing with the Commission (whichever first occurs) of such financial document; and

• any profits realized from the sale of securities of the Company during that 12-month period.
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Exhibit 97

F. Crediting of Recovery Amounts

To the extent that subsections A, B, C and D of this Policy (the “Rule 10D-1 Clawback Requirements”) would provide for recovery of
Incentive-Based Compensation recoverable by the Company pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, in accordance with subsection E
of this Policy (the “Sarbanes-Oxley ClawbackRequirements”), and/or any other recovery obligations (including pursuant to employment
agreements, or plan awards), the amount such Executive Officer has already reimbursed the Company will be credited to the required recovery
under the Rule 10D-1 Clawback Requirements. Recovery pursuant to the Rule 10D-1 Clawback Requirements does not preclude recovery under
the Sarbanes-Oxley Clawback Requirements, to the extent any applicable amounts have not been reimbursed to the Company.

G. General Provisions

This Policy may be amended by the Board or its applicable committee from time to time. Changes to this Policy will be communicated
to all persons to whom this Policy applies.

The Company will not indemnify or provide insurance to cover any repayment of Incentive-Based Compensation in accordance with
this Policy.

To the extent that any provisions of this Policy are found to be unenforceable or invalid under any applicable law, such provision will be
applied to the maximum extent permitted, and will automatically be deemed amended in a manner consistent with its objectives to the extent
necessary to conform to any limitations required under applicable law.

This Policy is in addition to (and not in lieu of) any right of repayment, forfeiture or right of offset against any Executive Officer that is
required pursuant to any other statutory repayment requirement (regardless of whether implemented at any time prior to or following the adoption of
this Policy). Nothing in this Policy in any way detracts from or limits any obligation that those subject to it have in law or pursuant to a management,
employment, consulting, equity award or other plan or agreement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

All determinations and decisions made by the Board (or any committee thereof) pursuant to the provisions of this Policy will be final,
conclusive and binding on the Company, its subsidiaries and the persons to whom this Policy applies. Executive Officers (as defined above) may be
required to acknowledge that they have read this Policy and understand this Policy will be binding and enforceable against them, their beneficiaries,
heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives. If you have questions about the interpretation of this Policy, please contact the
Company’s Chief Legal Officer.
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV
CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR
INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME
ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS
REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO
REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT
OR OTHER DECISIONS.
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